
            
 

The Mission of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District is to protect public health and our environment, providing effective wastewater 
collection, treatment, and resource recovery. 

 

  
 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 
 

                         BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

October 17, 2024 
 

MATERIALS RELATED TO ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA ARE AVAILABLE FOR 

PUBLIC INSPECTION DURING NORMAL BUSINESS HOURS AT THE DISTRICT 

OFFICE, 101 LUCAS VALLEY ROAD, SUITE 300, SAN RAFAEL, OR ON THE DISTRICT 

WEBSITE  WWW.LGVSD.ORG 

   
OPEN SESSION: 
 

 
1. PUBLIC COMMENT 

This portion of the meeting is reserved for people desiring to address the Board on matters not on the 

agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. Presentations are generally 

limited to three minutes. All matters requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or 

placed on a future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the meeting.  
 
 

2. 101 LUCAS VALLEY ROAD OFFICE LEASE RENEWAL 

Pursuant to Gov. Code Sec. 54956.8, the Board will consider the appointment of Curtis Paxton, General 

Manager, as the District's negotiator regarding the lease of the properties at 101 Lucas Valley Road, 

Suite 300/301, San Rafael. The appointed negotiator will discuss the lease of said properties with Rathlin 

Properties LLC (Ciaran Scally). 
 
 
CLOSED SESSION: 
 

 

3. CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS – Pursuant to Government Code  

§ 54954.5; Commercial Property (101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300/301) to be leased on an interim 

basis. Agency Negotiator: Curtis Paxton, General Manager for the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District.  

Negotiating parties: Rathlin Properties LLC (Ciaran Scally). Under negotiation: Board to provide 

instruction to Agency Negotiator concerning price and/or terms of payment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4:00 PM 

Estimated 
Time 
 

4:10 PM 
 
 
 
 

4:05 PM 

1

http://www.lgvsd.org/


October 17, 2024 Page 2 of 3 
  

  

  
 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 
 

OPEN SESSION: 
 

4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

These items are considered routine and will be enacted, approved or adopted by one motion  

unless a request for removal for discussion or explanation is received from the staff or the Board. 

A. Approve the Board Minutes for October 3,  2024 

B. Receive and Ratify the Check Warrant List 

C. Approve Board Compensation for September 2024 

D. Approve Clark attending the SDLF Leadership Academy in San Rafael on November 3-5, 2024 

E. Approve the Capital Facilities Charge Report 

F. Approve the Employee Relations Resolution 2024-2342 and the Personnel Policies and Procedures 
Revisions Resolution 2024-2343  

 

Possible expenditure of funds:  Yes, Item B through D.  

Staff recommendation:  Adopt Consent Calendar – Items A through F. 

 

5. INFORMATION ITEMS: 

STAFF/CONSULTANT REPORTS: 

1. General Manager’s Report – verbal 

2. Winter Newsletter Topics – written 

 

6. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS:  

1. CLARK  
a. NBWA Board Committee, Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee,  

Fleet Management Ad Hoc Committee,  FutureSense Ad Hoc Committee, 
 Energy Ad Hoc Committee, CASA Workforce Committee, Other Reports  
 

2. MURRAY 
a. Marin LAFCo, Flood Zone 6, Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, CASA Energy Committee,  

 Development Ad Hoc Committee, Energy Ad Hoc Committee, 
 San Francisco Bay Trail Ad Hoc Committee,  Other Reports 

 
3. NITZBERG 

a. Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee,  
Fleet Management Ad Hoc Committee,  McInnis Marsh Ad Hoc Committee 
San Francisco Bay Trail Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports 

 
4. ROBARDS 

a. Gallinas Watershed Council/Miller Creek, NBWRA,  Engineering Ad Hoc Committee re: STPURWE, 
McInnis Marsh Ad Hoc Committee,  Development Ad Hoc Committee, 
 FutureSense Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports 
 
 

5. YEZMAN 
a. Flood Zone 7, CSRMA,  Ad Hoc Engineering Committee  re: STPURWE, 

                          Marin Special Districts,  Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee,  
              Other Reports 

5:00 PM 
 

5:30 PM 
 

4:45 PM 
 
 

2



October 17, 2024 Page 3 of 3 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 

7. BOARD REQUESTS:

A. Board Meeting Attendance Requests – Verbal

B. Board Agenda Item Requests – Verbal

8. VARIOUS INDUSTRY RELATED ARTICLES

9. ADJOURNMENT

FUTURE BOARD MEETINGS NOVEMBER 7 AND NOVEMBER 21, 2024 

CERTIFICATION:  I, Teresa Lerch, Board Secretary of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, hereby 
declare under penalty of perjury that on or before October 14,  2024 4:00 p.m., I posted the Agenda for the 
Board Meeting of said Board to be held on October 17, 2024 at the District Office, located at 101 Lucas 
Valley Road, Suite 300, San Rafael, CA. 

DATED: October 10, 2024 

_______________________ 
Teresa L. Lerch 
Board Secretary 

 _________________________________________________________________  

The Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District meets regularly on the first and third Thursday of  
each month. The District may also schedule additional special meetings for the purpose of completing unfinished 
business and/or study sessions. Regular meetings are held at the District Office, 101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300, San 
Rafael, CA.  

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), if you need special assistance to 
participate in this meeting, please contact the Board Secretary at the District at (415) 472-1734 at least 24 hours prior to 
the meeting. Notification prior to the meeting will enable the District to make reasonable disability-related 
modifications or accommodations, including auxiliary aids or services, to help ensure accessibility to this 
meeting. 

5:45 PM 

AGENDA APPROVED: Craig K. Murray, President Patrick Richardson  Legal Counsel 

6:00  PM 

5:50 PM 

3



 

 
 

 

10/17/2024 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons desiring to address the Board on 

matters not on the agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley 

Sanitary District. Presentations are generally limited to three minutes. All matters 

requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or placed on a 

future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the meeting. 
 

AGENDA ITEM 1 

4



 

 
 

 

10/17/2024 
 

101 LUCAS VALLEY ROAD OFFICE LEASE RENEWAL 
 DISTRICT NEGOTIATOR 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

 Verbal Report  

□ Presentation 

 

AGENDA ITEM  2 

5



 

 
 

 

10/17/2024 
 

CLOSED SESSION 

 Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

□ Verbal Report  

□ Presentation 

 

AGENDA ITEM 3 

6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\10172024\ASR Capital Facilities Charge Accounting and Reporting.docx Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager 
 (415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 
Meeting Date: October 17, 2024 

Re: Capital Facilities Charge Accounting and Reporting 
 

Item Type:   Consent X  Action        Information  Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No  (See attached) Not Applicable      X       . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Receive report to comply with reporting provisions of Government Code Section 66013. 

BACKGROUND: 
California Government Code Section 66013 was substantially amended in 1998 and imposed 
more stringent accounting and reporting requirements for fees collected for sewer connection and 
capacity charges. Capacity charge is defined as a charge for facilities in existence at the time a 
charge is imposed or charges for new facilities to be constructed in the future that are of benefit to 
the person or property being charged. 
 
The accounting requirements stipulate that the District deposit its Capital Facilities Charges (CFC) 
and related interest earned into a separate Connection Fees account and to account for those 
charges in a manner to avoid commingling with other monies of the District and to expend those 
charges only for the purposes for which the charges were collected. The law also requires that this 
information simply be made available to the public within 180 days after the end of the fiscal year. 
 
Pursuant to the District’s Ordinance Code, Title 2, Chapter 1, the District charges a Capital 
Facilities Charge for each Equivalent Sewer Unit as outlined in Section 907 for new connections 
and for the additions or alterations of existing structures. The District identifies projects which 
expand existing capacity and allocates funding from the Capital Facilities Charge fund as part of 
the annual budget. 
 
Attached for information only is a copy of the District's annual Capital Facilities Charge Revenue 
and Expenditure Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 and the adopted Restricted Funds 
Budget for 2024-2025, identifying anticipated use of funds for public improvements, of which there 
is none, that fully comply with the accounting and reporting provisions of Government Code 
Section 66013. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION:  None 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW:  N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  None 

Item Number______4E________ 

GM Review   _____CP_________ 

 

28

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Capital Facilities Funded Project Detail
 July 2023 through June 2024

CAPITAL FACILITIES CHARGE - REVENUE
40-000-1129 ꞏ Money Mrkt-Connection Fee-x9510    -   BEGINNING BALANCE July 1, 2023 797,903.56

Date Memo Debit Credit Balance

40-000-1129 ꞏ Money Mrkt-Connection Fee-x9510

07/31/2023 74 Circle - Connection Fee 3,681.00 0.00 801,584.56

07/31/2023 July 2023 Interest Income 681.28 0.00 802,265.84

08/23/2023 26 Pt Gallinas Road - Connection Fees 3,113.00 0.00 805,378.84

08/31/2023 August 2023 Interest Income 2,336.49 0.00 807,715.33

09/30/2023 September 2023 Interest Income 2,570.93 0.00 810,286.26

10/18/2023 22 Leona Dr.  - Connection Fee 336.00 0.00 815,780.26

10/18/2023 Saint Isabella School  - Connection Fee 1,227.00 0.00 815,780.26

10/18/2023 31 Washington Ave  - Connection Fee 2,863.00 0.00 815,780.26

10/18/2023 850 Butternut Drive  - Connection Fee 1,068.00 0.00 815,780.26

10/31/2023 October 2023 Interest Income 2,854.22 0.00 818,634.48

11/15/2023 Safeway  - Connection Fee 2,863.00 0.00 821,497.48

11/21/2023 12 Montevideo Way - Connection Fee 6,135.00 0.00 827,632.48

11/30/2023 November 2023 Interest Income 2,706.44 0.00 830,338.92

12/28/2023 Marin Airport Sports Center  - Connection Fee 25,767.00 0.00 856,105.92

12/31/2023 December 2023 Interest Income 2,645.76 0.00 858,751.68

01/31/2024 January 2024 Interest Income 3,111.07 0.00 861,862.75

02/08/2024 15 Arcangel way  - Connection Fee 826.00 0.00 917,097.75

02/08/2024 90 Sidney Ct  - Connection Fee 1,239.00 0.00 917,097.75

02/08/2024 Pet Emergency Center of Marin  - Connection Fee 53,170.00 0.00 917,097.75

02/29/2024 February 2024 Interest Income 2,852.34 0.00 919,950.09

03/31/2024 March 2024 Interest Income 2,928.16 0.00 922,878.25

04/30/2024 300 N San Pedro Ct - Connection Fee 826.00 0.00 923,704.25

04/30/2024 April 2024 Interest Income 3,241.90 0.00 926,946.15

05/31/2024 Talus connection fee deposit from Ops to ConnFee 108,822.20 0.00 1,035,768.35

05/31/2024 May 2024 Interest Income 3,166.19 0.00 1,038,934.54

06/24/2024 1207 Las Raposas Rd - Connection Fee 826.00 0.00 1,061,030.04

06/24/2024 240 Channing Way - Connection Fee 1,652.00 0.00 1,061,030.04

06/24/2024 Marin County Fire Dispatch Suite - Connection Fee 16,313.50 0.00 1,061,030.04

06/24/2024 223 Blackstone Drive - Connection Fee 3,304.00 0.00 1,061,030.04

06/24/2024 Weiss Associates - Connection Fees 2,548.35 0.00 1,063,578.39

06/30/2024 June 2024 Interest Income 3,198.08 0.00 1,066,776.47

Total 40-000-1129 ꞏ Money Mrkt-Connection Fee-x9510 268,872.91 0.00 1,066,776.47

TOTAL - ENDING BALANCE June 30 , 2024 * 268,872.91 0.00 1,066,776.47

* Annex and Capital Facilities Charges revenue in FY 2023-24 236,580.05

* Interest on Connection Fees revenue in FY 2023-24 32,292.86

268,872.91

CAPACITY RELATED EXPENSES FOR FY 2023-24

There were no capacity related expenses used towards capacity related projects in FY 2023-24.  The balance of $1,066,776.47 is
available to expand existing capacity through projects identified during the Capital Outlay Budget process or by Board action.

S:\ACCOUNTING\AUDIT\Audit 2023-24\CFC\CFC Activity FY202429



Plus: Additions
Less: Use of Funds - - - -

Purpose: To pay for collection system and plant capacity improvements to serve new connections.

Plus: Additions
Less: Use of Funds (6,029)          (24,800)           (18,787)           (16,600)

Purpose: Special assessment fees in and class account 350 expenses out. 

Plus: Additions
Less: Use of Funds (1) (15,396)        (26,600)           (31,007)           (37,200)

Purpose: Special assessment fees in and class account 360 expenses out. 

Plus: Additions -                   22,348            12,990
Less: Use of Funds - - - -

Purpose: Capital repair or replacement costs at the Recycled Water Treatment Facility.  Fund shall not exceed $500K.

30



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\10172024\PPP\ASR Employment Relations Resolution No 2424-2342.docx Page 1 of 2 

  Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager  
 (415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 
Meeting Date: October 17, 2024 

Re: Resolution Adopting Standalone Employment Relations Resolution 

Item Type:   Consent  X  Action        Information      Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No     (See attached) Not Applicable     X        . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Adopt Resolution No. 2024-2342 establishing a standalone policy for the administration of 
employee-employer relations. 

BACKGROUND  
The Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (District) consolidated Personnel Policy and Procedures 
(PPP) were prescribed for the purpose of carrying out the personnel program in compliance with 
state and federal law. The policies and procedures were last updated in 2017. 
 
Liebert Cassidy Whitmore and CPS HR Consulting were asked to review the PPP and 
recommend updates to reflect legislative changes and to incorporate best practices in personnel 
management.  It was recommended to separate out the Employee Relations Resolution (ERR) 
section into a standalone document. 
 
The District has an employee representation group, OE3 (Operating Engineers Local 3) for 
certain non-management classifications within the District. Government Code Section 3500 et. 
seq. (also known as the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act) governs the labor-management relations within 
California local governments, including cities, counties, and most special districts. The Meyers-
Milias-Brown Act (MMBA) empowers a government agency to adopt reasonable rules and 
regulations after consultation in good faith with representatives of its employee organizations for 
the administration of employer-employee relations. 
 
An initial draft of the proposed changes to the PPP and ERR was prepared by the District and 
presented to the labor representatives, along with an opportunity to meet and discuss. The District 
and OE3 representatives met on three occasions to review the resolution and discuss the 
proposed revisions.  Labor Management Committee meetings were held on May 8, July 10, and 
August 28, 2024. OE3 provided specific comments on the language and the District responded to 
each comment, and in some cases amended the resolution in response to the comments 
received. 
 
The District Board reviewed the proposed changes to the PPP manual and the ERR document at 
their regular meeting of September 19, 2024. Recommended changes were considered and 
made to the draft ERR as follows: 
 

Item Number_____4F.1_________ 

GM Review   _____CP_________ 

 

31

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\10172024\PPP\ASR Employment Relations Resolution No 2424-2342.docx Page 2 of 2 

 
   
Changes to the Draft Employee Relations Resolution After September 19  

• Section 1.01 Statement of Purpose: Added “contracting” to the third paragraph as 
a management right. Two items of note: 

o First, this provision in the ERR states that unless an MOU provision requires 
otherwise, the District retains all management rights.  All of what this section 
describes is a management right and does not enlarge the District’s 
management rights. And if anything in the MOU curtails those rights, that 
provision governs. 

o Second, the District has the right to contract and subcontract. However, the 
District cannot contract or subcontract bargaining unit work without meeting 
and conferring with the employee union. These statements do not negate the 
obligations of the District. 

• Section 2.10 Appeals: Corrected title of “Board Clerk” to “Board Secretary.” 

• Section 4.02 Impasse Procedures: No changes were made. Mediation only 
applies if the meet and confer process has reached an impasse. The Board can 
resolve issues directly with the union and has opportunity to reach agreement before 
impasse mediation. 

 
There is no impact to the District/OE3 Memorandum of Understanding or to any employment 
terms. With the adoption of the resolution, the District and its represented employees can follow 
best practices, avoid ambiguity in processes, and comply with the relevant Government Code and 
the MMBA. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
The Personnel Policy and Procedures was last presented to the Board and approved on March 9, 
2017, superseding the prior version dated May 28, 2015. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
N/A 
 
 
Attachment: 
Resolution No. 2024-2342 
  

32



Resolution No. 2024-2342  Page 1 of 14 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-2342 

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ESTABLISHING A 
STANDALONE POLICY AND PROCEDURE FOR THE ADMINISTRATION OF 

EMPLOYER-EMPLOYEE RELATIONS 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District’s Personnel Policy and Procedures 

was established to carry out the personnel program in compliance with state and federal law, 

concerning both day-to-day employment matters and employee union relations as outlined 

under the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act (MMBA); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors recognizes the need to separate the Employee 

Relations Resolution section from the consolidated Personnel Policy and Procedures to provide 

a standalone document that ensures a uniform and equitable approach to considering legitimate 

employee objectives advanced by employee organizations; and 

 

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 3507 empowers a government agency to adopt 

reasonable rules and regulations after consultation in good faith with representatives of its 

employee organizations for the administration of employer-employee relations; and 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the Las Gallinas 

Valley Sanitary District hereby adopts the standalone Employee Relations Resolution Policy and 

Procedure for the administration of employer-employee relationships, separate from the 

consolidated Personnel Policy and Procedures. 

 

Article I – General Provisions 

Sec. 1.01.  Statement of Purpose: 

This implements Chapter 10, Division 4, Title 1 of the Government Code of the State of California 

(section 3500 et seq.) captioned “Meyers-Milias-Brown Act” (Local Public Employee 

Organizations), by providing orderly procedures for the administration of employer-employee 

relations between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District and its employee organizations.  Nothing 

contained herein, however, shall be deemed to supersede the provisions of state law, ordinances, 

resolutions and rules which provide for other methods of administering employer-employee 

relations.  This resolution is intended, instead, to strengthen employer-employee relations through 

33



Resolution No. 2024-2342  Page 2 of 14 

the establishment of uniform and orderly methods of communications between employees, 

employee organizations and the District. 

It is the purpose of this Resolution to provide procedures for meeting and conferring in good faith 

with Recognized Employee Organization(s) regarding matters that directly and significantly affect 

and primarily involve the wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of employment of 

employees in appropriate units and that are not preempted by federal or state law.  The District 

shall not be required to meet and confer over the merit, necessity or organization of any service 

or activity provided by law or executive order.  

Nothing contained in this Resolution shall be construed to restrict any legal or inherent exclusive 

District rights with respect to matters of general legislative or managerial policy.  Unless 

specifically in conflict with any Memorandum of Understanding, the District retains all 

management rights, which include, but are not limited to:  The sole and exclusive right to 

determine the District’s mission, including that of its constituent departments, commissions, and 

boards; the sole and exclusive right to direct the affairs of, manage, and maintain the efficiency 

of the District, to set standards of service; and to control the organization and operation of the 

District.  The District also has the sole and exclusive right to take any actions which the District 

deems desirable to conduct its affairs, including, but not limited to, determining the procedures 

and standards of selection for employment, directing its work force (including scheduling and 

assigning work and overtime), hiring, firing, discharges, promotions, demotions, transfers, taking 

disciplinary action, determining the methods, means and personnel by which District operations 

are to be conducted, relieving employees from duty because of budgetary considerations, lack of 

work, or other lawful reasons, contracting or subcontracting, maintaining discipline and efficiency 

of employees, determining the content of job classifications, taking all necessary actions to carry 

out its mission in emergencies, and exercising complete control and discretion over its 

organization and the technology of performing its work consistent with the provisions of this 

Resolution and the MMBA.  The foregoing is meant to be descriptive of the District’s rights, and 

not exhaustive. 

Sec. 1.02.   Definitions: 

As used in this Resolution, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated: 

A. "Appropriate unit" means a unit of employee classes or positions, established pursuant to 

Article II of this Resolution. 

B. "District" means the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, and, where appropriate herein, 

refers to the Board of Directors or any duly authorized District representative as herein 

defined. 

C. "Confidential Employee" means an employee who, in the course of his or her duties, has 

access to confidential information relating to District's administration of employer-

employee relations. 

D. "Consult/Consultation in Good Faith" means to communicate orally or in writing with all 

affected recognized employee organization(s), in good faith, for the purpose of presenting 

34



Resolution No. 2024-2342  Page 3 of 14 

and obtaining views or advising of proposed actions in an effort to reach a consensus; 

and, as distinguished from meeting and conferring in good faith regarding matters within 

the required scope of representation (as defined in California Government Code section 

3504), does not involve an endeavor to reach a binding agreement in the form of a 

Memorandum of Understanding, nor is it subject to the impasse resolution procedures set 

forth in Article IV of this Resolution.  

E. "Day" means calendar day unless expressly stated otherwise. 

F. “Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization” means an employee organization which 

has been formally acknowledged by the District as the sole employee organization 

representing the employees in an appropriate representation unit determined pursuant to 

Article II of this Resolution, having the exclusive right to meet and confer in good faith 

concerning matters within the scope of representation pertaining to unit employees, and 

thereby assuming the corresponding obligation of fairly representing such employees.  

Such recognition status may only be challenged by another employee organization as set 

forth in Article II section 8.. 

G. "Employee Relations Officer" means the General Manager or designee.  

H. "Impasse" means that the representatives of the District and a Recognized Employee 

Organization have reached a point in their meeting and conferring in good faith where their 

differences on matters to be included in a Memorandum of Understanding, and/or 

concerning matters over which they are required to meet and confer, remain so substantial 

and prolonged that further meeting and conferring would be futile. 

I. "Management Employee" means an employee having responsibility for formulating, 

administering or managing the implementation of the District’s policies and programs. 

J. "Proof of Employee Support" means (1) an authorization card recently signed and 

personally dated by an employee, provided that the card has not been subsequently 

revoked in writing by the employee, or (2) a verified authorization petition or petitions 

recently signed and personally dated by an employee, or (3) employee dues deduction 

authorization, using the payroll register for the period immediately prior to the date a 

petition is filed hereunder, except that dues deduction authorizations for more than one 

employee organization for the account of any one employee shall not be considered as 

proof of employee support for any employee organization.  The only authorization which 

shall be considered as proof of employee support hereunder shall be the authorization last 

signed by an employee.  The words "recently signed" shall mean within six (6) months 

prior to the filing of a petition. 

K. "Supervisory Employee" means any employee having authority, in the interest of the 

District, to hire, transfer, suspend, lay off, recall, promote, discharge, assign, reward, or 

discipline other employees, or responsibly to direct them, or to adjust their grievances, or 

effectively to recommend such action if, in connection with the foregoing, the exercise of 

35



Resolution No. 2024-2342  Page 4 of 14 

such authority is not of a merely routine or clerical nature, but requires the use of 

independent judgment. 

L. Terms not defined herein shall have the meanings as set forth in the MMBA.  

 

Article II – Representation Proceedings 

Sec. 2.01.  Filing of Recognition Petition by Employee Organization: 

An employee organization which seeks to be formally acknowledged as the Exclusively 

Recognized Employee Organization representing the employees in an appropriate unit may file a 

petition of representation with the General Manager or designee containing the following 

information and documentation: 

A. Name and address of the employee organization. 

B. Names and titles of its officers. 

C. Names, email addresses, and telephone numbers of employee organization 

representatives who are authorized to speak on behalf of the organization. 

D. A statement that the employee organization has, as one of its primary purposes, the 

responsibility of representing employees in their employment relations with the District. 

E. A statement whether the employee organization is a chapter of, or affiliated directly or 

indirectly in any manner, with a local, regional, state, national, or international 

organization, and, if so, the name and address of each such other organization. 

F. Certified copies of the employee organization's constitution and bylaws. 

G. A designation of those persons, not exceeding two in number, and their addresses, to 

whom notice sent by regular United States mail will be deemed sufficient notice on the 

employee organization for any purpose. 

H. A statement that the employee organization has no restriction on membership based on 

race, color, religion, creed, sex, national origin, age, sexual orientation, mental or physical 

disability or medical condition, or any other legally-protected classifications. 

I. The job classifications or position titles of employees in the unit claimed to be appropriate 

and the approximate number of member employees therein. 

J. A statement that the employee organization has in its possession proof of employee 

support as herein defined to establish that a majority of the employees in the unit claimed 

to be appropriate have designated the employee organization to represent them in their 

employment relations with the District.  Such written proof shall be submitted for 

confirmation to the Employee Relations Officer or to a mutually agreed upon disinterested 

third party. 

36



Resolution No. 2024-2342  Page 5 of 14 

K. A request that the Employee Relations Officer formally acknowledge the petitioner as the 

Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization representing the employees in the unit 

claimed to be appropriate for the purpose of meeting and conferring in good faith. 

The Petition, including the proof of employee support and all accompanying documentation, shall 

be declared to be true, correct and complete by the duly authorized officer(s) of the employee 

organization executing it. 

Sec. 2.02.  District’s Response to Recognition Petition: 

Upon receipt of the Petition, the Employee Relations Officer shall determine whether: 

a. There has been compliance with the requirements for the filing of a Recognition Petition 

as set forth in Sec. 2.01 hereof; and 

b. The proposed representation unit is an appropriate unit in accordance with Sec. 2.07 of 

this Article II.  

If the Employee Relations Officer determines the petition satisfies the two criteria above, the 
Employee Relations Officer shall so inform the petitioning employee organization, shall give 
written notice of such request for recognition to the employees in the unit and shall take no 
action on said request for thirty (30) days thereafter. 

If the Employee Relations Officer determines that the petition does not satisfy one or both of the 
criteria above, the Employee Relations Officer shall offer to consult with such petitioning 
employee organization.  The Employee Relations Officer, after consulting with the labor 
organization, will inform that organization in writing why the petition fails to satisfy the criteria 
above.  

The petitioning employee organization may appeal the Employee Relations Officer’s 
determination in accordance with Sec. 2.09 of this Resolution.  

Sec. 2.03.  Open Period for Filing Challenging Petition: 

Within thirty (30) days of the date written notice was given to affected employees that a valid 

recognition petition for an appropriate unit has been filed, any other employee organization may 

file a competing request to be formally acknowledged as the exclusively recognized employee 

organization of the employees in the same or in an overlapping unit (one which corresponds with 

respect to some, but not all the classifications or positions set forth in the recognition petition 

being challenged), by filing a petition evidencing proof of employee support in the unit claimed to 

be appropriate of at least thirty (30) percent and otherwise in the same form and manner as set 

forth in Sec. 2.01 of this Article II.  If the challenging petition seeks establishment of an overlapping 

unit, the Employee Relations Officer shall call for a hearing on such overlapping petitions for the 

purpose of ascertaining the more appropriate unit.  The petitioning employee organizations shall 

have the opportunity to be heard during the hearing. Thereafter, the Employee Relations Officer 

shall determine the appropriate unit or units in accordance with the standards in Sec. 2.07 of this 

Article II and shall provide written notice of the Employee Relations Officer’s determination.  

37



Resolution No. 2024-2342  Page 6 of 14 

If the petitioning employee organizations do not agree with the decision rendered by the Employee 

Relations Officer, the petitioning employee organizations shall have fifteen (15) days from the 

date when the notice of such unit determination is communicated to them by the Employee 

Relations Officer to amend their petitions to conform to such determination or to appeal such 

determination or to appeal such determination pursuant to Sec. 2.09 of this Article II. 

Sec. 2.04.  Granting Recognition Without an Election: 

If the Petition is in order, and the proof of support shows that a majority of the employees in the 

appropriate unit have designated the petitioning employee organization to represent them, and if 

no other employee organization filed a challenging petition, the petitioning employee organization 

and the Employee Relations Officer shall request the California State Mediation and Conciliation 

Services (“CSMCS”), a division of California Public Employee Relations Board (PERB), or another 

agreed upon neutral third party, to review the count, form, accuracy, and propriety of the proof of 

support.  If the neutral third party makes an affirmative determination, the Employee Relations 

Officer shall formally acknowledge the petitioning employee organization as the Exclusive 

Recognized Employee Organization for the designated unit. 

Sec. 2.05.  Election Procedure: 

Where recognition is not granted pursuant to Sec. 2.04 of this Resolution, then, upon 

determination of an appropriate unit in accordance with Sec. 2.02 and 2.07 of this Article II, the 

Employee Relations Officer shall arrange for a secret ballot election to be conducted by a party 

agreed to by the Employee Relations Officer and the concerned employee organization(s), in 

accordance with such party's rules and procedures subject to the provisions of this Resolution.   

In the event that the parties are unable to agree on a third party to conduct an election, the 
election shall be conducted by CSMCS.  In the event that CSMCS declines to conduct the 
election, for any reason, the parties agree that the election shall be conducted by a neutral 
arbitrator selected from a list of seven (7) names to be provided by CSMCS or, if that body for 
any reason fails to provide such a list, by the American Arbitration Association.  The incumbent 
recognized employee organization shall first strike one name, the petitioning organization shall 
then strike one name, the Employee Relations Officer shall next strike one name, and alternate 
so forth until the last name remaining shall be the Election Supervisor. 

If, once the election supervisor is appointed, the parties cannot agree as to the time, place, and 
manner of the election, the parties shall authorize the election supervisor to unilaterally 
determine such issues and carry out the election accordingly. 

All employee organizations who have duly submitted petitions which have been determined to 
be in conformance with this Article II shall be included on the ballot.  The choice of “no 
organization” shall also be included on the ballot thereby allowing employees the choice of 
representing themselves individually in their employment relations with the District.  

Employees are entitled to vote if they meet either of the following criteria: 1) They are employed 
in regular permanent positions within the designated appropriate unit during the pay period 
which ended at least fifteen days before the date the election; or 2) They did not work during the 
fifteen day period because of illness, vacation or other authorized leaves of absence, and they 
are employed by the District in the same unit on the date of the election. 

38



Resolution No. 2024-2342  Page 7 of 14 

An employee organization shall be formally acknowledged as the Exclusively Recognized 
Employee Organization for the designated appropriate unit following an election or run-off 
election if it received a numerical majority of all valid votes cast in the election.  In an election 
involving three or more choices, where none of the choices receives a majority of the valid votes 
cast, a run-off election shall be conducted between the two choices receiving the largest 
number of valid votes cast.  The rules governing an initial election shall also apply to a run-off 
election. 

There shall be no more than one valid election under this Resolution pursuant to any petition in 
a 12-month period affecting the same unit. 

The costs of conducting elections shall be borne in equal shares by the District and by each 
employee organization appearing on the ballot.  

Sec. 2.06.  Procedure for Decertification of Exclusively Recognized Employee 

Organization: 

A Decertification Petition alleging that the incumbent Exclusively Recognized Employee 
Organization no longer represents a majority of the employees in an established appropriate 
unit may be filed with the Employee Relations Officer only during the month of March of any 
year following the first full year of recognition, during the thirty (30) day period commencing one 
hundred twenty (120) days prior to the termination date of a Memorandum of Understanding 
then having been in effect less than three (3) years, whichever occurs later, or any time 
following expiration of a Memorandum of Understanding.  A Decertification Petition may be filed 
by two or more employees or their representative, or an employee organization, and shall 
contain the following information and documentation declared by the duly authorized signatory 
under penalty of perjury to be true, correct and complete: 

a. The name, address, and telephone number of the petitioner and a designated 
representative authorized to receive notices or requests for further information. 

b. The name of the established appropriate unit and of the incumbent Exclusively 
Recognized Employee Organization sought to be decertified as a representative of that 
unit. 

c. An allegation that the incumbent Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization no 
longer represents a majority of the employees in the appropriate unit, and any other 
relevant and material facts relating thereto. 

d. Proof of employee support that at least thirty (30) percent of the employees in the 
established appropriate unit no longer desire to be represented by the incumbent 
Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization. Such proof shall be submitted for 
confirmation to the Employee Relations Officer or to a mutually agreed upon 
disinterested third party within the time limits specified in the first paragraph of this 
Section. 

An employee organization may, in satisfaction of the Decertification Petition requirements set 
forth in this Resolution, file a Petition under this Section in the form of a Recognition Petition that 
evidences proof of employee support of at least thirty percent (30%) percent, that includes the 
allegation and information required under this Section 2.06, and otherwise conforms to the 
requirements of Section 2.01 of this Article II. 

39



Resolution No. 2024-2342  Page 8 of 14 

The Employee Relations Officer shall initially determine whether the Petition has been filed in 
compliance with the applicable provisions of this Article II.  If the Employee Relations Officer 
determines the Petition does not comply with Article II, the Employee Relations Officer shall 
offer to consult with the petitioning employees and/or employee organization.  If the Employee 
Relations Officer’s negative determination remains unchanged, the Employee Relations Officer 
shall return the Petition to the employees or employee organization with a written statement of 
the reasons for the Employee Relations Officer’s determination.  The petitioning employees or 
employee organization may appeal such determination in accordance with Sec. 2.10 of this 
Article II.   

If the determination of the Employee Relations Officer is affirmative, or if the Employee 
Relations Officer’s negative determination is reversed on appeal, the Employee Relations 
Officer shall give written notice of such Decertification or Recognition Petition to the incumbent 
Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization and to unit employees.  Upon request, the 
Employee Relations Officer shall provide a copy of the Petition with names and all other 
identifying information redacted. 

The Employee Relations Officer shall then arrange for a secret ballot election to be held on or 
about thirty (30) days after the written notice of Decertification or Recognition to determine the 
wishes of unit employees as to the question of decertification and, if a Recognition Petition was 
duly filed hereunder, the question of representation. Such election shall be conducted in 
conformance with Sec. 2.05 of this Article II.  

During the "open period" specified in the first paragraph of this Sec. 2.06, the Employee 
Relations Officer may, with good reason to believe that a majority of unit employees no longer 
wish to be represented by the incumbent Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization, notify 
that organization and all unit employees that the Employee Relations Officer shall arrange for an 
election to determine that issue.  In such event any other employee organization may, within 
fifteen (15) days of such notice, file a Recognition Petition in accordance with this Sec. 2.08, 
which the Employee Relations Officer shall act on in accordance with this Sec. 2.06. 

If, pursuant to this Sec. 2.06, a different employee organization is formally acknowledged as the 
Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization, such organization shall be bound by all the 
terms and conditions of any Memorandum of Understanding then in effect for its remaining term. 

Sec. 2.07.  Policy and Standards for Determination of Appropriate Units: 

The Employee Relations Officer shall maintain a list of all current bargaining units in the District 

and shall have the management discretion to form and define reasonable bargaining units, based 

on the procedures specified in this Resolution.  The policy objectives in determining the 

appropriateness of units shall be the effect of a proposed unit on (1) the efficient operations of 

District and its compatibility with the primary responsibility of the District and its employees to 

effectively and economically serve the public, and (2) providing employees with effective 

representation based on recognized community of interest considerations.  These policy 

objectives require that the appropriate unit shall be the broadest feasible grouping of positions 

that share an identifiable community of interest.  Factors to be considered shall be: 

A. Similarity of the general kinds of work performed, types of qualifications required, and the 

general working conditions. 

40



Resolution No. 2024-2342  Page 9 of 14 

B. History of representation in the District and similar employment; except however, that no 

unit shall be deemed to be an appropriate unit solely on the basis of the extent to which 

employees in the proposed unit have organized. 

C. Consistency with the organizational patterns of the District. 

D. Effect of differing legally mandated impasse resolution procedures. 

E. Number of employees and classifications, and the effect on the administration of 

employer-employee relations created by the fragmentation of classifications and 

proliferation of units. 

F. Effect on the classification structure and impact on the stability of the employer-employee 

relationship of dividing a single or related classification among two or more units. 

G. Whether the classifications are managerial, supervisory, and/or confidential, as defined in 

this Resolution. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section, managerial, supervisory, and 

confidential  employees may only be included in a unit consisting solely of managerial, supervisory 

or confidential employees respectively.  Managerial, supervisory, and confidential employees may 

not represent any employee organization which represents other employees. 

Also, under the MMBA, professional employees have the right to be represented separately from 

non-professional employees.  

The Employee Relations Officer shall, after notice to and consultation with affected employee 

organizations, allocate new classifications or positions, delete eliminated classifications or 

positions, and retain, reallocate, or delete classifications or positions from units in accordance 

with the provisions of this Section.  The decision of the Employee Relations Officer shall be final. 

Sec. 2.08.  Procedure for Modification of Established Appropriate Units: 

a. Request for Modification from Employee Organization 

Requests by employee organizations for modifications of established appropriate units 
may be considered by the Employee Relations Officer only during the period specified in 
Sec. 2.06 of this Article II. Such requests shall be submitted in the form of a Recognition 
Petition and, in addition to the requirements set forth in Sec. 2.01 of this Article II, shall 
contain a complete statement of all relevant facts and citations in support of the 
proposed modified unit in terms of the policies and standards set forth in Sec. 2.07 of 
this Resolution.  The Employee Relations Officer shall process such petitions as other 
Recognition Petitions under this Article II.  

b. Unit Modification by Action of the Employee Relations Officer 

The Employee Relations Officer may initiate a unit modification at any time for good 
cause, including but not limited to when new classifications are adopted, existing 
classifications abolished, or when classifications are no longer compatible with the 
existing bargaining unit under the factors of Sec. 2.07 of this Article II.  The Employee 

41



Resolution No. 2024-2342  Page 10 of 14 

Relations Officer shall give written notice of the proposed modification(s) to any affected 
employee organization and shall hold a meeting concerning the proposed 
modification(s), at which time all affected employee organizations shall be heard.  

Thereafter the Employee Relations Officer shall determine the composition of the 
appropriate unit or units in accordance with Sec. 2.07 of this Article II, and shall give 
written notice of such determination to the affected employee organizations.  The 
Employee Relations Officer's determination may be appealed as provided in Section 
2.10 of this Article II. If a unit is modified pursuant to the motion of the Employee 
Relations Officer hereunder, employee organizations may thereafter file Recognition 
Petitions seeking to become the Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization for 
such new appropriate unit or units pursuant to Sec. 2.01 of this Article II. 

Sec. 2.09.  Procedure for Processing Severance Requests: 

An employee organization may file a request to become the exclusively recognized employee 
organization of a unit alleged to be appropriate that consists of a group of employees who are 
already a part of a larger established unit represented by another exclusively recognized 
employee organization.  The timing, form, and processing of such request shall be as specified 
in Sec. 2.08 of Article II for modification requests.  

Sec. 2.10.  Appeals 

An employee organization aggrieved by a determination of the Employee Relations Officer that 
the Filing of a Recognition Petition (Sec. 2.01), Challenge of a Petition (Sec. 2.03), 
Decertification of a Petition (Sec. 2.06), Determination of an Appropriate Unit (Sec. 2.07), Unit 
Modification Petition (Sec. 2.08), or Severance Request(s) (Sec. 2.09) has not been processed 
in compliance with the applicable provisions of this Article II, may, within ten (10) days of notice 
of the Employee Relations Officer’s determination, appeal such determination to the Board of 
Directors for final decision.  

Appeals to the Board of Directors shall be filed in writing with the Board Secretary, and a copy 
thereof served on the Employee Relations Officer. The Board of Directors shall commence to 
consider the matter within thirty (30) days of the filing of the appeal. The Board of Directors may, 
in its discretion, refer the dispute to a non-binding third party hearing process.   

Any decision of the Board of Directors on the use of such procedure, and/or any decision of the 
Board of Directors determining the substance of the dispute shall be final and binding.  

 

Sec. 2.11.  Abandonment of Unit or Good Faith Doubt of Majority Representative: 

In the event a bargaining unit appears to have been abandoned by its Exclusively Recognized 
Employee Organization, or in the event that the Employee Relations Officer has a good faith 
doubt that the Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization represents a majority of the 
members of the unit, the Employee Relations Officer shall serve notice to the affected employee 
organization(s) stating the evidence leading the Employee Relations Officer to the belief of 
abandonment or doubt of majority representational status.  Such affected employee 
organization shall have twenty (20) days to present written evidence and argument to the 
contrary.  

42



Resolution No. 2024-2342  Page 11 of 14 

If, after the twenty-day period expires, the Employee Relations Officer still believes the unit has 
been abandoned or still has a good faith doubt of majority representation, the Employee 
Relations Officer shall thereupon arrange for a secret ballot election to be held on or about 
fifteen (15) days after notice thereof to determine the wishes of unit members.  The question 
before the electorate shall be, “Do you wish to continue to be represented by [insert name of 
association or union] in your formal bargaining relationship with the District?”  If the answer by a 
majority of valid votes cast is in the affirmative, there shall be no change in representational 
status. If the answer by a majority of valid votes cast is in the negative, then the organization’s 
representational status as bargaining representative for the unit in question shall be terminated. 

Details of such election shall be handled in accordance with applicable provisions of Section 
2.04 of Article II of this Resolution. 

 

Article III – Administration 

Sec. 3.01.  Submission of Current Information by Recognized Employee Organizations: 

All changes in the information filed with District by an Exclusively Recognized Employee 

Organization under items (A.) through (H.) of its Recognition Petition under Section 2.01 shall be 

submitted in writing to the Employee Relations Officer within thirty (30) days of such change. 

Sec. 3.02.  Employee Organization Activities—Use of District Resources: 

Access to District work locations and the use of District paid time, facilities, equipment and other 

resources by employee organizations and those representing them shall be authorized only to 

the extent provided for in Memoranda of Understanding and/or administrative procedures, shall 

be limited to lawful activities consistent with the provisions of this Resolution that pertain directly 

to the employer-employee relationship and not such internal employee organization business as 

soliciting membership, campaigning for office, and organization meetings and elections, and shall 

not interfere with the efficiency, safety, and security of District operations. 

Sec. 3.03.  Administrative Rules and Procedures: 

The General Manager or designee is hereby authorized to establish such rules and procedures 

as appropriate to implement and administer the provisions of this Resolution after consultation 

with affected employee organizations. 

 

Article IV – Impasse 

Sec. 4.01.  Initiation of Impasse Procedures: 

If the meet and confer process has reached impasse as defined in Article I, Section 1.02 of this 

Resolution, either party may initiate the impasse procedures by filing with the other party a written 

request for an impasse meeting, together with a statement of its position on all issues.  An 

43



Resolution No. 2024-2342  Page 12 of 14 

impasse meeting shall then be scheduled promptly by the Employee Relations Officer.  The 

purpose of such meeting shall be: 

A. To identify and specify in writing the issue or issues that remain in dispute; 

B. To review the position of the parties in a final effort to reach agreement on a Memorandum 

of Understanding; and 

C. If the impasse is not resolved, to discuss arrangements for the utilization of the impasse 

procedures provided herein. 

Sec. 4.02.  Impasse Procedures: 

Impasse procedures are as follows: 

A. If the parties agree to submit the impasse to mediation, the dispute shall be submitted to 

mediation. Unless the parties agree to a mediator, the mediator shall be selected from a 

list of seven (7) names to be provided by CSMCS.  The recognized employee organization 

shall first strike one name, the Employee Relations Officer shall next strike one name, and 

alternate so forth until the last name remaining shall be the mediator.  All mediation 

proceedings shall be private.  The mediator shall make no public recommendation, nor 

take any public position at any time concerning the issues. 

B. Otherwise, the parties can utilize any other impasse procedures provided in accordance 

with the MMBA. 

C. After any applicable impasse procedures have been exhausted, the Board of Directors 

may hold a public hearing regarding the impasse, and take such action regarding the 

impasse as it in its discretion deems appropriate as in the public interest, including 

implementation of the District’s last, best, and final offer.  Any legislative action by the 

Board of Directors on the impasse shall be final and binding. 

Sec. 4.03.  Costs of Impasse Procedures: 

The cost for the services of a mediator and/or any other mutually incurred costs of any impasse 

procedures, shall be borne equally by the District and the Exclusively Recognized Employee 

Organization.  Separately incurred services or costs shall be borne solely by the party incurring 

the cost. 

 

Article V – Miscellaneous Provisions 

Sec. 5.01.  Construction: 

This Resolution shall be administered and construed as follows: 

A. Nothing in this Resolution shall be construed to deny to any person, employee, 

organization, the District, or any authorized officer, body or other representative of the 

44



Resolution No. 2024-2342  Page 13 of 14 

District, the rights, powers and authority granted by federal or state law, ordinances or 

resolutions. 

B. This Resolution shall be interpreted so as to carry out its purpose as set forth in Article I. 

C. Nothing in this Resolution shall be construed as making the provisions of California Labor 

Code section 923 applicable to District employees or employee organizations, or of giving 

employees or employee organizations the right to participate in, support, cooperate or 

encourage, directly or indirectly, any strike, sickout or other total or partial stoppage or 

slowdown of work.  In consideration of and as a condition of initial and continued 

employment by the District, employees recognize that any such actions by them are in 

violation of their conditions of employment, except as expressly otherwise provided by 

legally preemptive state or contrary local law.  In the event employees engage in such 

actions, they shall subject themselves to discipline up to and including termination, and 

may be replaced, to the extent such actions are not prohibited by preemptive law; and 

employee organizations may thereby forfeit all rights accorded them under this Resolution 

and other District ordinances and resolutions for a period of up to one (1) year from 

commencement of such activity.  

D. Nothing in this Resolution shall be construed as a waiver of any rights unless expressly 

and specifically stated.  

Sec. 5.02.  Suspension of Recognition: 

Recognition of an employee organization may be suspended by the Board for: 

a. Repeated or continued failure or refusal to comply with the provisions of this Resolution. 

b. Intentional furnishing of false information to the District. 

c. Violation of any law, resolutions, contract provisions, court decision or court orders. 

Reasonable notice and opportunity to correct violations shall be given prior to suspension under 

this Section. 

Sec. 5.03.  Severability: 

If any provision of this Resolution, or the application of such provision to any persons or 

circumstances, shall be held invalid, the remainder of this Resolution, or the application of such 

provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is held invalid, shall not be 

affected thereby. 

 
 

 *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  * 
 
 
 
 
 

45



Resolution No. 2024-2342  Page 14 of 14 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, 

Marin County, California, at a meeting thereof held on the 17th day of October, 2024 by the 

following vote: 

 
AYES, and in favor thereof Members:  
NOES, Members:   
ABSENT, Members:  
ABSTAIN, Members:   
  

 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true, and correct copy of a resolution duly and 

regularly passed and adopted by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District.  

     

 

          
    ________________________________ 

      Teresa Lerch, District Secretary  
        
 
Approve:             (seal) 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Gary E. Robards, Vice-President of Board of Directors 
 

46



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\10172024\PPP\ASR Personnel Policy and Procedures Update Resolution No 2024-2343.docx Page 1 of 2 

  Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager  
 (415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 
Meeting Date: October 17, 2024 

Re: Resolution Revising the Personnel Policy and Procedures  

Item Type:   Consent  X  Action        Information      Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No     (See attached) Not Applicable     X        . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Adopt Resolution No. 2024-2343 revising the District’s Personnel Policy and Procedures. 

BACKGROUND  
The Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District’s consolidated Personnel Policy and Procedures (PPP) 
were prescribed for the purpose of carrying out the personnel program in compliance with state 
and federal law. The policies and procedures were last updated in 2017. 
 
Liebert Cassidy Whitmore and CPS HR Consulting were asked to review the PPP and 
recommend updates to reflect legislative changes and to incorporate best practices in personnel 
management. 
 
An initial draft of the proposed changes to the PPP was prepared by the District and presented to 
the labor representatives, along with an opportunity to meet and discuss. The Labor Management 
Committee, consisting of District representatives and Operating Engineers Local 3 (OE3) 
representatives, met on May 8, July 10, and August 28, 2024 to review and discuss the proposed 
changes to the PPP.  To provide clarity, language in the PPP was updated to conform to the 
language in the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the District and OE3. 
 
The District Board reviewed the proposed changes to the PPP at their regular meeting of 
September 19, 2024. Recommended changes were considered and made to the PPP as follows:   
 
Changes to the Personnel Policies and Procedures Manual After September 19  

• Section 6. Use of District Property: Added “vehicle” to preamble paragraph. 

• Section 6.1 Scope:  Added “(D) District property shall not be defaced including but 
not limited to graffiti, unauthorized writing or drawing on property, or placement of 
unauthorized or inappropriate stickers on property” at the end of Section 6.1. 

• Section 22.9 Bereavement: No changes were made. Language aligns with the 
MOU and conforms with AB 1949, which updated California Gov. Code § 12945.7 
effective January 1, 2023, providing eligible employees with up to 5 days of 
bereavement leave. 

 

Item Number_______4F.2_______ 

GM Review   ___CP___________ 

 

47

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\10172024\PPP\ASR Personnel Policy and Procedures Update Resolution No 2024-2343.docx Page 2 of 2 

 
The General Manager is the person appointed by the Board to administer and enforce the rules 
and regulations of District. The General Manager has general authority over personnel matters 
and authority to administer the District with exclusive management and control of the operations 
and works of the District, subject to approval of the Board (Board Policy B-80). Minor administerial 
revisions to the PPP are allowed under this authority provided that no significant increases or 
decreases in compensation or benefits are proposed.   
 
There is no impact to the District/OE3 Memorandum of Understanding or to any employment 
terms. Adoption of the resolution will confirm that the General Manager has authority to make 
administrative changes and updates to the PPP required by relevant legislative changes without 
additional Board approval.   
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
The Personnel Policy and Procedures was last presented to the Board and approved on March 9, 
2017, superseding the prior version dated May 28, 2015. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
There is no fiscal impact for adopting the revised PPP.  
 
Attachments: 

1. Resolution No. 2024-2343 
2. LGVSD Personnel Policy and Procedures (10/17/2024). 

 
  

48



Resolution No. 2024-2343  Page 1 of 2 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-2343 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
 LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT ADOPTING THE REVISED 

PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES OF THE DISTRICT 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has adopted personnel rules that have been 

incorporated into a consolidated Personnel Policy and Procedures handbook; and 

 

WHEREAS, Board Policy B-80 grants the General Manager authority over personnel 

matters, including the authority to make minor revisions to the Personnel Policies and Procedures, 

provided such revisions do not result in significant changes to employee compensation or benefits; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the General Manager is further authorized to amend the Personnel Policies and 

Procedures to ensure compliance with applicable laws; and 

 

WHEREAS, any other amendments to the Personnel Policies and Procedures require formal 

action by the Board of Directors; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Directors now desires to adopt the revised Personnel Policies and 

Procedures, which incorporate all relevant legislative updates, as well as changes made by the 

Board and those made by the General Manager within the scope of their authority. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors hereby adopts the 

revised Personnel Policies and Procedures, as incorporated by reference, as the official and most 

current version of the District's Personnel Policies and Procedures, effective as of the date of this 

resolution. 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors reaffirms the General Manager's 

authority to make future administrative and legally required updates to the Personnel Policies and 

Procedures without further Board approval. 

 
 

 *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  * 
 
 

49



Resolution No. 2024-2343  Page 2 of 2 

 

 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, 

Marin County, California, at a meeting thereof held on the 17th day of October, 2024 by the 

following vote: 

 
AYES, and in favor thereof Members:  
NOES, Members:   
ABSENT, Members:  
ABSTAIN, Members:   
  

 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true, and correct copy of a resolution duly and regularly 

passed and adopted by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District.  

     

 

          
    ________________________________ 

      Teresa Lerch, District Secretary  
        
 
Approve:             (seal) 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Gary E. Robards, Vice-President of Board of Directors 

 

50



           
 10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

 

Las Gallinas Valley 
Sanitary District 

 

 

 

 

 

Personnel Policy and Procedures 

 

 

 

51



ii          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

SECTION 1 ......................................................................................................................................... 1 

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION ................................................................................................... 1 

No. 1 Purpose and Authority ................................................................................................. 1 

1.1 Purpose ..................................................................................................................... 1 

1.2 Application ................................................................................................................ 1 

1.3 Authority ................................................................................................................... 2 

1.4 Effect of Collective Bargaining Agreements ............................................................. 2 

1.5 Effect of At-Will Agreements .................................................................................... 2 

1.6 No Contract Created ................................................................................................. 2 

1.7 Right to Amend, Delete or Suspend ......................................................................... 2 

No. 2 Definitions .................................................................................................................... 2 

2.1 Definitions ................................................................................................................ 3 

No. 3 Employee Relations Resolution .................................................................................... 5 

SECTION 2 ......................................................................................................................................... 6 

PERSONNEL CONDUCT AND STANDARDS OF EMPLOYMENT ........................................................ 6 

No. 4 Employee Standards of Conduct .................................................................................. 6 

4.1 Standards of Conduct ............................................................................................... 6 

4.2 General Prohibitions ................................................................................................. 9 

4.3 Improper Political Activity ........................................................................................ 9 

4.4 Maintenance of Confidential and/or Privileged Information ................................. 11 

4.5 Outside Employment .............................................................................................. 11 

4.6 Alcohol and Drug Free Workplace .......................................................................... 11 

4.7 Use of District Facilities or Property ....................................................................... 14 

4.8 Smoke Free Workplace ........................................................................................... 14 

4.9 Gift Policy ................................................................................................................ 15 

4.10 Dress Code .............................................................................................................. 15 

4.11 Tattoo Policy ........................................................................................................... 16 

4.12 Piercing and Jewelry Policy ..................................................................................... 16 

No. 5 Equal Employment Opportunity ................................................................................. 16 

5.1 Equal Employment Opportunity ............................................................................. 16 

5.2 Policy Against Harassment, Discrimination, Retaliation, Bullying, and Abusive 

Conduct 17 

52



iii          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

5.3 Responsibilities ....................................................................................................... 24 

No. 6 Use of District Property and Equipment .................................................................... 25 

6.1 Scope ...................................................................................................................... 25 

6.2 General Policy on the Use of Electronic Media ...................................................... 25 

6.3 Email, Instant Messaging, Text Messaging and Voice Mail .................................... 28 

6.4 Internet ................................................................................................................... 29 

6.5 Telecommunication Devices ................................................................................... 30 

6.6 Lockers .................................................................................................................... 33 

No. 7 Grievance Procedure .................................................................................................. 33 

No. 8 Whistleblower Retaliation .......................................................................................... 33 

8.1 Retaliation for Filing Complaints, Claims ................................................................ 33 

8.2 Policy Coverage ...................................................................................................... 34 

8.3 Definitions .............................................................................................................. 34 

No. 9 Whistleblower Procedure ............................................................................................... 35 

9.1 Written Statements and Complaint Procedures .................................................... 35 

9.2 General Manager Review ....................................................................................... 35 

9.3 Appeal ..................................................................................................................... 36 

9.4 Complaints about the General Manager ................................................................ 36 

No. 10 Workplace Security, Safety, and Violence in the Workplace ..................................... 36 

10.1 General Safety ........................................................................................................ 36 

10.2 Violence in the Workplace...................................................................................... 36 

No. 11 Social Media ............................................................................................................... 38 

SECTION 3 ....................................................................................................................................... 40 

RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION .................................................................................................... 40 

No. 12 Recruitment and Application Process ........................................................................ 40 

12.1 General ................................................................................................................... 40 

12.2 Recruitment Initiated ............................................................................................. 40 

12.3 Existing Reemployment List.................................................................................... 40 

12.4 Recruitment Planning ............................................................................................. 40 

12.5 Promotional Recruitments ..................................................................................... 40 

12.6 Announcement of Recruitments ............................................................................ 41 

12.7 Entry Level Recruiting ............................................................................................. 41 

53



iv          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

12.8 Applications for Employment or Promotion .......................................................... 41 

12.9 Qualifications of Applicants .................................................................................... 41 

12.10 Background investigation ....................................................................................... 41 

12.11 Disqualification of Applicants ................................................................................. 42 

No. 13  Examination Process .................................................................................................. 42 

13.1 General ................................................................................................................... 42 

13.2 Reasonable Accommodation .................................................................................. 43 

No. 14 Selection and Offer of Employment ........................................................................... 43 

14.1 Selection Interviews ............................................................................................... 43 

14.2 Offer of Employment .............................................................................................. 43 

14.3 Background Investigations ..................................................................................... 43 

14.4 Physical Examination .............................................................................................. 43 

14.5 Appointing Authority Responsibilities .................................................................... 44 

No. 15 Appointment .............................................................................................................. 45 

15.1 Appointment .......................................................................................................... 45 

15.2 Types of Appointment ............................................................................................ 45 

No. 16  Probation Period ........................................................................................................ 46 

16.1 Purpose ................................................................................................................... 46 

16.2 Probationary Period ............................................................................................... 46 

16.3 Promotional Probation Period................................................................................ 46 

16.4 Actual Service Required .......................................................................................... 47 

16.5 Regular Appointment ............................................................................................. 47 

16.6 Release During Probation ....................................................................................... 47 

16.7 Release From Probation Upon Promotion ............................................................. 47 

No. 17  Reemployment .......................................................................................................... 47 

17.1 Reemployment Following Lay Off .......................................................................... 47 

17.2 Reemployment Following Resignation ................................................................... 48 

17.3 Status, Salary, Benefits and Seniority Upon Reemployment ................................. 48 

17.4 Temporary Employment ......................................................................................... 48 

SECTION 4 ....................................................................................................................................... 49 

EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES ............................................................................................................. 49 

No. 18 Position Classification System .................................................................................... 49 

54



v          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

18.1 Position Classification ............................................................................................. 49 

18.2 Interpretation of Class Specifications/Descriptions ............................................... 49 

18.3 Establishment of New Classifications ..................................................................... 49 

No. 19  Compensation ............................................................................................................ 49 

19.1 Salary on Initial Hire ............................................................................................... 49 

19.2 Salary on Promotion ............................................................................................... 50 

19.3 Salary on Temporary Out of Classification Assignment ......................................... 50 

19.4 Salary on Voluntary Demotion ............................................................................... 50 

19.5 Merit Increase Steps ............................................................................................... 50 

19.6 Payday .................................................................................................................... 51 

19.7 Payroll Errors .......................................................................................................... 51 

19.8 Overtime Compensation ........................................................................................ 51 

19. 9 Compensatory Time Off ......................................................................................... 52 

19.10 Standby Policy ........................................................................................................ 52 

19.11 Payment Upon Separation ..................................................................................... 52 

19.12 Emergency Response Stipend ................................................................................ 52 

No. 20 Benefits ....................................................................................................................... 53 

20.1 Medical/Dental/Vision/Retiree Medical ................................................................ 53 

20.2 Workers’ Compensation ......................................................................................... 53 

20.3 Training ................................................................................................................... 53 

20.4 COBRA ..................................................................................................................... 55 

20.5 Benefits Upon Separation....................................................................................... 55 

20.6 Temporary Employees ............................................................................................ 56 

No. 21 Performance Planning and Evaluation ....................................................................... 56 

21.1 Purpose of Performance Evaluation ....................................................................... 56 

21.2 Performance Planning ............................................................................................ 56 

21.3 Written Evaluation ................................................................................................. 57 

21.4 Merit Increase ........................................................................................................ 57 

21.5 Timelines................................................................................................................. 57 

21.6 Probationary Employee Assessment ...................................................................... 57 

21.7 Process .................................................................................................................... 57 

21.8 Employee Response ................................................................................................ 57 

55



vi          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

No. 22 Leaves of Absence ...................................................................................................... 58 

22.1 Sick Leave................................................................................................................ 58 

22.2 Catastrophic Leave Donation Plan ......................................................................... 61 

22.3 Return to Work ....................................................................................................... 61 

22.4 Personal Days ......................................................................................................... 63 

22.5 Vacation Leave........................................................................................................ 63 

22.6 Holidays .................................................................................................................. 63 

22.7 Family Medical Care Leave ..................................................................................... 63 

22.8 School Visit Leave ................................................................................................... 72 

22.9 Bereavement Leave ................................................................................................ 72 

22.10 Military Leave ......................................................................................................... 73 

22.11 Voting Leave ........................................................................................................... 73 

22.12 Jury Duty or Court Witness Leave .......................................................................... 73 

22.13 Leave Without Pay .................................................................................................. 74 

22.14 Paid Family Leave ................................................................................................... 75 

22.15 Pregnancy Disability Leave ..................................................................................... 75 

22.16 Reproductive Loss Leave ........................................................................................ 77 

22.17 Lactation Accommodation ..................................................................................... 78 

22.18 Crime Victim Leave ................................................................................................. 79 

No. 23  Voluntary Demotion .................................................................................................. 80 

23.1 Voluntary Demotion ............................................................................................... 80 

No. 24  Personnel Records and Files ...................................................................................... 80 

24.1 Official Personnel File ............................................................................................. 80 

24.2 Notifying District of Changes in Personal information ........................................... 80 

24.3 Employee Access to Personnel File ........................................................................ 80 

24.4 Medical Information ............................................................................................... 81 

24.5 Requests for References and Release of Information in Personnel Files ............... 81 

No. 25 Employee Discipline .................................................................................................... 82 

25.1 Authority ................................................................................................................. 82 

25.2 Types of Appealable Disciplinary Action ................................................................ 82 

25.3 Grounds for Disciplinary Action .............................................................................. 82 

25.4 Discipline of Exempt Employees ............................................................................. 84 

56



vii          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

25.5 Possible Investigation ............................................................................................. 84 

25.6 Procedures for Taking Disciplinary Action and Related Appeal Rights .................. 84 

No. 26 Separation from Employment .................................................................................... 86 

26.1 Resignation ............................................................................................................. 86 

26.2 Reduction in Force (Lay Off) ................................................................................... 87 

26.3 Job Abandonment .................................................................................................. 87 

26.4 End of Fixed Term Appointment ............................................................................ 87 

26.5 Retirement .............................................................................................................. 87 

26.6 District Property on Termination of Employment .................................................. 87 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

57



viii          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK. 

58



1          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

SECTION 1 

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION 

No. 1 Purpose and Authority 
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

These Personnel Policy and Procedures (PPP) are prescribed for the purpose of carrying out the 

personnel program in compliance with state and federal law.  Section 1 of these PPPs establishes 

the purpose and authority for these regulations. 

1.1 Purpose 

A. The goal of these policies and procedures is to establish fair, equitable and lawful 

procedures for dealing with personnel matters, to attract and retain the most competent 

persons available, to assure that appointments and promotions of employees will be 

based on merit, to provide a reasonable degree of security for qualified employees, and 

to support the values, goals, and strategies set forth by the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 

District (“District”). 

B. These PPPs represent a compilation of legal standards, policies, procedures, rules, forms, 

and definitions pertaining to the responsibilities of employees and managers in their 

employment with Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. Previous personnel rules, 

regulations, policies, and procedures are expressly repealed and replaced by these PPPs. 

C. This Personnel Policy and Procedures Manual are organized into the following sections: 

Section 1: General and Administration 

Section 2: Personnel Conduct and Standards of Employment 

Section 3: Recruitment and Selection 

Section 4: Employment Practices 

1.2 Application 

These policies and procedures apply to all permanent, regular employees of the Las Gallinas Valley 

Sanitary District, unless a specific policy or procedure indicates otherwise. The provisions related 

to appointment, probation status, procedure for disciplinary action, and selection appeals are not 

applicable to temporary or casual employees, at-will employees, elected officials, or the General 

Manager appointed by the Board of Directors.  

59



2          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

1.3 Authority 

A. The ultimate determination of personnel policy is the responsibility of the Board of 

Directors.  

B. The Board of Directors shall appoint a General Manager.  The General Manager or 

designee shall appoint  District personnel in accordance with these PPPs. 

C. The General Manager or designee will be responsible for conducting competitive 

examinations to ascertain the fitness of applicants for appointment and promotion of 

employees to vacant positions. The General Manager or designee may contract with any 

qualified person or agency for the performance of such technical or professional services 

as may be desired in the establishment or operation of the personnel system.  

D. The General Manager or designee is responsible for carrying out personnel policies and 

procedures set by the Board of Directors, and shall ensure that these policies and 

procedures are administered in a fair and equitable manner for all employees. 

E. Members of the Board of Directors shall deal only with the General Manager or designee 

on personnel matters. 

1.4 Effect of Collective Bargaining Agreements 

If a provision of these Personnel Policies and Procedures is in conflict with a provision of an 

applicable Memorandum of Understanding negotiated between District and a recognized 

employee organization, to the extent of such conflict, the provision of the Memorandum of 

Understanding shall be controlling. 

1.5 Effect of At-Will Agreements 

If a provision of these Personnel Policies and Procedures is in conflict with a provision of an 

applicable At-Will contract negotiated between the District and an employee, to the extent of 

such conflict, the provision of the At-Will contract shall be controlling. 

1.6 No Contract Created 

The Personnel Policies and Procedures do not create any contract of employment, express or 

implied, or any rights in the nature of a contract. 

1.7 Right to Amend, Delete or Suspend 

These policies and procedures may be amended by adding, deleting, or changing such policies and 

procedures from time to time upon giving notice to the recognized bargaining unit. This section 

is not intended to supersede the District’s obligations as set forth in California Government Code 

section 3500 et seq. 

No. 2 Definitions 
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Personnel Policy and Procedure defines words and terminology used by these PPPs. 

60



3          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

2.1 Definitions 

Unless otherwise defined by the context, words used in these PPPs will have the following 

meanings: 

A. Anniversary Date. The date recurring yearly upon an employee’s most recent regular 

appointment.  The anniversary date will be used to determine salary step increases and 

promotion to the next higher classification (if promotion is based on time in grade).  The 

anniversary date shall be adjusted for all unpaid leaves of absences.  

B. Applicant. Any person who, according to these rules, has made formal application for 

employment. 

C. Appointing Authority. The person having authority to appoint or to remove persons from 

positions in the District or subordinates to whom this authority is delegated. 

D. Appointment. The offer of and acceptance by a candidate to a position in the District 

service.  

E. At-Will Employee.  “At Will” refers to any District employee who: (1) does not hold regular 

status; (2) serves at the pleasure of the Board, General Manager, or appointing authority; 

and (3) can be terminated at any time without cause and without pre- or post-disciplinary 

process and/or the opportunity to appeal.  Employees who move from regular 

employment status to an at-will position shall be required to sign a notification and 

acknowledgement of at-will employment as a condition of employment. 

F. Authorized Position. A funded work position, within a job classification, which is or may 

be held by an employee.  

G. Board. The Board of Directors of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. 

H. Classification or Class. A position or group of positions having the same title, class 

specification, minimum qualifications, and salary. 

I. Date of Hire.  When an employee is hired into a regular (full or part-time) or contract 

position with the District. 

J. Day. Calendar day. If the final day of a time period falls on a weekend or holiday, the next 

calendar day following will constitute the final calendar day. 

K. Demotion. A change in status of an employee from a position in one classification to a 

position in another classification with lesser duties and responsibilities, lower 

qualifications, and a lower maximum salary. A demotion may be voluntary or involuntary. 

L. District. The Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, a government organization governed 

solely by the Board of Directors. 

61



4          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

M. Eligible Candidate. A person who has successfully passed all initial examination 

requirements for a classification for which the person has made official application. 

N. Employee. A person who is employed by the District. 

O. Exempt Employee. An employee defined under federal law as not subject to overtime 

payment over 40 hours per week or the equivalent.  

P. Leave of Absence. When authorized, an absence from duty for a specified period of time. 

An employee on authorized leave may return to the same or a similar position at the end 

of the authorized leave period. 

Q.  Non-Exempt Employee. An employee who under federal law must be paid overtime 

wages (or compensatory time off) when the employee works over 40 hours per week or 

the equivalent. Also known under federal law as an hourly employee. 

R. Overtime. Authorized work beyond the identified work week or work period. 

S. Probationary Period. A trial period during which an employee is required to demonstrate 

competency in the knowledge, skills, and abilities necessary to successfully perform the 

job and from which an employee is at-will and may be released without cause or right of 

appeal. The probationary period is the final step in the examination process.  The 

probationary period shall begin with the regular hire date of the employee in the current 

job class, whether attained by new hire or promotion. 

T. Promotion. Advancement of an employee from a position in an established classification 

to a position in an established classification with higher level duties and responsibilities, 

higher qualifications, and a higher maximum salary. 

U. Reclassification. A reallocation of a position to a different or new classification because of 

a significant change in duties and/or responsibility of the position over time. 

V. Reinstatement. A return to employment (reemployment) of an employee following  

separation due to layoff. 

W. Reorganization. A planned, prospective restructuring or redesign of a department, which 

will have fiscal or classification impact, to meet changing needs. 

X. Seniority Date.  An employee’s date of hire adjusted by any unpaid Leaves of Absence.  

An employee’s seniority date shall be used to determine an employee’s benefit accruals.   

Y. Separation. Any ending of employment with the District, including discharge, reduction in 

force, resignation, retirement, and job abandonment. 

Z. Step Increase. Advancement within a salary range from one step to another, higher step. 

AA. Step Increase Date. Date used to determine eligibility for a step increase. 

62



5          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

AB. Termination. The involuntary separation from employment of an employee by an 

appointing authority. Dismissal and discharge may be used synonymously with 

termination. 

AC. Y-Rate. A salary paid above the maximum salary of the range for an incumbent employee 

when the employee is moved from their class to a different class with a lower salary range. 

The incumbent retains their current rate of pay until such time as the new class has a 

maximum salary rate which is equal to or higher than the “y” rate. 

AD. Temporary or Casual Employee.  An employee who is assigned to work on a particular 

project or on a job of limited or definite duration is a temporary or casual employee.  A 

temporary or casual employee: (1) does not hold regular status, (2) does not serve a 

probationary period, (3) can be dismissed from District employment at any time without 

cause, right of appeal, grievance, or hearing, and (4) is not entitled to earn, accrue, or 

participate in any District employee benefit plans, or paid or unpaid leaves, except as 

required by law. 

No. 3 Employee Relations Resolution 
The Employee Relations Resolution is a separate standalone document, adopted by the Board, 

that establishes the orderly administration of labor management relations as provided for in 

California Government Code sections 3500 et seq. 

  

63



6          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

SECTION 2 

PERSONNEL CONDUCT AND STANDARDS OF EMPLOYMENT 

No. 4 Employee Standards of Conduct 
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Personnel Policy and Procedure defines general standards of conduct for District employees. 

4.1 Standards of Conduct 

A. Employees of the District are expected to be productive, perform their work in a safe 

manner, be considerate of others, and conduct themselves in a professional manner at 

all times. 

B. The following non-exclusive list illustrates the types of conduct that are prohibited and 

will not be tolerated by the District.  .  Other types of conduct that may be a threat or 

harmful to security, personal safety, employee welfare, and the District’s interests or 

operations may also be prohibited.  This non-exclusive list of prohibited conduct may 

subject an employee to disciplinary action up to and including termination of 

employment. 

Personal Conduct   

1. Discourteous treatment of the public, District Board Members, Management, 

Supervisors or fellow employees.   

2. Threatening or doing bodily harm to others.   

3. Using inappropriate language on District radios.    

4. Conducting personal business on District time.     

5. Asking for gifts or gratuities from District constituents or any contractor, vendor 

or supplier or other person doing business with the District.   

6. Accepting gifts or gratuities valued at more than $10.00 

7. Provoking a verbal or physical fight or fighting during working hours or on District 

property.   

8. Participating in horseplay or practical jokes on District time or on District 

property.   

9. Engaging in criminal conduct whether or not related to job.   

64



7          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

10. Causing, creating or participating in a disruption of any kind during working hours 

on District property.   

11. Using abusive language at any time on District premises.  

12. Allowing personal affairs to interfere with District business or job responsibilities.  

13. Engaging in political activity during working hours or in the course of performing 

job. 

Job Responsibilities  

1. Failing to notify a supervisor when unable to report to work.  

2. Unreported or unauthorized absence from work.  

3. Insubordination, including failing or refusing to carry out instructions of 

supervisor, manager, or General Manager or their designee.  

4. Failing to observe work schedules (tardiness or leaving job early).    

5. Sleeping or malingering on the job.   

6. Failure of supervisor to take disciplinary action, or report misconduct of 

subordinates.   

7. Abandoning work site or assigned task.   

Safety   

1. Failing to report unsafe equipment, conditions or practices. 

2. Failing to report accidents, near misses or injuries.   

3. Endangering self or others by violating a safety rule or by performing unsafe acts.  

4. Failing to use appropriate personal protective equipment.  

5. Failing to follow job safety rules and procedures.   

Drugs and Alcohol  

1. Possessing, distributing, selling, or purchasing alcohol, intoxicants, drugs and 

other controlled substances (including cannabis) while on the job.    

2. Using or being impaired by / under the influence of alcohol, intoxicants, or 

controlled substances (including cannabis) while on the job.  

65



8          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

3. Driving a District vehicle while impaired by / under the influence of alcohol, 

intoxicants, drugs,  or controlled substance (including cannabis).   

Driving District Vehicles   

1. Having driver’s license expire, suspended, or revoked, if job requires driving on 

District business.  

2. Failing to report loss of driving privileges.   

3. Failing to obey traffic laws.   

4. Failing to report moving and non-moving violations. 

District Property   

1. Stealing District property or the personal property of others.  

2. Deliberately or carelessly damaging District property or the property of others.    

3. Removing District property from premises without prior authorization.   

4. Using District vehicles, equipment, time, materials, or facilities for personal use 

without prior authorization.   

Records and Record Keeping   

1. Falsifying employment records, employment information, or other District 

records. 

2. Recording work time of another employee or allowing any other employee to 

record one’s work time, except for authorized personnel.   

3. Inaccurately recording one’s time records.   

4. Failing to maintain required District logs and records.   

5. Willfully or negligently omitting or concealing facts from official records.  

6. Falsifying of financial records (travel, expenses or payroll). 

Other Misconduct   

1. Misappropriating District funds.   

2. Disclosing confidential information.   

3. Gambling on District time or property.   

66



9          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

4. Engaging in or condoning unlawful harassment, discrimination, bullying, abusive 

conduct, or retaliation of others. 

4.2 General Prohibitions 

A. Discrimination Prohibited.  The District prohibits unlawful discrimination because of race, 

religious creed (including religious dress and grooming practices), color, sex/gender 

(including pregnancy, childbirth, breastfeeding or related medical conditions), sex 

stereotype, gender identity/gender expression/transgender (including whether or not 

you are transitioning or have transitioned), sexual orientation, national origin (including 

language use restrictions and possession of a driver's license issued to persons unable to 

prove their presence in the United States is authorized, ancestry, physical disability, 

mental disability, medical condition, genetic information/characteristics, marital status, 

registered domestic partner status, age (40 or over),  military or veteran status, 

reproductive health decision-making, or any other basis protected by federal, state or 

local law or ordinance or regulation. All such discrimination is unlawful. 

B. Employment of Relatives.  The District may not hire relatives where actual or potential 

problems may arise regarding supervision, security, safety, or morale, or where potential 

conflicts of interest exist.  Relatives include spouses, domestic partners, children, siblings, 

parents, step-relatives, and in-laws of those enumerated by marriage or domestic 

partnership.  If two employees marry, register as domestic partners, or become related, 

causing actual or potential problems regarding supervision, safety, security, or morale, or 

where conflict of interest may exist, only one of the employees will be retained unless 

reasonable accommodations can be made to eliminate the actual or potential problems 

or conflict. Notwithstanding any provision in these Policies, any reasonable 

accommodation including transfer that results in a salary reduction is not disciplinary and 

is not subject to any grievance or appeal.  The affected employees will be given 30 days 

to decide which relative stays with the District.  If a decision is not made within 30 days, 

the General Manager or designee will make the decision based on the employment 

history and job performance of both employees.  Notwithstanding any provision in these 

Policies, any such separation is not considered to be disciplinary and is not subject to any 

grievance or appeal. 

C. Retaliation Prohibited. The District prohibits retaliation against any employee for 

engaging in protected activity in good faith. Protected activity includes filing a complaint, 

participating or cooperating in an investigation, or testifying in a proceeding regarding 

discriminatory conduct, regulatory violations, illegal activity, or unsafe working conditions 

or industrial injury. 

4.3 Improper Political Activity 

A. The District Prohibits: 

67



10          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

1. Employees and elected officials from engaging in political activities during work 

hours; 

2. Political campaigning in District buildings or on premises adjacent to District 

building; and 

3. An employee or elected official from using his/her office to coerce or intimidate 

public employees to promote, propose, or contribute to any political cause or 

candidate. 

B. Political Activity Prohibited. Coercion of or by employees or use of positions for political 

purposes is prohibited.  

C. Examples of Prohibited Political Activity: 

1. Participate in political activities of any kind while in uniform or in District vehicle; 

2. Participate in political activities during working hours; 

3. Participate in political activities on District worksites; 

4. Place or distribute political communication on District property; 

5. Use District equipment to make political communications; 

6. Solicit a political contribution from an elected official or employee of the District, 

or from a person on a District employment list, with knowledge that the person 

from whom the contribution is solicited is a District employee; 

7. Favor or discriminate against any employee because of political opinions or 

affiliations; 

8. Interfere with any election; or 

9. Attempt to trade job benefits for votes. 

D. Examples of Permitted Political Activity: 

1. Express opinions on all political subjects or candidates; 

2. Become a candidate for any local, state or national election; 

3. Contribute to political campaigns; 

4. Join and participate in the activities of political organizations; 

5. Request, during off-time duty, political contributions through the mail or other 

means from an elected official or employee of the District, if the solicitation is 

68



11          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

part of a solicitation made to a significant segment of the public which may 

include District employees; 

6. Solicit or received, during off-duty time, political contributions from a District 

employee organization if the funds, when collected, were not earmarked for a 

clearly identifiable candidate for a federal, state or local office; or 

7. Solicit or receive, during off-duty time, political funds or contributions to promote 

the passage or defeat of a ballot measure which would affect the rate of pay, 

hours of work, retirement, civil service, or other working condition of District 

employees. 

4.4 Maintenance of Confidential and/or Privileged Information 

Information used and/or accessed in the course of employment, if privileged by virtue of the 

employee’s position and/or confidential, will not be discussed outside the work environment. 

4.5 Outside Employment 

A. General.  While employed by the District, employees are expected not to engage in 

outside work or activity that is incompatible with the best interest of the District, or which 

interferes with the employee’s work schedule, duties, or work performance.  Employees 

who wish to engage in outside employment must obtain approval from the General 

Manager or designee. Outside employment must be reviewed and approved annually. 

B. Process. An employee must request from the General Manager or designee approval for 

outside employment and complete an annual “Authorization for Outside Employment” 

form available from Human Resources. The form must be completed and submitted to 

the employees’ supervisor for approval on an annual basis. Approval is required by the 

General Manager or designee prior to engaging in any outside employment.  

C. Revocation. Approval may be rescinded at any time if, in the judgment of the General 

Manager or designee, the outside employment is inconsistent with, incompatible with, in 

conflict with, or harmful or unfavorable to the employee’s duties as a District employee. 

4.6 Alcohol and Drug Free Workplace 

A. The use or impairment by alcohol, marijuana, drugs, and/or controlled substances 

constitutes a potential danger to the welfare and safety of other employees and exposes 

the District to the risks of property damage, or injury to other persons.  Use of these 

substances can adversely affect an employee’s job performance efficiency, safety, and 

health. In addition, the use or possession of these substances on the job constitutes a 

potential danger to the welfare and safety of other employees and exposes the District 

to the risks of property loss or damage, or worse, injury to other persons. 

B. In order to ensure safe and productive work practices free from the influence of impairing 

drugs and alcohol, the District requires that an employee: 

69



12          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

1. Not report to scheduled work or be on call while the employee’s ability to 

perform their job duties is impaired due to on- or off-duty alcohol, intoxicants, 

drugs, or other controlled substances (including cannabis), and to advise the 

supervisor if the employee is impaired and unable to work when an employee is 

called to report to unscheduled work when not on call; 

2. Not possess, distribute, sell, or purchase alcohol, intoxicants, drugs, and other 

controlled substances (including cannabis) at any time while on the ,  District 

property, driving a District vehicle, or while on duty for the District at any location; 

3. Not directly or through third parties manufacture, sell, distribute, dispense, or 

provide controlled substances to any person, including any employee, at any 

time; or manufacture, sell, distribute, dispense, or provide alcohol to any 

employee while either or both are on duty; 

4. Notify their supervisor, before beginning work, when taking any medications or 

drugs, prescription or nonprescription, which may interfere with the safe and 

effective performance of duties or operation of District equipment; 

5. Notify the General Manager or designee of any criminal drug conviction for a 

violation occurring in the workplace no later than five days after conviction; 

6. Notify the supervisor immediately of facts or reasonable suspicions when the 

employee observes behavior or other evidence that a fellow employee poses a 

risk to the health and safety of the employee or others; and 

7. Consent to drug or alcohol testing and searches pursuant to Section 4.6. 

C. Employees who violate the above policy, who are convicted on criminal drug statute 

violations occurring at the workplace, or who fail to give the notice required above, are 

subject to discipline, up to and including termination. 

D. District supervisor and management employees must: 

1.  Notify the state or federal granting agency which has funded the work or 

program, if any, of any criminal drug statute convictions for a violation that 

occurred at a site where work is/was being done with a specific grant or contract; 

2.  Record factors supporting “reasonable suspicion” as defined above and consult 

with other management staff in order to determine whether there is reasonable 

suspicion to test an employee as described by this policy; 

3.  Take appropriate disciplinary action up to and including termination for any 

criminal drug statute conviction that has a nexus to the employee’s employment, 

70



13          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

or require that the convicted employee participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse 

assistance or rehabilitation program as a condition for returning to duty; 

4.  Take appropriate disciplinary action for any violation of this policy consistent with 

existing discipline procedures; 

5.  Enforce this policy; 

6.  Report any suspected violation of this policy to the General Manager; and 

7.  Any manager or supervisor who knowingly permits a violation of this policy by 

any employee shall be subject to disciplinary action. 

E. The General Manager, with Board approval, may make an exception to the District’s no 

alcohol on District property policy or at a District-sponsored event (such as Holiday Party). 

F. Searches.  In order to promote a safe, productive and efficient workplace, the District has 
the right to search and inspect, without employee consent, all District property, including 
but not limited to lockers, storage areas, furniture, District vehicles, and other places 
under the common control of the District,  or joint control of the District and employees. 
No employee has any expectation of privacy in any District building, property, or vehicle, 
nor during the use of District’s technology systems and software programs. 

G. Reasonable suspicion testing. The District may require a blood test, urinalysis, or other 

drug and/or alcohol screening of those persons reasonably  suspected of using or being 

under the influence of a drug or alcohol at work. Testing must be approved by the General 

Manager or designee. Department Managers may approve testing if there is an 

immediate incident or concern and the General Manager or designee is unavailable.  

“Reasonable suspicion” is based on objective factors, such as behavior, speech, body 

odor, appearance, or other evidence of recent drug or alcohol use which would lead a 

reasonable person to believe that the employee is under the influence of drugs or alcohol 

at work.  In order to receive authority to test, the supervisor must record the factors that 

support reasonable suspicion and discuss the matter with the General Manager or 

designee, or respective Department Manager if the General Manager or designee is 

unavailable.  If there is a reasonable suspicion of drug or alcohol abuse at work, the 

employee will be relieved from duty and placed on paid leave until the test results are 

received.  When possible, the supervisor shall have another supervisor/manager observe 

as a witness. 

H. Post-Accident Testing. The District may require alcohol or drug screening following any 

work-related accident or any violation of safety precautions or standards, whether or not 

an injury resulted from the accident or violation, provided that the “reasonable suspicion” 

factors described above are present. 

71



14          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

I. Drug testing will be in accordance with Government Code section 12954, which prohibits 

discrimination against a person in hiring, termination, or any term or condition of 

employment, if the discrimination is based on: 

 1. The person’s use of cannabis off the job and away from the workplace.  

 2. An employer-required drug screening test that finds nonpsychoactive cannabis 

metabolites in their hair, blood, urine, or other bodily fluids. 

 District applicants and employees can, however, be penalized based on a scientifically 

valid preemployment drug screening conducted through methods that do not screen for 

nonpsychoactive cannabis metabolites. 

 Government Code section 12954 does not permit an employee to possess, to be impaired 

by, or to use, cannabis on the job, nor does it affect the rights or obligations of an 

employer to maintain a drug- and alcohol-free workplace pursuant to Health and Safety 

Code Section 11362.45, or any other rights or obligations of an employer specified by 

federal law or regulation 

 Government Code section 12954 does not apply to an employee in the building and 

construction trades. Government Code section 12954 does not apply to applicants or 

employees hired for positions that require a federal government background 

investigation or security clearance in accordance with regulations issued by the U.S. 

Department of Defense (pursuant to 32 CFR Part 117 or equivalent regulations applicable 

to other agencies).  

4.7 Use of District Facilities or Property 

No District property will be used by an employee without express authorization of the General 

Manager or designee which is not necessitated by the employee’s position. 

Any employee who uses or is assigned a vehicle, materials, tools or equipment is responsible for 

accounting for and securing the property, safe and proper use, and for reporting any damages, 

loss, or need for routine maintenance.  

Without prior Management approval vehicles, materials, tools and equipment will not be loaned 

to employees for their personal use.   

4.8 Smoke Free Workplace 

The District is a smoke-free environment. The use of smoke-tobacco products, including but not 

limited to cigarettes, e-cigarettes, vaping, cigars, and pipes are prohibited at all District facilities 

and on all District property, including vehicles, parking lots and other outdoor areas. Employees 

who smoke tobacco products in violation of this provision may be subject to disciplinary action 

up to and including termination. 

72



15          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

Smoking is prohibited inside any District building or other enclosed area. For the purpose of this 

policy, "enclosed area" means an area closed in by a roof and walls with appropriate openings for 

ingress and egress; this also includes District vehicles. For purpose of this policy, “smoking” shall 

mean the inhaling, exhaling, burning, or carrying any lighted cigar, cigarette, or pipe, or any other 

lighted tobacco or plant product intended for inhalation, whether natural or synthetic, in any 

manner or in any form. “Smoking” also includes the use of an electronic smoking device (e-

cigarettes) that creates an aerosol or vapor. 

Employees who smoke are urged to be particularly considerate of fellow employees who are 

sensitive to or object to cigarette smoke.  Smoking should be confined to areas where others are 

not exposed to the smoke.  Smoking within twenty feet of main entrances, exits, and operable 

windows of any District building, owned or leased, is also prohibited. 

Employees are also not allowed to smoke during work hours and may only do so on designated 

meal and rest breaks subject to the parameters above. 

4.9 Gift Policy 

No employee may receive a gift to influence, or that may have the appearance of influencing, a 

business relationship.  

The District requires that any gift that is received by an employee be reported and given to the 

General Manager or designee. 

Receipt of gifts of cash is not permissible regardless of amount.  

4.10 Dress Code 

Employees of the District are required to dress appropriately for the jobs they are performing.  

Therefore, failure to follow the dress regulations contained in this section shall be grounds for 

discipline. 

A. All clothing must be neat, clean, in good repair, and appropriate to the work setting.  

B. Prescribed uniforms and safety equipment must be worn when required. 

C. Footwear must be appropriate for the work environment and functions being performed. 

D. Depending on work assignment’s safety requirements, hair must be tied back when 

working around plant, lab or hazardous equipment in compliance with safety standards. 

E. Depending on the work assignment’s safety requirements,  facial hair may be permitted; 

however, facial hair must be groomed.  The remainder of the face must be clean shaven 

so as to meet safety standards, including respirator equipment, as required by the 

position.  

F. Good personal hygiene is required. 

73



16          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

G. Dress must be appropriate to the work setting, particularly if the employee deals with the 

public. 

4.11 Tattoo Policy 

Employees of the District are expected to project a professional appearance while at work.  

Therefore, failure to follow the tattoo regulations contained in this section shall be grounds for 

discipline. 

A. Tattoos on the head, face, and/or neck must be covered with makeup, clothing or a 

bandage while at work or removed. 

B. Any visible tattoos cannot be obscene, sexually explicit, discriminatory as to sex, sexual 

orientation, race, religion, or national origin, extremist, and/or gang related. 

C. Any non-conforming tattoos must be covered with clothing or a bandage while at work 

or removed. 

D. If an employee has a question about how the tattoo policy applies to them, the matter 

should be immediately raised with their supervisor for consideration and determination. 

4.12 Piercing and Jewelry Policy 

Conductive materials and equipment that are in contact with any part of an employee’s body will 

be removed prior to performing live electrical work to prevent them from contacting exposed 

energized conductors or circuit parts. This would include piercings, jewelry, and watches which 

shall be removed prior to performing electrical work.   

No. 5 Equal Employment Opportunity  
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Personnel Policy and Procedure defines the District’s policy and procedure for Equal 

Employment Opportunity in employment. 

5.1 Equal Employment Opportunity 

A. The District is an equal opportunity employer and makes employment decisions on the 

basis of merit.  The District’s policy prohibits discrimination, harassment, bullying, abusive 

conduct, and retaliation against employees, officers, officials, contractors, interns, 

volunteers, participants in apprenticeship programs or applicants for employment based 

on race, religious creed (including religious dress and grooming practices), color, 

sex/gender (including pregnancy, childbirth, breastfeeding or related medical conditions), 

sex stereotype, gender identity/gender expression/transgender (including whether or not 

you are transitioning or have transitioned), sexual orientation, national origin (including 

language use restrictions and possession of a driver's license issued to persons unable to 

prove their presence in the United States is authorized, ancestry, physical disability, 

mental disability, medical condition, genetic information/characteristics, marital status, 

registered domestic partner status, age (40 or over),  military or veteran status, 

74



17          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

reproductive health decision-making, or any other basis protected by federal, state or 

local law or ordinance or regulation. All such discrimination is unlawful. 

 The District will afford equal employment opportunity to all qualified employees and 

applicants as to all terms and conditions of employment, including compensation, hiring, 

training, promotion, transfer, discipline, and termination. 

B. The District is committed to complying with all applicable laws providing equal 

employment opportunities.  This commitment applies to all persons involved in the 

operation of the District and prohibits unlawful discrimination, harassment, bullying, 

abusive conduct, and retaliation by any employee, applicant, officer, official, interns, 

volunteers, participants in apprenticeship programs or contractor of the District, including 

supervisors and co-workers. 

C. Employees, applicants, officers, officials, interns, volunteers, participants in 

apprenticeship programs or contractors who believe they have experienced any form of 

employment discrimination are encouraged to report this immediately, using the 

complaint procedure provided in Section 5.3 of these PPPs. 

5.2 Policy Against Harassment, Discrimination, Retaliation, Bullying, and Abusive Conduct 

A. The purpose of Policy Against Harassment, Discrimination, Retaliation, Bullying and 

Abusive Conduct (“Policy”) is to establish a strong commitment to prohibit and prevent 

harassment, discrimination, bullying, abusive conduct, and retaliation by and against the 

District's employees, officers, officials, interns, volunteers, and elected officials; to define 

those terms; and to set forth a procedure for investigating and resolving internal 

complaints of harassment, discrimination, bullying, abusive conduct, and retaliation. The 

District encourages all covered individuals to report—as soon as possible—any conduct 

that is believed to violate this Policy. Acts of harassment, discrimination, bullying, abusive 

conduct, and retaliation by anyone affiliated with the District, including its elected 

officials, are strictly prohibited and are subject to sanctions and disciplinary measures, up 

to and including termination. Nothing in this policy is intended to create a legal or 

employment right or duty that is not created by law.  

B. The District  is committed to preventing harassment, discrimination, bullying, abusive 
conduct, and retaliation in the workplace.   

The District has zero tolerance for any conduct that violates this Policy. Conduct need not 
arise to the level of a violation of state or federal law to violate this Policy. A single act by 
a District employee may constitute a violation of  this Policy and provide sufficient 
grounds for the District to discipline the District employee.  

  
This Policy establishes a complaint procedure by which the District will investigate and 
resolve complaints of harassment, discrimination, bullying, abusive conduct, and 
retaliation by and against protected classifications. 

 

75



18          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

The District expressly prohibits any retaliation against an employee because they filed or 
supported a complaint or because they participated in the investigation or complaint 
resolution process. Individuals found to have retaliated against an employee in violation 
of this Policy will be subject to appropriate sanctions or disciplinary actions, up to and 
including termination. 
 

 All such harassment, discrimination, bullying, abusive conduct, and retaliation is unlawful.  

This policy also prohibits retaliation for engaging in protected activity as recognized by 

state and federal law.   

This policy applies to all terms and conditions of employment, including, but not limited 

to hiring, placement, promotion, disciplinary action, layoff, recall, transfer, leave of 

absence, compensation, and training. 

Disciplinary action or other appropriate sanction up to and including termination will be 

instituted for prohibited behavior as defined below. 

C. Definitions. 

1.  Protected Classification: This Policy prohibits harassment, discrimination, bullying, 

abusive conduct, or retaliation because of an individual's protected classification. 

"Protected Classification" includes race, religion or religious creed, color, sex 

(including gender, gender identity, gender expression, transgender identity, 

pregnancy, and breastfeeding), reproductive health decision making, sexual 

orientation (including heterosexuality, homosexuality, and bisexuality), national 

origin, ancestry, marital status, age (40 or over), medical condition, genetic 

characteristics or information, military and veteran status, physical or mental 

disability, or any other basis protected by law.  

This policy prohibits discrimination, harassment, bullying, abusive conduct, or 

retaliation for the following reasons: (1) an individual’s protected classification; (2) 

the perception that an individual has a protected classification; or (3) the individual 

associates with a person who has or is perceived to have a protected classification.  

2.  Protected Activity: This Policy prohibits harassment, discrimination, bullying, 

abusive conduct, and retaliation because of an individual’s protected activity.  

Protected activity includes, but is not be limited to, the following activities: (1) 

making a request for an accommodation for a disability; (2) making a request for an 

accommodation for religious beliefs; (3) making a complaint under this Policy; (4) 

opposing violations of this Policy; or (5) participating in an investigation under this 

Policy.   

3. Policy Coverage: This Policy covers the following individuals: applicants for 

employment at the District; District employees regardless of rank or title; elected 

76



19          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

or appointed officials of the District; interns; volunteers; and contractors (“covered 

individuals”).  

This Policy applies to all terms and conditions of employment, internships, and 

volunteer opportunities, including, but not limited to, selection, hiring, placement, 

promotion, disciplinary action, layoff, recall, transfer, leave of absence, 

compensation, and training.  

4.  Harassment: This Policy prohibits harassment of a covered individual because of the 

individual’s actual or perceived protected classification. Note that harassment is 

not limited to conduct that the District's employees take. Under certain 

circumstances, harassment can also include conduct taken by those who are not 

employees, such as elected officials, persons providing services under contract, or 

even members of the public.  Harassment may include, but is not limited to, the 

following types of behavior:  

a. Speech, such as epithets, derogatory, offensive or inappropriate comments, 
slurs, or stereotypical comments, or verbal propositions made on the basis of a 
protected classification. This includes, but is not limited to, comments, stories, 
and jokes about appearance, dress, physical features, gender identification, 
and race.  

 

Physical acts, such as assault, impeding or blocking movement, offensive touching, 
or any physical interference with normal work or movement. This includes, but is 
not limited to, pinching, grabbing, patting, propositioning, leering, or making 
explicit or implied job threats or promises in return for submission to physical acts.  

 

b. Visual acts, such as derogatory, offensive or inappropriate, posters, cartoons, 
emails, text messages, electronic memes, social media postings, written 
material, graphics, pictures, or drawings related to a protected classification.  

 

c. Unwanted sexual advances, requests for sexual favors and other acts of a 
sexual nature, where submission is made a term or condition of 
employment, where submission to or rejection of the conduct is used as the 
basis for employment decisions, or where the conduct is intended to or actually 
does unreasonably interfere with an individual's work performance or create 
an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment.  

 
d. Conduct that another individual who is a member of the protected classification 

would find unwelcome or unwanted. Harassment may include the following: 

e. Conduct which would be unwelcome or unwanted to an individual of the 

recipient's same protected classification and which is taken because of the 

recipient's protected classification. 

77



20          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

f.  Conduct to which the recipient appears to have consented. The District does 

not recognize as a defense that the recipient appeared to have "consented" 

to the conduct at issue by failing to protest about the conduct. A recipient 

may not protest offensive or inappropriate conduct for many legitimate 

reasons, including the need to avoid being perceived as insubordinate or to 

avoid being ostracized or subjected to retaliation. 

g.  Conduct about which no employee has previously complained. Simply 

because no one has complained about a joke, gesture, picture, physical 

contact, or comment or substantially similar conduct does not mean that the 

conduct is welcome, inoffensive, or appropriate. The fact that no one 

previously complained does not preclude anyone from complaining if the 

conduct is repeated. 

h.  Conduct witnessed by a third party or about which a third party learns, even 

if they did not witness the conduct. Visual, verbal or physical conduct 

between two people who do not find such conduct offensive or inappropriate 

can constitute harassment of a third party witnesses such conduct or learns 

about the conduct later and finds the conduct to be offensive or 

inappropriate. Conduct can constitute harassment even if it is not explicitly 

or specifically directed at a particular individual. 

i. Conduct can constitute harassment in violation of this Policy even if the 

individual engaging in the conduct has no intention to harass. Even well-

intentioned conduct can violate this Policy if the conduct is directed at, or 

implicates a protected classification, and if the individual or an individual of 

the recipient's same protected classification would find it inappropriate or 

offensive (e.g., gifts, over attention, endearing nicknames, hugs). 

7. Retaliation: Retaliation occurs when an employer takes adverse action against a 

covered individual because of the individual’s protected activity as defined in this 

Policy. 

“Adverse action” may include, but is not limited to, the following actions: (1) an 

employment action; (2) counseling; (3) taking sides because an individual has 

reported harassment or discrimination; (4) spreading rumors about a 

complainant or about someone who supports or assists the complainant or who 

participates in the investigation; (5) shunning or avoiding an individual who 

reports harassment or discrimination; or (6) making real or implied threats of 

intimidation to prevent or deter an individual from reporting harassment or 

discrimination.  

Retaliatory harassment is prohibited by this Policy. Retaliation can be action that 

is work-related, or one that has no tangible effect on employment, or even an 

78



21          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

action that takes place exclusively outside of work, as long as it may well dissuade 

a reasonable person from engaging in protected activity. An employee may bring 

a claim under FEHA for complaining of or opposing conduct that the employee 

reasonably believes to be discriminatory. 

 8.  Bullying/Abusive Conduct: 

This Policy prohibits bullying and abusive conduct. Bullying and abusive conduct 

is a form of discourteous treatment toward coworkers and can take many forms. 

Some examples include, but are not limited to the following:  

▪ Repeated unwanted conduct, comments, actions, or gestures that affect 

an employee’s dignity, psychological or physical health, and well-being.   

▪ Insulting, hurtful, hostile, vindictive, cruel, or malicious behavior that 

undermines, disrupts, or negatively affects another’s ability to do their 

job and results in a harmful work environment for the employee(s).  

▪ Swearing or shouting; repeated derogatory remarks, insults, or epithets; 

exclusion, ignoring, or socially isolating another; belittling; humiliation; 

any form of physical threat or physical intimidation; demeaning 

comments about a person’s appearance; the use of patronizing titles or 

nicknames; persistent, unwelcome teasing; gratuitous sabotaging or 

undermining a person’s work performance;  

▪ Spreading lies, malicious rumors or gossip; disrespecting reasonable, 

personal boundaries; sharing inappropriate personal information with 

unauthorized individuals;  

▪ Calling out, confronting or scolding an employee in front of others; 

▪ Setting someone up to fail; blaming others for one’s own errors;  

▪ Insulting another’s habits, attitudes, or private life. 

▪ Harassment that is not based on / does not implicate a protected 

classification.  

Prohibited bullying/abusive conduct may result from the actions of one 

individual or of a group. 

Not all conflict at work is considered bullying/abusive conduct.  Generally, 

bullying or abusive conduct requires a pattern of intentional, unwanted, and 

repeated behavior done with the intention to cause harm, demean, embarrass, 

or intimidate another person.  Examples of conduct that may not constitute 

bullying or abusive conduct include: giving work direction to employees; 

providing feedback on performance; a single instance of a raised voice; not 

granting a scheduling request, etc.  

D. Complaint Procedure. 

1. A covered individual who believes they have been subjected to harassment, 
discrimination, bullying, abusive conduct, or retaliation may make a complaint 

79



22          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

to any supervisor, manager, District Counsel, or the General Manager without 
regard to any chain of command. Any supervisory or management employee 
who receives a harassment, discrimination, bullying, abusive conduct, or 
retaliation complaint should immediately notify the General Manager. Upon 
receiving notification of a complaint regarding discrimination, harassment, 
bullying, abusive conduct, or retaliation, the General Manager or their designee 
will complete and/or delegate the following steps:  

 
2. Within 24 hours of submitting the complaint to the General Manager, the General 

Manager shall inform, in a means designed to retain confidentiality, the District 
Counsel.   

 
3. Authorize and supervise the investigation of the complaint and/or investigate the 

complaint. The investigation will usually include interviews with the following 
individuals: 1) the complainant; 2) the accused (i.e., the subject of the 
investigation); 3) witnesses to the conduct at issue in the complaint; and 4) other 
persons who have relevant knowledge concerning the allegations in the 
complaint. Those informed of the investigation shall conduct themselves in a 
manner that will not compromise the integrity of the investigation, including, but 
not limited to, refraining from actions that may intimidate potential witnesses.   

 

4. The complainant and the accused have the right to be accompanied by 
an advocate(s) when discussing alleged incidents. Said persons shall be 
advised of this right prior to the commencement of such discussions.  

 
5. Review the factual information gathered during the investigation to 

determine whether the alleged conduct violated the Policy giving 
consideration to all factual information, the totality of the 
circumstances, including the nature of the conduct, and the context in 
which the alleged incidents occurred.  

 
6. Prepare a summary report of the determination as to whether the 

conduct violated this Policy and, if necessary, provide such report to the 
appointing authority (i.e., District Counsel or General Manager). If 
discipline or sanctions are imposed, the level of discipline or sanctions 
will not be communicated to the complainant.  

 
7. If conduct in violation of this Policy occurred, take or recommend to the 

appointing authority prompt and effective remedial action. The remedial action 
will be commensurate with the severity of the offense.  

 
8. Take reasonable steps to protect the complainant from further harassment, 

discrimination, bullying, abusive conduct, or retaliation.  
 

9. If the General Manager or District Counsel is the accused, or is a witness to the 
events at issue, an individual with higher authority will complete and/or delegate 
the steps enumerated above.  

 

80



23          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

10. The District takes a proactive approach to potential violations of this Policy and 
will conduct an investigation if its supervisory or management employees become 
aware that harassment, discrimination, bullying, abusive conduct, or retaliation 
occurred or may be occurring, regardless of whether the recipient or third party 
reports a potential violation.  

 

11. Upon conclusion of the investigation of alleged harassment, discrimination, 
bullying, abusive conduct, or retaliation, appropriate action shall be taken against 
the appropriate party where a violation of this Policy is found, including legal 
actions where appropriate.  

 
12. Appropriate action shall be taken to remedy the victim's loss, if any, resulting 

from the harassment, discrimination, bullying, abusive conduct, or retaliation.  
 

13. Action taken to remedy a harassment, discrimination, bullying, abusive conduct, 
or retaliation situation shall be done in a manner so as to prevent further 
violations.  

 
14. Elected officials and employees complaining of harassment, discrimination, 

bullying, or abusive conduct shall be protected thereafter from any form of 
reprisal and/or retaliation. Any adverse conduct taken because an applicant, 
employee, elected official or contractor has reported harassment, 
discrimination, bullying, or abusive conduct or has participated in the complaint 
and investigation process described herein, is prohibited. This Policy protects 
those who make good faith reports of harassment, discrimination, bullying, or 
abusive conduct and those who associate with an individual who is involved in 
reporting harassment, discrimination, bullying, or abusive conduct or who 
participates in the complaint or investigation process, from retaliation.  

 
15. The District will make every effort to assure the confidentiality of complaints 

made under this Policy to the greatest extent allowed by law. However, complete 
confidentiality may not be possible because of the District’s need to investigate 
the complaint and provide the subject of the complaint their due process rights, 
which include providing the subject of the investigation a copy of the complaint 
after the initial investigatory interview, if requested.  

 
16. The District expressly prohibits an employee who is interviewed during the course 

of an investigation from attempting to influence other employees, including 
employees who may have witnessed the underlying conduct at issue, while the 
investigation is open and ongoing.  

 
17. An employee may discuss their interview with a designated representative from 

the employee’s employee organization and/or the employee’s legal 
representative. The District will not disclose a completed investigation report 
except as it deems necessary to support a disciplinary action, to take remedial 
action, to defend itself in adversarial proceedings, or to comply with the law or 
court order. 

. 

81



24          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

5.3 Responsibilities 

Managers and Supervisors are responsible for: 

1.  Informing employees of this Policy. 

2.  Modeling appropriate behavior. 

3.  Taking all steps necessary to prevent harassment, discrimination, bullying, 

abusive conduct, or retaliation from occurring. 

4.  Receiving complaints in a fair and serious manner, and documenting steps taken 

to resolve complaints. 

5.  Monitoring the work environment and taking immediate appropriate action to 

stop potential violations, such as removing inappropriate pictures or correcting 

inappropriate language. 

6.  Following up with those who have complained to ensure that the behavior has 

stopped and that there are no reprisals. 

7.  Informing those who complain of harassment or discrimination of their option to 

contact the EEOC or CRD regarding alleged Policy violations. 

8.  Assisting, advising, or consulting with employees and the General Manager or 

designee regarding this Policy and Complaint Procedure. 

9.  Assisting in the investigation of complaints involving employee(s) in their 

departments and, if the complaint is substantiated, recommending appropriate 

corrective or disciplinary action in accordance with employer Personnel Rules, up 

to and including discharge. 

10.  Implementing appropriate disciplinary and remedial actions. 

11.  Reporting potential violations of this Policy of which they become aware, 

regardless of whether a complaint has been submitted, to the General Manager 

or designee, or the manager. 

12.  Participating in mandated periodic training and scheduling employees for 

training. 

Each employee, interns, volunteers, participants in apprenticeship programs or 

contractor is responsible for: 

1.  Treating all employees and contractors with respect and consideration. 

2.  Modeling appropriate behavior. 

82



25          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

3.  Participating in periodic training. 

4.  Fully cooperating with the employer’s investigations by responding fully and 

truthfully to all questions posed during the investigation. 

5.  Maintaining the confidentiality of any investigation that the employer conducts 

by not disclosing the substance of any investigatory interview, except as directed 

by the manager or General Manager. 

6.  Reporting any act they believe in good faith constitutes harassment, 

discrimination, bullying, abusive conduct, or retaliation as defined in this Policy, 

to their immediate supervisor, or manager, or General Manager or designee. 

No. 6 Use of District Property and Equipment 
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Personnel Policy and Procedure represents the policy and procedure for the use of District 

property including electronic media, telephones, telecommunication devices, and vehicles by 

District employees. 

6.1 Scope 

A. This policy applies to all District employees who use any District property, electronic 

media, and telecommunication devices provided by the District. District property is to be 

used only for conducting District business unless otherwise authorized.  District property 

includes, but is not limited to: telephones, cell phones, desks, computers (including 

hardware and software), file cabinets, lockers, communications stored or transmitted on 

District property (such as email and voicemails, text messages), vehicles and any other 

District property used by District employees in the course of their work.  Employees 

should not have an expectation of privacy in District property or equipment.  

B. District property may be monitored and searched at any time and for any reason.  

Messages sent or received on District equipment including cell phones may be saved and 

retrieved by others.  As a result, District employees should not have an expectation of 

privacy in the messages sent or received on District property or equipment. 

C. Every District employee is required to adhere to all District rules and policies while on 

District property or using District property or equipment.  

D. District property shall not be defaced including but not limited to graffiti, unauthorized 

writing or drawing on property, or placement of unauthorized or inappropriate stickers 

on property. 

6.2 General Policy on the Use of Electronic Media 

A. General. This section defines general policy on the use of electronic media.  Electronic 

media is defined as computers, computer peripherals, electronic connections, computer 

83



26          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

software, laptops, voice mail, electronic mail (email), Internet access, , Intranet access, 

on-line information services, electronic facsimile (fax) files, instant messaging, and any 

other electronic type of equipment that the District deems as electronic media.  This also 

applies to usage of telephones and cell phones provided by the District.   

B. Business Purposes. Electronic media, as outlined in the scope above, are provided for the 

use of District employees for business-related purposes and as such do not offer privacy 

protections that one might expect from a personal system. 

C. Limited Personal Use, as Authorized. Reasonable and limited personal use is allowed at 

the sole discretion of the District. Such use will be brief, to the point, and conducted 

during breaks or lunch, or as otherwise specifically authorized by the General Manager or 

his/her designee.   

D. Personal use of the District electronic media, such as but not limited to cell phones, is 

subject to IRS regulations.   

E. Right to Search and Monitor. Approved District personnel, as well as computer support 

personnel, as authorized by the General Manager, reserve the right to enter, search and 

monitor the computer files, voice mail, email, encrypted files, or any type of electronic 

file of any employee without advance notice. Justification for such actions may include 

monitoring work flow or productivity, and investigating theft, disclosure of confidential 

business or proprietary information, or personal abuse of the system.  The existence of 

passwords and “message delete” functions does not restrict or eliminate the District’s 

ability or right to access electronic communications. 

F. Facsimiles. Electronic files of facsimiles (fax’s) sent, received, and/or stored using the 

District equipment should be considered District property and may be subject to search 

for such reasons as stated above.  

G. Computers, Computer Software, Laptops and Computer Files. District computers, 

software and files stored on the computer or network will be considered as District 

property. Therefore, these devices may be subject to search for reasons stated above. In 

addition, all software that resides on any of the District’s computers will be licensed and 

may be considered the property of the District. 

H. Software Installations. No employee will install software on any of the District’s 

computers without first receiving permission from authorized management personnel; 

the General Manager. 

I. No Hardware Tampering. No employee shall alter or tamper with any District computer 

or interfere with its operation. All hardware failures will be immediately reported to 

General Manager or designee.  

84



27          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

J. Records Retention Policy. Electronic media which are considered “District records” will be 

subject to District’s records retention policies as adopted by the Board, including the same 

legal retention periods as paper documents. District records include: 1) permanent 

electronic computer files, and 2) telecommunications (e.g., email, instant messaging, and 

voice mail) which have been downloaded/converted into permanent electronic files, or 

have been printed to hard copies and stored as permanent files for the purposes of 

records retention.  

K. Public Records Act. Under the California Public Records Act, any electronic media message 

(e.g., email or voice mail) or permanent computer file which has been generated on 

District equipment and system may constitute a “public record”, and may be provided to 

the public through the California Public Records Act, or may be otherwise discoverable. 

Thus, employees must always assume that email, instant messaging, voice mail, and 

permanent computer files are subject to disclosure unless a specific legal basis for non-

disclosure exists. 

L. General Allowable Uses of Electronic Media. Allowable uses of electronic media for 

District business purposes include the: 

1. To facilitate performance of job functions. 

2. To facilitate communication of information within the District. 

3. To coordinate meeting of individuals, locations and resources of the District. 

4. To communicate with outside organizations as required in order to perform an 

employee’s job function.  

M. General Prohibited Uses of Electronic Media. Prohibited uses of electronic media include, 

but are not limited to the following: 

1. Illegal or impermissible activities as defined as a violation of District policies, 

regulations, and state and/or federal law. 

2. Committing fraud or stealing data, or equipment. 

3. Using the network for an illegal activity, including violation of copyright, license 

agreements, and other contracts, e.g. downloading music. 

4. Anything that may be construed as harassment or disparagement of others based 

on race, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, age, disability, religious or 

political beliefs, or any other protected status will not be tolerated. These include, 

but are not limited to, slurs, obscene messages, materials, and pictures. 

5. Threatening messages. 

85



28          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

6. Political endorsements. 

7. Commercial activities including areas of financial gain. 

8. Intentionally disrupting network traffic or crashing the network and connected 

systems (for example: sabotage, intentionally introducing a computer virus). 

9. Unauthorized access to others’ files with no substantial business purpose, or 

vandalizing the data of another user. 

N. Network Security and Integrity. District employees must also abide by policies and 

procedures established for the purposes of maintaining security and integrity of the 

District’s network system and supporting infrastructure. 

O. Violation of Policy. Violation of this policy will be reviewed on a case-by- case basis and 

may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 

6.3 Email, Instant Messaging, Text Messaging and Voice Mail 

A. Right to Review and Monitor. The District reserves the right to access all voice mail, 

instant messaging, text messaging and email left on or transmitted via District’s 

communication systems. Since email, instant messaging, text messaging and voice mail 

messages are District property and intended for District business, employees should not 

have an expectation of privacy in any email, text message or voice mail message in 

District’s communication systems. Management shall have the right to review any e mail, 

instant message, text message, or voice mail messages of any employee at any time and 

for any reason.  

B. Purpose of Email, Instant Messaging, Text Messaging and Voice Mail. The purpose of 

email, instant messaging, and text messaging and voice mail is to provide a work-related 

communication channel between individuals and groups, and to promote effective and 

efficient use of time and resources in order to carry out the business of the District. 

Employees are expected to utilize the District’s communications systems with the same 

degree of respect, professionalism, and courtesy as is expected of personal face-to-face 

interactions. As with telephone calls, cell phone use, personal emailing, instant 

messaging, text messaging and voice mail should be: a) confined to those absolutely 

necessary; b) kept to a minimum; c) brief and to the point; d) to the extent practical, 

performed on breaks or lunch time. 

C. Uses of Email, Instant Messaging, Text Messaging and Voice Mail. Listed below are 

examples (non-exhaustive list) of appropriate and inappropriate email, and where 

applicable, instant messaging, text messaging and voice mail use. 

1. Examples of Appropriate Use 

86



29          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

a. Providing or requesting information regarding District business (e.g., 

meeting notification, budget issues, etc.). 

b. Transmitting a document or file (vs. printing and mailing the document). 

c. General announcements within the scope of the sender’s job 

responsibilities. 

d. Informational announcements that need to be communicated to 

employees. 

2. Examples of Inappropriate Use 

a. Illegal or impermissible activities as defined as a violation of District 

policy, state, and/or federal law. 

b. Anything that may be construed as harassment or disparagement of 

others based on race, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, age, 

disability or religious or political beliefs, or any other protected status will 

not be tolerated. These include, but are not limited to, slurs, obscene 

messages, materials, and pictures, or religious materials. 

c. Anything that may be construed as disruptive, threatening, offensive to 

others or harmful to morale. 

d. Copyright infringement. 

e. Items of political nature or having to do with political activities. 

f. Unauthorized distribution of personnel or medical information. 

g. Use of email when signed documents are required (Note: Use of email to 

distribute documents for signature is acceptable). 

h. Purposely creating any message that purports to be from another person 

without their permission. 

i. Unauthorized use of mailing lists. 

j. Unauthorized access to others’ files with no substantial business purpose, 

or vandalizing the data of another user. 

k. Personal messages such as chain letters, broadly distributed emails 

regarding personal matters or interests. 

l. Violations. Violations will be investigated and may result in disciplinary 

action up to and including termination.  

6.4 Internet 

A. General Usage. The purpose of Internet services is to distribute information to public 

constituencies or to conduct research for District related activities.  

The duration of reasonable personal use will be established at the discretion of the 

General Manager or his/her designee and will only be conducted during breaks or lunch 

or as otherwise specifically authorized. 

87



30          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

B. Right to Review, Monitor, Report, and Restrict Internet Use. Since Internet access and use 

are intended for District business, Employees will have no right or expectation of privacy 

in any Internet activity using District equipment or networks. Management will have the 

right to review any Internet activity of any at any time and for any reason. Management 

may restrict Internet use by anyone at any time and for any reason. The District may 

restrict access to Internet sites whose content appears to have no purpose related to the 

business of District. 

C. Uses of the Internet. Except as otherwise noted herein, all Internet activities should be 

directly related to District business. Listed below are examples of appropriate and 

inappropriate Internet use. 

1. Examples of Appropriate Use. 

a. Obtaining information regarding District business, i.e., policy, legislation, 

public meetings, technical research, etc. 

b. Transmitting or receiving a file or document (in conjunction with email). 

c. Providing information regarding District business to the public, i.e., 

meeting agendas, key points of contact, forms, etc. 

2. Examples of Inappropriate Use. 

a. File downloads not connected with District business. 

b. Generating, sending, requesting, receiving or archiving material in any 

form, i.e., text, graphics, etc. which contain offensive language or is 

harassing in nature. 

c. Activities resulting in personal gain, i.e., items for sale or purchase, or 

other personal business. 

d. Illegal activities. 

e. Copyright infringement. 

f. Creating acts of fraud, waste or abuse through Internet activities. 

g. Intentionally disrupting network traffic or crashing the network and 

connected systems (for example: sabotage, intentionally introducing a 

computer virus). 

h. Other acts of misconduct such as willful misconduct, discrimination, 

sexual harassment and misuse of position. 

i. Use of continuous services such as live streaming, live audio, live radio, 

and live video feeds unless needed for official District business. 

3. Violations. Violations will be investigated and may result in disciplinary action up 

to and including termination. 

6.5 Telecommunication Devices 

A. Definitions 

88



31          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

1. Existing wire line phones. Includes all District desk top phones. 

2. Cellular Telephone. A wireless telephone. 

3. Other electronic devices. PDAs, palms and pocket PCs, smart phones and tablet 

computers. 

B. General Policy on the Use of District Telecommunication Devices 

1. All District telecommunication devices, regardless of the type (cellular 

telephones, existing wire line phones, etc.) are provided as a tool to conduct 

District-related business.  All employees shall use such devices in a responsible 

manner.  All employees assigned communications equipment shall assume the 

responsibility to use the equipment in accordance with the provisions of this 

policy. 

2. Toll calls outside the local service area for reasons other than official use, or "900" 

Calls, or collect calls other than that provided by the District are prohibited unless 

absolutely necessary for purposes of contacting vendor company help lines. 

3. Employees are prohibited from installing any third-party equipment to District 

phones (e.g. caller ID devices) unless pre-approved. 

C. Use of District Cellular Phones and Other Electronic Devices 

1. District electronic devices are issued on an as-needed basis with the approval of 

the General Manager. 

2. Electronic devices are provided by the District to employees in order to perform 

their official duties.  Excessive personal use of District electronic devices during 

non-break, work hours is prohibited and may result in disciplinary action.  

Excessive personal use of District electronic devices is subject to reimbursement 

by the employee. 

3. An employee assigned a District electronic device is responsible for good care and 

maintenance of the assigned cell phone and will be required to reimburse the 

District’s cost for any damage, or lost telephone due to negligence, as determined 

by the General Manager. 

  

4. Employees shall refrain from recording, by any means, the conversation with 

staff, contractors, or members of the public with the exception of Board meetings 

which are recorded to assist with the preparation of minutes .  

89



32          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

5. If a cellular telephone is damaged, fails to work properly, or is stolen or lost, the 

employee shall notify the General Manager or his/her designee. 

D. Use of Cellular Phone While Operating a Vehicle 

If, in the course of District official business, an employee needs to make a call, receive a 

call, or text message while they are driving, the employee must pull over to the side of 

the road in a safe manner to complete the call or text message.  This includes answering 

a call, dialing a number, text messaging and talking on the phone.  Cell phone use is 

allowed in vehicles provided hands free technology is in use in accordance with state law. 

Use of a handheld cell phone while driving, in the course of conducting District official 

business, is prohibited. 

E. Personal Use of Desktop Telephones 

Personal calls must be restricted to those incidental purposes.  Employees are authorized 

to make reasonable, but limited, use of District phones for necessary personal calls that 

meet the following criteria: 

1. Calls are restricted to breaks and lunch periods unless previously approved by 

your supervisor. 

2. It is of reasonable duration and frequency. 

3. It reasonably could not have been made at another time. 

Examples of circumstances that may be authorized use during regular work hours are: 

1. Calls to home (family emergency) or doctor. 

2. Calls to notify an employee's family or other appropriate parties to inform them 

of a schedule change or delays. 

3. Daily, brief calls to speak to a spouse, minor children, dependent parents, or those 

responsible for their care.  

4. Brief calls that can only be reached during working hours such as a local 

government agency, a physician's office, home or a garage for emergency repairs. 

F. Use of Personal Cell Phones 

1. Use of personal cell phones is prohibited during working hours, other than breaks 

and lunch periods, unless approved by the General Manager. 

2. When there is a need for cell phone use for personal reasons during work hours 

which has previously been approved, (e.g., during a family emergency) cell 

90



33          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

phones must be in silent or vibrating mode and must not be disruptive to co-

workers.  

3. Employees shall refrain from using the camera function on personal cellular 

phones in the workplace unless approved by the General Manager or supervisor. 

4. The District is not responsible for any damage to personal cell phones. 

6.6 Lockers 

A. General 

Lockers are made available for the convenience of employees while at work.  Lockers are 

the sole property of the District and the District reserves the right to open and inspect 

lockers, as well as any contents, effects or articles that are in the lockers.  Such an 

inspection can occur at any time, with or without advance notice or consent.    The District 

is not responsible for any articles that are placed or left in lockers that are lost, damaged, 

stolen, or destroyed. 

B. Use of Lockers 

Lockers must be kept in good working order and undamaged by the employee's use.   

The District’s Anti-Harassment Policy prohibits the displaying of inappropriate materials, 

including but not limited to, such as stickers, nicknames, pictures, or drawings.  The 

exterior and interior of locker are to be free of all markings except as approved by the 

General Manager or designee. 

No. 7 Grievance Procedure 
Please see Memorandum of Understanding between the Operating Engineers Local 3 and Las 

Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. 

No. 8 Whistleblower Retaliation 
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Policy and Procedure defines the District Policy against whistleblower retaliation. 

8.1 Retaliation for Filing Complaints, Claims 

Participating in a whistleblower complaint process is protected from retaliation under all 

circumstances.  Engaging in a complaint process, however, does not shield an employee from all 

discipline or discharge. The District retains the right to discipline or terminate workers if 

motivated by non-retaliatory and non-discriminatory reasons that would otherwise result in such 

consequences.  

Disciplinary action, up to and including termination, will be taken against an employee or officer 

who is found to have violated this policy.  Any elected official or contractor who violates this Policy 

Against Retaliation will be subject to appropriate sanctions. 

91



34          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

8.2 Policy Coverage 

The policy prohibits District officials, officers, employees, or contractors from retaliating against 

applicants, officers, officials, employees, or contractors because of any of the protected activity 

as defined herein.  

8.3 Definitions 

A. “Protected activity” 

1.  Making or filing an internal complaint with the District regarding alleged violations of 

District policy, local, State or Federal law. 

2. Providing informal notice to the District regarding alleged violations of District policy, 

local, State or Federal law. 

3. Participating in investigations and/or in court/administrative hearings regarding 

alleged violations of District policy, local, State or Federal law. 

4. Filing a complaint with a Federal or State enforcement or administrative agency 

No employee of the District shall directly or indirectly use or attempt to use the authority 

or influence of such employee for the purpose of intimidating, threatening, coercing, 

directing or influencing any person with the intent of interfering with that person’s duty 

to disclose alleged violations of District policy or local, State or Federal law. 

B. “Adverse action” may include, but is not limited to, any of the following: 

1. Real or implied threats of intimidation to attempt or prevent an individual from 

reporting alleged wrongdoing or because of protected activity 

2. Refusing to hire an individual because of protected activity 

3. Denying promotion to an individual because of protected activity 

4. Taking any form of disciplinary action because of protected activity 

5. Extending a probationary period because of protected activity 

6. Altering work schedules or work assignments because of protected activity 

7. Condoning hostility and criticism of co-workers and third parties because of 

protected activity. 

C. “Complaint Procedure”  The process by which an applicant, employee, officer, official, or 

contractor who feels they have been retaliated against in violation of a policy.  Complaint 

procedures  are defined under respective policies; 5.2 Policy Against Harassment and 9.0 

Whistleblower Procedures. 

92



35          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

No. 9 Whistleblower Procedure 

APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Policy and Procedure Manual provides for employees to disclose, without reprisal, facts 

which may be deemed to constitute gross mismanagement, significant waste of funds, abuse of 

authority, and/or substantial and specific danger to public health or safety. 

Anyone who believes they have been subjected to retaliation should immediately report it to the 
General Manager or designee. The District will investigate and take appropriate remedial action. 
 
The confidentiality of the whistleblower will be maintained whenever possible. No District 
employee may interfere with the good faith reporting of suspected or actual wrongful conduct. 
An individual who makes such a good faith report shall not be subject to retaliation, including 
harassment or any adverse employment, as a result of making a report. All reported claims of 
retaliation will be reviewed and investigated, and appropriate corrective action will be taken. The 
right of a whistleblower for protection against retaliation does not include immunity for any 
personal wrongdoing that is alleged and investigated. In addition, an employee who intentionally 
files a false report of wrongdoing, or knowingly makes an untrue statement of fact in the 
investigation of a complaint, may be subject to discipline up to and including termination. 
 
Anyone found in violation of this policy will be disciplined, up to and including termination.  
 

9.1 Written Statements and Complaint Procedures 

Any District employee or applicant for employment will be entitled to file with the General 

Manager, under penalty of perjury, a written statement disclosing facts which may be deemed to 

constitute gross mismanagement or significant waste of funds, an abuse of authority, and/or a 

substantial and specific danger to public health or safety. The complaint must include the 

following information: 

▪ The name of the employee or applicant. 

▪ Class title (if applicable). 

▪ Department (if applicable). 

▪ Mailing address of complainant. 

▪ A clear statement of the complaint. 

▪ The date upon which the event occurred giving rise to the complaint. 

▪ The date of filing of the complaint. 

▪ The signature of the complainant. 

9.2 General Manager Review 

The General Manager or his/her designee will investigate the complaint, confer with the 

complainant in an attempt to solve the problem, and make a decision in writing. These steps will 

be completed within fourteen calendar days after receipt of the complaint.  

93



36          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

9.3 Appeal 

If the complainant is dissatisfied with the response of the General Manager, an appeal may be 

filed with the Board of Directors within seven calendar days of the date of the response by the 

General Manager. The Board of Directors will conduct a hearing on the complaint, and its decision 

will be final. 

9.4 Complaints about the General Manager 

If an employee or applicant is complaining about the General Manager, the complaint should be 

directed to District Counsel. 

No. 10 Workplace Security, Safety, and Violence in the Workplace 
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Personnel Policy and Procedure communicates the District’s commitment to providing a safe 

and secure workplace for employees and the public.  The District will not tolerate acts or threats 

of violence in the workplace.  The workplace includes any location where District business is 

conducted, including vehicles and parking lots.  Any violation of this policy may lead to criminal 

prosecution, and/or disciplinary action, up to and including termination. See Workplace Violence 

Prevention Policy (WVPP), which went into effect July 1, 2024, and remains in in effect at all times 

and in all work areas and be specific to the hazards and corrective measures for each work area 

and operation.  

10.1 General Safety 

A. It is the intent of the District to provide for the safety and security of its employees at all 

work locations.   

B. It is the policy of District to comply with all applicable federal, state and local health and 

safety regulations and to provide a work environment as free as feasible from recognized 

hazards.  Employees are expected to comply with all safety and health requirements 

established by management and federal, state and local law. 

C. To minimize liability, employees must become familiar with and adhere to the District’s 

security rules. 

D. Plant gates must be locked shut at all times with the following exceptions: the bridge and 

front gates can be left open during working hours and the perimeter road access gates 

shall remain open from 4 a.m. to 10 p.m. at all times. 

E. During assigned hours, operations and maintenance personnel who are not within reach 

of a plant phone or radio, must keep a cellphone within reach at all times. 

10.2 Violence in the Workplace  

The District has a “Zero Tolerance” policy for violent acts or threats of violence in the workplace.  

Any employee who is subjected to or threatened with violence, or is aware of another individual 

who has been subjected to or threatened with violence, is to report this information as soon as 

94



37          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

possible to their immediate supervisor, manager, or General Manager as required and outlines in 

the WVPP. All complaints will be treated with as much confidentiality as possible. 

A. Prohibited Behavior  

1. Employees are prohibited from engaging in or promoting acts of intimidation, 

violence, threats, coercion, assault and/or abusive behavior toward any person 

while in the course of District employment. The District has zero tolerance for any 

conduct that references workplace violence, even if it was intended to be 

harmless, humorous, a prank, blowing off steam, or venting. 

2. Employees engaged in District business are prohibited from carrying weapons in 

violation of any law or this policy  

B. Definitions 

1. “Workplace Violence” is any conduct that causes an individual to reasonably fear 

for their personal safety or the safety of their family, friends, and/or property.  

Specific examples of workplace violence include, but are not limited to, the 

following: 

a. Threats or acts of physical harm directed toward an individual or his/her 

family, friends, associates, or property. 

b. The destruction of or threat of destruction of District property or another 

employee’s property. 

c. Harassing or threatening phone call, emails, text messages or other 
digital or electronic communications using different means of 
communication to express anger or irritation in a form that can be 
considered threatening or bullying (Ex: letters, emails, phone 
calls/voicemails, text messages, blogs or social media sites). 

d. Surveillance. 

e. Stalking. 

f. Possession of offensive or defensive weapons (firearms, illegal knives, 

clubs, mace, pepper spray, tear gas, etc.,) on District property  

2. “Weapons” are defined as firearms, chemical sprays, clubs or batons, and knives, 

and any other device, tool, chemical agent or implement that can cause bodily 

harm if used as a weapon or displayed in such a manner to cause harm or threaten 

a person with harm.  A facsimile or replica of a weapon may be treated in the 

same manner as a weapon. 

C. Incident Reporting Procedure 

95



38          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

1. Employees must immediately report workplace violence to their supervisor or 

department manager.  The supervisor or manager will report the matter to the 

General Manager or his/her designee. 

2. The General Manager or his/her designee will document the incident, including 

the employee names(s), date/time, location, incident description, witness names 

and statements, description of unidentified parties, description of the act(s) 

and/or behavior arising from the incident, action taken, and provide any other 

relevant information regarding the incident. 

3. The employee’s immediate supervisor or department manager will take 

appropriate steps to provide security, such as: 

a. Placing the employee alleged to have engaged in workplace violence on 

administrative leave, pending investigation; 

b. Asking any threatening or potentially violent person to leave the site; or 

c. Immediately contacting an appropriate law enforcement agency. 

The General Manager, or his/her designee, and Human Resources shall be 

notified of action taken in a timely manner.   

D. Investigation 

The General Manager or his/her designee will see that reported violations of this policy 

are investigated as necessary. 

E. Follow Up and Disciplinary Procedures 

An employee found in violation of this policy will be subject to disciplinary action, up to 

and including termination of employment.  The District may also direct that an employee 

submit to a fitness for duty examination.  In addition, employees found in violation of this 

policy may be subject to criminal prosecution. 

No. 11 Social Media  
A. Introduction 

Social media is a set of Internet tools that aid in the facilitation of interaction between 

people online. If you have specific questions about what may be deemed to be social 

media, consult with the General Manager or his/her designee. The District recognizes that 

occasional personal use of social media using District resources may occur during working 

hours. The District allows such occasional personal use as provided the usage does not 

interfere with the employee's work performance, take away from work time, consume 

supplies, slow other users, slow the servers or computer systems, or tie up printers or 

other shared resources, or violate any District policy, including policies against 

96



39          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

harassment, discrimination, and disclosure of confidential or trade secret information. All 

policies relating to monitoring usage of District property apply. The District reserves the 

right to adjust this policy on a case-by-case basis as it deems appropriate. 

B. Understand Your Rights and Responsibilities in Using Social Media Technology 

Employees can use their own personal devices to engage in social media during breaks 

and meal periods; however, all other District policies against inappropriate usage, 

including the District's no tolerance for discrimination, harassment, bullying, abusive 

conduct, or retaliation in the workplace, and protection of confidential information, 

apply. 

Nothing in the District's social media policy is designed to interfere with, restrain or 

prevent employee communications regarding wages, hours or other terms and conditions 

of employment. 

D. Media contacts  

The General Manager or designee and/or Board shall handle all contacts with the media. 

Unless otherwise instructed, employees shall channel any media requests through the 

General Manager or his/her designee for approval before granting interviews or 

disseminating information regarding the District. 

  

97



40          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

SECTION 3 

RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION 

No. 12 Recruitment and Application Process 
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Personnel Policy and Procedure defines the recruitment and application process associated 

with the hiring and promotion of all regular, non-temporary, and non-casual employees.  

12.1 General 

Recruitment processes seek out and secure qualified individuals to apply for positions at all levels 

on the basis of merit, ability, appropriate education, competence, experience, and employment 

references. 

12.2 Recruitment Initiated 

Upon approval, recruitments will be conducted  to provide qualified candidates. With the 

exception of emergency appointments, appointments assigned outside of a standard recruitment 

process require the approval of the District Board.  The General Manager shall be kept informed 

during all recruitment processes. 

12.3 Existing Reemployment List 

A. The Administrative Services Manager will verify the vacant, budgeted position or 

anticipated vacancy, and determine whether a current “reemployment list” exists for the 

vacancy.  

B. If a current reemployment list exists for the classification it is issued to the appointing 

authority or designee. 

12.4 Recruitment Planning 

A. The Administrative Services Manager will review the duties and requirements of the 

position and plan the recruitment, examination, and selection processes and 

components. Underutilization of protected classes, affirmative action goals, and 

recruitment strategies are considered at this time as required by federal law. 

B. The Administrative Services Manager will review the class specification for the position to 

determine the need for updating, and update as necessary. 

12.5 Promotional Recruitments 

When appropriate, as determined by the General Manager, promotional examination processes 

may be coordinated by the Administrative Services Manager. Competition will be limited to 

regular District employees who have successfully completed their initial probationary period. 

Employees must possess the minimum qualifications for the class in which promotion is sought.  

98



41          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

12.6 Announcement of Recruitments 

A. When a position becomes vacant, and a current reemployment list does not exist, the 

Administrative Services Manager, or designee will post notice of such vacancy so it is 

readily accessible to District employees, employee organizations, and the public where 

applicable. 

B. Recruitments shall remain open for a minimum of seven calendar days for promotional 

recruitments, and fourteen calendar days for open recruitments. 

C. Insofar as reasonable, open recruitments will be conducted to obtain the most qualified 

pool of candidates.  

12.7 Entry Level Recruiting 

When a journey-level position vacates, the position may be filled by an entry-level recruitment. 

The recruitment level will be determined by the General Manager or designee.   

12.8 Applications for Employment or Promotion 

Unless otherwise announced, all applications for employment or promotion must be made upon 

a standard District employment application form. Supplemental application questions may also 

be included. Each application must be signed by the applicant and certified that all statements 

contained therein are true and correct. All applications, resumes, and documents pertinent to an 

application for employment or promotion become the property of the District.  

12.9 Qualifications of Applicants 

In order to qualify for an examination and be appointed to a position an individual must: 

A. Meet all the minimum qualifications established for the position. ; . including but 

not limited to education, experience and license; and 

B. Prior to appointment meet the job related standards established by the District relative 

to the physical fitness requirements for the position. 

12.10 Background investigation 

Based on business necessity and job-related requirements, candidates for employment may be 

subject to appropriate investigation including but not limited to: 

A. Employment history investigation. 

B. Fingerprinting. 

C. Search of record of convictions after a conditional offer of employment has been made. 

D. Post offer physical test, including a drug and alcohol screen. 

E. Driving record. 

99



42          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

12.11 Disqualification of Applicants 

The District may refuse to accept an application, to examine an applicant, or otherwise consider 

any person for employment and remove their name from an eligible or certification list who: 

A. Is found to lack any of the announced minimum qualifications set forth in the bulletin 

announcing the examination, or the official class specification for the position. 

B. Has made false statements of material fact in the application for employment or who has, 

in any way, engaged in deception, fraud, or omission of facts in connection with the 

application and/or examination. 

C. Has improperly obtained knowledge of the content of an examination to which an 

applicant was not entitled. 

D. Has used or attempted to use political influence, persons or other methods in order to 

gain advantage in an examination, application or appointment. 

E. For any material cause which would render the applicant unsuitable for the position. The 

applicant will be notified of such reasons and may be given time to respond. 

No. 13  Examination Process 
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Personnel Policy and Procedure defines the rules of the examination process for vacant 

positions. 

13.1 General 

A. An examination, whenever feasible and economical in relation to the nature of the 

position, number of vacancies and time available.  

B. Examinations will be competitive, impartial, and practical in character and will fairly test 

the relative ability of the persons examined to perform the duties of the classification for 

which the examination is given. Only applicants who meet the minimum qualifications as 

established in the job announcement or class specification will be advanced to the 

examination process. 

C. The examination process may include but is not limited to one or more of the following: 

1. An appraisal of qualifications presented in the application materials.  

2. A written examination specifically related to the job functions of the classification 

for which the examination is being conducted. 

3. Field tests and/or performance tests specifically related to the job functions of 

the classification. 

100



43          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

4. Oral examination board or panel which conducts structured interviews (pre-

determined questions with job follow-up questions when necessary and asked of 

all applicants). 

5. Individual oral interviews of similarly pre-determined structured questions. 

13.2 Reasonable Accommodation  

The District will provide a reasonable accommodation for applicants with a physical or 

mental disability within the definition of the state or federal law, unless doing so would 

pose an undue hardship or direct threat to the health or safety of the individual or others. 

Requests for accommodation will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis. In any 

examination, the Administrative Services Manager may include, in addition to 

competitive tests, a qualifying test or tests, and set minimum standards. 

 

No. 14 Selection and Offer of Employment 
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Personnel Policy and Procedure defines the rules for selection, interviewing, and offers of 

employment. 

14.1 Selection Interviews 

Before an applicant is hired, the applicant shall be personally interviewed. No job offer will be 

made to any candidate until interviews, applicable performance examinations, and pre-screening 

procedures are completed to the satisfaction of the District. 

The interview will consist of job-related questions which provide candidates with an equal 

opportunity to describe and/or demonstrate their qualifications.  

14.2 Offer of Employment 

The General Manager or his/her designee is authorized to make an offer of employment or 

promotion. All offers of employment will be made on a conditional basis subject to satisfactory 

completion of  background investigation , pre-placement physical, and drug test. 

14.3 Background Investigations 

Background review will be conducted after a conditional offer of employment or, in some cases, 

promotion. 

The District has the right to obtain a credit report consistent with federal and state law as required 

based on the position’s classification job duties. 

14.4 Physical Examination 

Employee physical examination where relevant and/or mandated, including pre-employment 

drug screening, will be part of a conditional offer of employment or, in some cases, promotion. 

The District is responsible for scheduling all such physical examination and will bear the cost of 

101



44          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

the examination. . The purpose of the examination is to determine the candidate’s ability to 

perform the essential functions of the job for which the candidate applied.  

Prior to making an appointment of any employee and after an employee receives a conditional 

offer of employment, the District may require the potential appointee to pass a physical 

examination administered by the District's chosen physician. The physician's report shall be 

submitted to the District before the new employee begins their employment. 

At any time during an individual's employment with the District, if concerns arise about the 

employee's ability or fitness to perform their job, the District may require the employee to have 

a physical examination if it is job related and consistent with the District’s business needs. The 

District shall bear the cost of required examinations. 

If an employee is on a medical leave of absence, the District may require an employee to submit 

to a physical examination prior to returning to work. 

The District may require medical certification for any period of sick leave requested that exceeds  

five (5) days in a calendar year. 

14.5 Appointing Authority Responsibilities 

A. Prior to appointment or promotion, the General Manager or designee may review the 

personnel file of candidates who are past or current employees. 

B. The General Manager or their designee will confirm the offer in writing. The following 

should be included in the offer letter: 

1. Title of position. 

2. Salary/benefit package. 

3. Agreed-upon work location, supervisor, starting date and time. 

4. A statement that employment is contingent upon passing the background check, 

pre-employment physical examination, including drug test, and that resignation 

from current employment should not be finalized until this process is successfully 

completed. 

5. A statement that employment is contingent upon submission of evidence that 

they are legally entitled to work in the United States. 

6. A statement that the probationary period is part of the selection process. The 

statement will also indicate the length of probation to be served, and that regular 

status will be dependent upon the satisfactory completion of probation. 

102



45          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

7. Employees designated as Emergency Response employees are required to reside 

within a 45 minute automobile drive during non-commute hours of the treatment 

plant in order to respond to emergencies. 

C. Candidates not selected will also be so notified promptly in writing. 

No. 15 Appointment  
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Personnel Policy and Procedure defines the types of rules for appointment. 

15.1 Appointment 

Offers of appointments will be made in writing. The Administrative Services Manager or Human 

Resource designee will notify the candidate of their decision to appoint and reach a mutual 

agreement as to a starting date.  

15.2 Types of Appointment 

A. Regular Appointment. Appointment of a part- or full-time employee who has successfully 

competed for and passed the initial probationary period. 

B. Temporary Appointment. 

1. Appointment of an employee who is hired without participation in an 

examination process on a temporary basis not to exceed 6 months.  However, 

such assignments may be extended based on District business needs. Temporary 

appointment employees serve at will and may be removed at any time without 

cause and without right of appeal. 

2. Temporary appointment may be made with the consent of the General Manager 

or designee.  A temporary employee does not receive benefits except as required 

by law. 

3. Types of Temporary Appointment: 

a. Extra Hire Appointment. Temporary appointment into a District 

classification of an employee who meets the minimum qualifications for 

the classification. Extra hire employees serve at will and may be removed 

at any time without cause and without right of appeal. 

b. Special Appointment. Temporary appointment of an employee to 

perform work outside an existing classification or for which no 

classification exists. The individual must have a unique combination of 

expertise, background, and skills or is employed in an emergency. Special 

appointment employees serve at will and may be removed at any time 

without cause and without right of appeal. 

103



46          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

c. Emergency Appointment. Temporary appointment of an employee as 

necessary to prevent stoppage of public business, loss of life, or damage 

to persons or property, or when qualified personnel cannot be readily 

obtained due to emergency conditions. An employee appointed need not 

meet the minimum qualifications of the job. An employee appointed 

serves at will and may be removed at any time without cause and without 

right of appeal. 

d. Casual Employee.  Casual employees are employees who are hired to 

work less than 20 hours per week.  Casual employees may be assigned a 

work schedule in advance or may work on an as needed basis.  Casual 

employees are not eligible for benefits or employer contributions to 

insurance programs. 

The use of Casual Employees is not intended to replace full-time 

employees. 

C. At-Will Appointment of Employee. Any appointment outside of the bargaining unit 

represented by Operating Engineers Local 3.  

No. 16  Probation Period 
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Personnel Policy and Procedure defines probation period rules. 

16.1 Purpose 

The probationary period is the final phase of the examination process. It is a trial period during 

which an employee is required to demonstrate competency in the knowledge, skills, and abilities 

necessary to successfully perform the job and become a regular employee. Some positions may 

also require, as a condition of passing probation, possession of all required certificates and/or 

licenses. This period will be utilized for closely assessing the employee’s work to determine the 

employee’s fitness and/suitability for the job and regular hire status. 

16.2 Probationary Period 

The initial twelve months of actual and continuous employment by the District is considered a 

probationary period.  During this time, the employee will learn his/her responsibilities and 

determine whether the employee is satisfied with their job.  At the same time the employee’s 

supervisor will monitor and assess the employee’s performance and have the opportunity to 

determine whether the employee is performing satisfactorily  

16.3 Promotional Probation Period 

The probationary period for employees who are promoted shall be for six months of actual and 

continuous service.  An employee does not acquire regular status in the promotional position until 

the successful completion of the probationary period.  Promotion to higher flexible staff 

104



47          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

classification (such as movement from Collection System Operator II to Collection System 

Operator III) is exempt from this specified promotional probation period.  

16.4 Actual Service Required 

The probationary period will be a period of actual service beginning with the date of original 

appointment or promotion to a regular full-time or part-time position. 

A. The granting of any leave of absence, including military leave, will cause the employee’s 

probationary period to be extended by the length of the leave of absence. 

B. Time served in temporary employment (extra-hire, special appointment, or emergency 

employment will not be counted as part of the probationary period. 

C. Demotion - An employee who demotes to a class in which they have already passed 

probation will not be required to serve another probationary period. If the demotion is 

into another class in which they have not held regular status, they will serve the 

probationary period for that classification. 

16.5 Regular Appointment 

If the employee’s performance is found to be satisfactory and the District decides to continue 

employment, the employee will be given written notice of an employment status change to 

regular employee. 

16.6 Release During Probation 

A probationary employee is at-will and may be released from employment without cause and 

without right of appeal. Cause need not be provided.  The probationary employee will be advised 

in writing of their release from probation.   

16.7 Release From Probation Upon Promotion  

If a promoted employee is rejected during their promotional probationary period, the employee 

shall be returned to their former position. Release during probation is not subject to appeal and 

may be done without cause. 

No. 17  Reemployment 
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Personnel Policy and Procedure describes rules for reemployment following employee 

layoffs, demotions, or resignations. 

17.1 Reemployment Following Lay Off 

Eligibility for Reemployment Following Layoff. An employee who is laid off from the District, and 

whose performance evaluations demonstrate that they had at least satisfactory service during 

their tenure with the District shall be placed on a reemployment list for 18 months after their 

separation from service due to lay off.  Employees on the reemployment list who meet minimum 

105



48          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

qualifications for the position shall be offered employment with the District in order of their 

placement on the reemployment list. 

17.2 Reemployment Following Resignation 

Reemployment Within 60 Days of Resignation. A regular employee who resigns under positive 

circumstances will be eligible for reemployment within 60 days of resignation. Reemployment will 

be at the sole discretion of the General Manager or designee. Salary and seniority will be treated 

as if the employee had been on a leave of absence. 

17.3 Status, Salary, Benefits and Seniority Upon Reemployment 

A. Status. Regular employees who are reemployed in the same classification are not 

required to serve a probationary period. 

B. Salary. Regular employees who are reemployed in the same classification will be placed 

on the salary range and step last held. 

C. Benefits. Regular employees, who are reemployed following layoff, will have their unpaid 

sick leave balance at the time of layoff reinstated. No other leave will be reinstated but 

accrual of leave will be reinstated at the same level.  

D. Seniority Established. Regular employees who are laid off and are reemployed following 

layoff will receive a seniority date based on time served in the classification for which 

reemployed and any higher classification. Regular employees who are demoted in lieu of 

lay off will receive a seniority date based on time served in the classification for which 

reemployed and any higher classification. Regular employees, who are reemployed 61 

days or more following resignation, will have no seniority in the classification to which 

reemployed. 

17.4 Temporary Employment 

If an employee who was laid off or resigned in good standing accepts temporary employment, 

they do not forfeit reemployment rights.  

  

106



49          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

SECTION 4 

EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES 

No. 18 Position Classification System 
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Personnel Policy and Procedure defines rules for job classifications. 

18.1 Position Classification 

All positions will be allocated to a classification in accordance with duties, responsibilities, and 

standards of the job. A written description will be prepared for each classification, listing such 

elements as essential duties; knowledge, skill, and ability requirements to successfully perform 

the job; minimum amount of education and/or experience required; working conditions; and 

physical and mental ability requirements. The original classification specification, the 

establishment of new classifications of employment, or the major alteration or abolishment of 

existing classifications, will be recommended by the General Manager or designee and approved 

by the Board of Directors. 

18.2 Interpretation of Class Specifications/Descriptions 

Class specifications are not restrictive but will indicate the basis on which a position is allocated 

to its proper classification as determined by its functions, duties, and responsibilities.  

Descriptions will not be construed as a declaration that the duties and responsibilities will not be 

changed nor that the appointing authority may not temporarily assign other duties and 

responsibilities. 

18.3 Establishment of New Classifications 

The General Manager or designee may recommend adding classifications whenever they deem it 

necessary. The recommendation will be submitted in writing to the Board of Directors for 

approval. 

Final decision and ratification of classification changes, position funding, and reorganizations rests 

with the Board of Directors. 

No. 19  Compensation 
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Personnel Policy and Procedure describes compensation policies for District employees. 

19.1 Salary on Initial Hire 

A probationary, regular, temporary, or casual employee will be placed on the first step of the 

salary range of the classification into which the employee is hired. An employee may be appointed 

107



50          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

above the first step with the approval of the General Manager or designee based on background 

and experience. 

19.2 Salary on Promotion 

When an employee is moved from one class to a class with a higher maximum salary (promotion), 

the employee shall be appointed at the minimum step of the salary range in the new class or 

receive a minimum of five percent (5%) increase above the salary rate the employee was 

receiving, whichever is higher; provided, however, that the salary rate received does not exceed 

the maximum rate for such higher class. 

19.3 Salary on Temporary Out of Classification Assignment 

If any position within the District classification ranges is vacant, excluding vacation leaves, for a 

period of more than two-weeks due to reasons, including but, not limited to, employee sickness 

or resignation, the General Manager may assign a District employee to assume the responsibilities 

of the position on a temporary basis. A District employee given a temporary assignment within a 

higher District classification will be granted a salary increase effective on the date of assignment 

by the General Manager. The employee's new salary will be an amount equivalent to the 

employee's current salary range step in the higher classification subject to a maximum of a two-

step or 10% increase. This salary increase remains in effect until the temporary assignment is 

completed as determined by the General Manager. 

19.4 Salary on Voluntary Demotion 

When an employee is moved from one class to a class with a lower maximum salary (demotion), 

the employee shall be placed at the rate of the salary range prescribed for such lower class that 

most nearly approximates the salary the employee was receiving; provided, however, that such 

salary does not exceed the maximum rate for such lower class. 

19.5 Merit Increase Steps 

The pay range for each position consists of five steps.  Advancement from one step to the next is 

based on performance, recommendation of an employee’s immediate supervisor, and the 

approval of the General Manager or designee.  A merit increase is earned and not automatic.  See 

Section 21.4 of these PPPs. 

A. First Step – The minimum pay rate and normally the rate at which a new employee is 

hired. 

B. Second Step – An employee is eligible for an increase to the second step after one year of 

continuous satisfactory performance. 

C. Third Step – An employee is eligible for a third step increase after one year of satisfactory 

performance at the second wage step. 

D. Fourth Step – An employee is eligible for a fourth step increase after one year of 

satisfactory performance at the third wage step. 

108



51          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

E. Fifth Step - An employee is eligible for a fifth step increase after one year of satisfactory 

performance at the fourth wage step. 

F. Sixth Step –A fully qualified and competent employee is eligible for an increase to this 

step after one year of satisfactory performance at the fifth step. The sixth step is 

maximum pay rate for a position.  . 

19.6 Payday 

Employees are paid biweekly.  Pay checks are issued by the district office on Friday for the two-

week payroll period which ends the preceding Sunday at 24:00 hours. 

19.7 Payroll Errors 

Any payroll error resulting in insufficient payment to an employee will be corrected and a 

supplemental check issued, not later than five (5) working days from the issuance of the first check 

or notice, whichever is later. If a payroll error is made resulting in overpayment to an employee, 

the District will collect the overpayment through payroll deduction on a schedule in compliance 

with individual agreements made with employees. Upon realization of underpayment or 

overpayment, the employee must immediately notify their supervisor and report the discrepancy 

to payroll. 

19.8 Overtime Compensation 

A.  Prior Approval Required. Overtime-eligible employees are not permitted to work 

overtime without their manager’s prior authorization or direction except when an 

employee is on standby or is responding to an emergency. Overtime-eligible employees 

directed to work overtime must do so. Working overtime without advance approval is 

grounds for discipline. 

B.  “Overtime” Defined. Unless otherwise stated in a memorandum of understanding, 

“overtime” is all hours worked and paid to an overtime-eligible employee over 8 hours in 

a workday or 40 in the employee’s work week. Overtime is compensated at 1.5 times the 

Fair Labor Standards Act regular rate of pay. The District includes all hours worked and 

paid time off in computing the 40-hour threshold for purposes of calculating FLSA 

overtime pay. 

C. Rounding. Employees are to round their time worked on their timesheets as follows:: 

1. Time is to be reported in quarters of an hour (15-minute increments.) 

2. For employees who work 1 to 7 minutes of each quarter of an hour, time should 

be rounded down to the nearest quarter of an hour. 

3. For employees who work 8 to 14 minutes of each quarter of an hour, time should 

be rounded up to the nearest quarter of an hour. 

109



52          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

19. 9 Compensatory Time Off 

A.  Supervisor Approval Required Before Work. A non-exempt employee may opt to accrue 

compensatory time-off (“CTO”) in lieu of cash payment for overtime worked if the 

employee’s supervisor agrees prior to overtime work being performed. 

B.  Accrual Rate. Please see Memorandum of Understanding between the District and 

Operating Engineers Local 3. 

C.  Employee Requests to Use CTO. The District will grant an employee’s request to use 

accumulated CTO provided that: (1) the District can accommodate the use of CTO on the 

day requested without undue disruption; and (2) the employee makes the request in 

writing to the supervisor no later than five days prior to the date requested. If the 

employee does not provide five days’ notice, or if the District cannot accommodate the 

time off, the District will provide the employee the opportunity to cash out the CTO 

requested at the end of the current pay period. 

D.  District Cash Out. The District reserves the right to cash out accumulated CTO at any time. 

E.  Employee Cash Out. During employment, CTO is cashed out at the employee’s current 

FLSA regular rate of pay (including all FLSA-applicable salary differentials).  

F. Employees separating from District service shall be compensated for all accrued, unused 

compensatory hours at either (1) the employee’s average regular rate of pay during the 

past three years of employment or (2) the employee’s regular rate of pay in effect at the 

time of separation, whichever is higher.  

19.10 Standby Policy 

The District requires certain classifications of employees  who are assigned Standby Duty 

premium pay as outlined in Section 3.6 of the Memorandum of Understanding with Operating 

Engineers Local 3. 

19.11 Payment Upon Separation 

An employee leaving District employment will receive all earned salary; all vacation accrued, and 

all earned and accrued overtime and compensatory time.  

19.12 Emergency Response Stipend 

The District is committed to protecting the environment and maintaining its record of meeting 

treatment plant NPDES permit requirements and low sewer rate and low sewer spill volume of 

releases.  Having trained Operations and Collections staff who can respond quickly is imperative 

to meeting these goals.   

In addition to the 2-hours of standby pay for being assigned stand-by duty and any overtime pay 

for responding to callouts, eligible employees shall receive a monthly stipend for having served 

on stand-by or for responding to a call-out within the prior four ( 4) bi-weekly pay periods. 

Eligibility for the stipend is on a month-to-month basis and not automatically continuous. 

110



53          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

No. 20 Benefits 

20.1 Medical/Dental/Vision/Retiree Medical 

Please see Memorandum of Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3 

or specific Employment Agreement for management and unpresented employees. 

20.2 Workers’ Compensation 

All employees are entitled to workers’ compensation benefits. This coverage is automatically 

applied and immediate and protects each employee from an illness or injury which both arises 

out of and occurs in the course and scope of District employment. If an employee cannot work 

due to a job related injury or illness, workers’ compensation insurance may pay medical bills and 

a portion of income until the employee can return to work. 

All injuries or illness arising out of and occurring in the course and scope of employment must be 

reported immediately to the employee’s supervisor. Failure to report an injury may jeopardize 

entitlement to workers compensation.  

To ensure that you receive any workers' compensation benefits to which you may be entitled, 
you should: 
 

• Immediately report any work-related injury to your supervisor (note: if 
your injury or illness developed over time, report it as soon as you learn 
or believe it was caused by your job); 

• Seek medical treatment and follow-up care if required; 

• Complete a written Employee's Claim for Workers' Compensation 
Benefits (DWC Form 1) and return it to District’s Human Resources; and 

• Provide the District with a certification from your health care provider 
regarding the need for workers' compensation disability leave, as well as 
a certification of your eventual ability to return to work from the leave. 

 

The District or its insurance carrier is not liable for the payment of workers’ compensation benefits 

for any injury which arises out of an employee’s voluntary participation in any off-duty 

recreational, social, or athletic activity which is not a part of the employee’s work-related duties.  

For the interaction of Workers’ Compensation and Sick Leave, see Section 22.1. 

20.3 Training  

The District encourages employees to participate in job-related training and education programs 

that improve job skills and benefits the District.  The District provides on-the-job training 

opportunities and supports attendance of outside training activities such as technical and 

professional seminars, conferences, and meetings.  

Employees will be reimbursed for customary and reasonable outside training expenses which 

generally include registration fees, materials, meals (as outlined in the District’s Travel Policy), 

111



54          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

transportation, mileage (the District will only compensate for miles traveled in excess of the 

employee’s daily commute) and parking. 

Reimbursement of expenses must be discussed and approved by employee’s Department 

Manager and the District General Manager in advance or an employee will not be eligible for 

reimbursement. The District’s Travel Policy outlines reimbursement and expense report 

procedures.  

Whenever an employee incurs out of pocket expenses for item(s) or service(s) appropriately 

related to District business as verified by valid receipts, said expenses shall be reimbursed by the 

District upon request. 

Employees who accrue overtime as a result of attending training sessions required by the District 

will receive overtime pay.  Estimated overtime must be approved in advance.  Overtime will not 

be paid for meetings, conferences, and training activities where attendance has not been 

approved. 

A. Commute Time: Travel time to and from work is commute time that is not compensable.  

However, if the employee is required to report to a work location that is different from 

the employee’s regular work location and the amount of time to travel to the new location 

is longer than the normal commute time, then the employee will be compensated for the 

difference in time between the employee’s normal commute and the new location.  In 

addition, if the District requires the employee to meet at a designated location and use 

the District’s transportation to and from the work site, then the travel time from the 

designated location to the work site is compensable. 

B: Travel During the Workday: Travel during the workday, after the employee has reported 

to work, is hours worked for the District unless it is in connection with a bona fide meal 

break.  However, travel from the employee’s last work location to home is not 

compensable.  Supervisors should not require employees who will be traveling during the 

work day to report to their normal work site at the start or the end of their shift unless it 

is truly necessary for the employee to report to such location. 

C: Overnight Travel or Special One-Day Assignment Out of Town: Except for time spent 

eating meals or engaging in personal pursuits (e.g. sleeping), time spent traveling to a 

location where the employee will be staying overnight is considered hours worked.    The 

hours worked includes time spent driving or as a passenger on an airplane, train, bus, taxi 

cab or car, or other mode of transportation, in traveling to and from the out-of-town 

location.  In addition, time spent waiting to purchase a ticket, check baggage, or get on 

board a mode of transportation is compensable. 

Policy on Compensating Attendance at Training Programs 

112



55          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

An employee is not required to be compensated for attendance at a training program if each of 

the following four requirements is met: 

A. Attendance is voluntary and the lack of attendance does not impact the employee’s 

employment; 

 1. The training program occurs outside of normal working hours; 

  2. The employee does not perform productive work; and 

3. The training is not directly related to the employee’s current job. 

B. Exception for Classes Offered at a School or College  

If an employee voluntarily enrolls in a class outside of work hours that is offered at a 

school, college or vocational institute, the training is not considered hours worked as long 

as the employee does not perform any productive work.  Additionally, the fact that the 

agency offers such a class to its employees outside of normal work hours, or pays for 

employees to attend such a class does not convert the time to work time. 

C. Exception for State-Mandated Certifications  

If state law requires that an employee obtain a certification for the employee’s job, and 

the employee voluntarily attends the necessary training to obtain such certification 

outside of normal work hours, the time spent at that training is not counted as hours 

worked. 

D. Coming Back to Work after Training Day 

All employees who attend training are required to return to their regular work location if, 

at the end of the training day, after traveling back to their regular work location, there 

would be at least one half hour left in their work day. 

20.4 COBRA 

Eligibility. All District employees receiving medical and vision insurance, covered spouses, covered 

domestic partners, and covered dependents are eligible for continued insurance benefits under 

the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (“COBRA”). 

Coverage. An eligible employee or dependent can continue coverage in their current medical and 

vision insurance plan at the time of a qualifying event. 

20.5 Benefits Upon Separation 

Insurance. Medical insurance is available under COBRA, as set forth in Section 20.4, above.  

A. Retirement. 

113



56          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

General Information. An employee should contact the California Public Employment 

Retirement System (PERS) to determine their retirement benefits and ask any associated 

questions.  PERS may be contacted at 1 (888) 225-7377.  

B. Payment of Leave Balances 

1. Vacation, Compensatory Time, and Administrative Leave.  Accrued vacation, 

compensatory time, and administrative leave are paid at separation. 

2. Sick Leave.  Upon retirement or resignation from the District, a regular full-time 

employee, who has worked at least three years with the District, will receive one-

half of his/her accrued sick leave as a lump sum payment.  

C. Payment of Leave Upon Death 

1. Vacation, Compensatory Time, and Administrative Leave.  Accrued vacation, 

compensatory time, and administrative leave are paid according to law upon 

death while the individual is employed by the District. 

2. Sick Leave. Upon death of an employee, while employed by the District, who has 

worked at least three years with the District, one-half of their accrued sick leave 

as a lump sum payment shall be paid. 

20.6 Temporary Employees 

Temporary employees, defined as extra hire, special appointment, and emergency employees, 

are not eligible for any benefit other than as required by state and federal law (e.g. worker’s 

compensation, etc.). 

No. 21 Performance Planning and Evaluation 
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Personnel Policy and Procedure describes the rules for conducting performance evaluation 

for District employees. 

21.1 Purpose of Performance Evaluation 

The purpose of employee performance evaluations will be to assist individual employees in 

achieving satisfactory work performance by discussing and establishing performance goals and 

work objectives and reviewing progress toward achieving them. 

21.2 Performance Planning 

At the beginning of the annual evaluation period, the supervisor and employee will discuss and 

establish the performance goals and work objectives based on the employee’s job description for 

the evaluation period. 

114



57          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

21.3 Written Evaluation 

Annually, evaluation of the work performance of employees will be recorded in a written 

performance evaluation. The purpose of the written employee performance evaluation includes: 

A. Serve as a record of the employee’s performance for the evaluation period, including 

achievement of goals and work objectives. 

B. Serve as documentation of performance deficiencies for those employees whose 

performance needs improvement or is unsatisfactory. 

If an employee’s performance needs improvement, a work plan for such improvement will be 

included with the written evaluation along with a date for a follow-up evaluation. 

21.4 Merit Increase 

Merit increases are not automatic.  An employee must have a  successful performance (meets 

standards or above) to be eligible to be considered to receive a merit increase. Performance 

evaluations for employees eligible for a merit increase are to include the supervisor’s 

recommendation regarding the increase.  See Section 19.5 of these PPPs. 

21.5 Timelines 

All Regular employees will be evaluated on an annual basis. 

21.6 Probationary Employee Assessment 

After 3 months, 6 months 9 months and 11 ½ months of service, the supervisor will review the 

employee’s performance and discuss the District’s and the employee’s job goals.  If the 

employee’s performance is found to be satisfactory and the District decides to continue 

employment, the employee will be given written notice of an employment status change to 

regular employee.  Your supervisor may recommend that the General Manager approve an 

extension of the probationary period (not to exceed an additional six months), or recommend 

that employment be discontinued. 

21.7 Process 

The supervisor(s) will provide a copy of the performance evaluation for the employee’s review 

prior to meeting to discuss the evaluation. The supervisor will review the evaluation during a 

private meeting with the employee.  Employees must sign the evaluation indicating their receipt 

within ten days of receipt of the performance evaluation.  The employee’s signature does not 

indicate agreement with the contents of the evaluation, but does acknowledge that the employee 

is aware of the contents of the evaluation.  A copy of the evaluation will be placed in the 

employee’s personnel file. 

21.8 Employee Response 

An employee does not have the right to appeal any matter relating to a performance evaluation. 

Instead, the employee may prepare and submit a written response commenting on the 

evaluation. The response must be submitted to the General Manager or designee within 10 

115



58          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

calendar days after the employee receives the evaluation. The response will be placed with the 

evaluation in the employee’s personnel file.  

No. 22 Leaves of Absence 
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Personnel Policy and Procedure presents rules for the various types of leaves of absence 

applicable to District employees. 

22.1 Sick Leave 

A.  Defined. Sick leave is leave from duty which may be granted by the District to an employee 

because of their own illness, injury, or exposure to contagious disease.   

As provided under California’s Paid Sick Leave Law and Labor Code section 233 (“Kin 

Care”), the first one-half of an employee’s annual accrual of sick leave in a calendar year 

also includes leave from duty for the diagnosis, care or treatment of an existing health 

condition of, or preventative care for, an employee or an employee’s immediate family, 

or for purposes related to being a victim of stalking, sexual assault or domestic violence 

as provided in Section 22.17.   

For purposes of sick leave use, an employee’s immediate family shall consist of the 

employee’s:  

• Spouse or registered domestic partner  

• Child (including a biological, adopted, or foster child, stepchild, legal ward, or a 

child to whom the employee stands in loco parentis.) 

• Parent (including biological, adoptive, or foster parent, stepparent, or legal 

guardian of an employee or the employee’s spouse or registered domestic 

partner, or a person who stood in loco parentis when the employee was a minor 

child.) 

• Grandparent 

• Grandchild 

• Sibling 

• Designated Person (A designated person is someone who is identified by the 

employee at the time the employee requests paid sick days. District employees 

are limited to one designated person per 12-month period for paid sick days.) 

B.  Use of Sick Leave. 

1.  An employee may be granted sick leave only in case of actual sickness as defined 

above or as otherwise provided by law, including for leave as provided in Section 

22.17.   Sick leave is not for personal absences.  Qualifying employees may request 

accrued vacation time off to cover other “personal” absences not covered by this 

sick leave policy. 

116



59          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

2.  In order to utilize sick leave, an employee shall notify their department Manager 

or the General Manager or designee: 

a. Up to nine (9) hours and prior to one (1) hour before the time established as 

the beginning of the employee’s work day, the employee shall notify via text 

message; 

b. Within one (1) hour before the time established as the beginning of the 

employee’s work day the employee must make direct contact via phone; 

c. In all situations, if the employee is assigned as on call or back-up for on call 

duty they must immediately make verbal contact with their manager to notify 

them that they are unable to report to work. 

 

Failure to do comply with these notification procedures may result in that day of 

absence being treated as leave of absence without pay. 

3.  If the employee is absent on sick leave for more than one (1) day the employee 

must keep the immediate supervisor informed as to the date the employee 

expects to return to work. 

4.  Sick leave will not be granted during a District authorized leave of absence 

without pay, or any other absence from duty not authorized by the District. 

5.  Sick leave will not be granted to any employee to permit an extension of the 

employee’s vacation. 

6.  The District may require a physician’s certification where leave abuse or excess 

sick leave use is suspected to the extent permitted by law. 

7.  Employees will not be permitted to use vacation in lieu of sick leave unless 

approved by the Department Manager. 

8.  Supervisors have the discretion to place employees on sick leave when, in the 

judgment of the supervisor, the presence of the employee at work would 

endanger the health and welfare of other employees or where the illness or injury 

of the employee interferes with the performance of such employee’s duties.  

C. Accrual of Sick Leave. Employees covered by the Memorandum of Understanding 

between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3, should refer to the MOU for the 

amount of sick leave granted to employees and its disposition upon retirement or 

resignation. 

 All other employees receive sick leave as follows: exempt employees receive one day of 

sick leave per month of service and non-exempt employees receive 8 hours of sick leave 

per month of service.  There is no cap on the accrual of sick leave. 

117



60          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

D. Reimbursement and Reinstatement of Sick Leave Upon Re-Hire. Any employee who is 

rehired by the District within 12 months of separation will have up to 6 days or 48 hours 

of unused accrued paid sick leave restored to the extent such sick leave was not already 

paid out at the time of separation pursuant to the District’s policies or Memorandum of 

Understanding agreements. 

E. Abuse of Sick Leave. An employee is subject to disciplinary action for abuse of sick leave, 

which is defined as a claim of entitlement to sick leave when the employee does not meet 

the requirements of sick leave as defined above or when the employee is absent because 

of illness for more than three working days or suspected of misusing the sick leave 

privilege, may be required to provide a physician’s certificate, as outlined in the 

Memorandum of Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3 

section 15.4. 

F. Excessive Use of Sick Leave. Excessive use of unprotected sick leave may subject an 

employee to disciplinary action and/or may be considered in establishing the 

performance rating.  Unprotected sick leave is sick leave that is not used in connection 

with California’s Paid Sick Leave Law, Labor Code section 233 (“Kin Care”), FMLA/CFRA, a 

reasonable accommodation for a disability, or any other leave that is provided under the 

law for which sick leave may be used.  Excessive use of sick leave, tardiness, and failing to 

use the call-in procedures when absent or tardy can negatively impact the performance 

of your job or affect others in the performance of their job.  Factors that will be considered 

in determining whether use of sick leave is excessive include, but are not limited to, the 

number of absences compared to other employees, whether absenteeism is limited to a 

finite time period or whether it continues over time, a pattern of usage, and the basis for 

the absenteeism. 

G. Paid Sick Leave and Workers’ Compensation Benefits. Paid sick leave is a benefit that also 

covers absences for work-related illness or injury.  Employees who have a work-related 

illness or injury are covered by workers’ compensation insurance. 

However, workers’ compensation benefits usually do not cover absences for medical 

treatment.  When you report a work-related illness or injury, you will be sent for medical 

treatment, if treatment is necessary. You will be paid your regular wages for the time you 

spend seeking initial medical treatment.   

Any further medical treatment will be under the direction of the health care provider. Any 

absences from work for follow-up treatment, physical therapy or other prescribed 

appointment will not be paid as time worked, unless the employee is required to receive 

medical treatment as a condition of continued employment.  If you have accrued and 

unused sick leave, the additional absences from work will be paid with the use of sick 

leave.  If you do not have accrued, paid sick leave, or if you have used all of your sick leave, 

118



61          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

you may choose to substitute vacation or other paid time off for further work absences 

related to your illness or injury. 

22.2 Catastrophic Leave Donation Plan 

Employees may donate accrued leave to other employees suffering from a catastrophic illness or 

injury.  Catastrophic leave is a paid leave of absence due to life threatening verifiable long-term 

illness or injury such as, but not limited to, cancer or heart attack, which clearly disables the 

individual.  Employees who have successfully completed one year in paid status shall be eligible 

for catastrophic leave due to their own serious illness or injury. 

The employee must first exhaust all accrued sick leave, vacation leave, administrative leave and 

compensatory time before qualifying for catastrophic leave.  Catastrophic leave shall be additional 

paid leave available from vacation or compensatory time hours donated by other employees to a 

specific qualified employee.  Employees donating vacation or compensatory time must donate in 

increments of whole hours.  The donating employee must have a minimum vacation leave balance 

of 40 hours after the donation of vacation leave.  All donations are irrevocable. 

An employee seeking catastrophic leave must submit a request to the General Manager.  An 

employee’s request for catastrophic leave must generally describe the nature of the need 

(disclosure of confidential health information is not required), include the expected length of the 

need for leave, and indicate whether the nature of the need may be disclosed to other employees. 

The General Manager must verify the catastrophic illness or injury.  A request for catastrophic 

leave is subject to the approval of the General Manager.  Such leave may initially be approved for 

up to a maximum of 340 donated hours.  If the catastrophic illness or injury continues, up to an 

additional 340 donated hours may be approved.  The District shall account for the donation and 

disbursement of catastrophic leave hours.  All time donated will be credited on an hour-to-hour 

basis regardless of hourly pay differentials between the donating employee and recipient. 

Catastrophic leave shall not be used in conjunction with any long-term disability (LTD) or Workers’ 

Compensation Leave.  While an employee is on catastrophic leave, using donated hours, the 

employee shall not accrue any vacation or sick leave. 

The employee must have exhausted their protected time (FMLA/CFRA/PDL) prior to qualifying for 

this leave (if meeting criteria and eligibility requirements). Benefits would continue while the 

employee is on catastrophic leave. 

22.3 Return to Work 

A. Medical Certification Required. 

1. For medical absences of more than five (5) working days, medical clearance from 

a physician may be required.  

2. Before returning to work from a medical leave, the employee’s personal physician 

may be required to provide a medical clearance.  In addition, a medical clearance 

119



62          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

and fitness for duty evaluation from the District’s medical provider, based on the 

requirements of the position, may be required.  

B. Reasonable Accommodations 

The District will engage in the interactive process with the employee with qualifying 

disabilities in the administration of all personnel policies and procedures. 

1. Request for Accommodation. An employee who desires a reasonable 

accommodation in order to perform essential job functions should make such a 

request to the Human Resources Department. The request must identify: (a) the 

job-related functions at issue, and (b) the desired accommodation(s).   

 

2. Reasonable Medical Documentation of Disability. If the disability or the need for 

reasonable accommodation is not obvious, the District may require the individual 

requesting such accommodation to provide reasonable medical documentation 

confirming the existence of the disability and the need for reasonable 

accommodation, along with the name and credentials of the individual’s health 

care provider. If the individual provides insufficient documentation, the District 

will do the following: (1) explain the insufficiency of the documentation provided; 

(2) allow the employee or applicant to supplement the documentation in order 

to remedy the issue with the documentation provided; and (3) pursue the 

interactive process only to the extent that the request for reasonable 

accommodation is supported by the medical documentation provided. 

 

3. Fitness for Duty Examination. The District may require an employee to undergo a 

fitness for duty examination at the District’s expense to determine whether the 

employee can perform the essential functions of the job with or without 

reasonable accommodation. The District may also require that a District-

approved physician conduct the examination.  

 

4. Interactive Process Discussion. After receipt of reasonable documentation of 

disability and/or a fitness for duty report, the District will arrange for a discussion 

with the employee, and their representative(s), if any. The purpose of the 

discussion is to work in good faith to fully consider all feasible potential 

reasonable accommodations. 

The following factors will be considered during this process: 

1. Determination of the essential functions of the job. 

2. Determine through conversation with the individual how the disability limits the 

individual’s ability to perform the essential job functions and how those 

limitations could be overcome with reasonable accommodation. 

120



63          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

3. Identify accommodation options and determine effectiveness and feasibility of 

the proposed accommodations. 

4. Considering the individual’s preference, the Human Resources Manager, in 

consultation with the Department Manager, selects the accommodation most 

appropriate, if such accommodation is reasonable, does not create undue 

hardship for the District, and would not pose a direct threat to the health or safety 

of the individual or others.  

C.  Whenever an employee has been given a permanent and stationary rating by the 

Industrial Accident Commission of the State of California, return to the job must be based on the 

same medical information that the employee used in order to obtain the award. It is the policy of 

the District that an employee can return to duties the employee can perform safely without undue 

risk. 

22.4 Personal Days 

Please see Memorandum of Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 

3or specific Employment Agreement for management and unpresented employees. 

22.5 Vacation Leave 

Please see Memorandum of Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3 

or specific Employment Agreement for management and unpresented employees. 

22.6 Holidays 

Please see Memorandum of Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3 

or specific Employment Agreement for management and unpresented employees. 

22.7 Family Medical Care Leave 

A. Statement of Policy. The District will provide Family Medical Care Leave and related leaves 

under the California Family Rights Act for eligible employees as required by state and 

federal law. The following provisions set forth certain of the rights and obligations with 

respect to such leave. Rights and obligations which are not specifically set forth below are 

set forth in the Department of Labor regulations implementing the Federal Family and 

Medical Leave Act of 1993 (“FMLA”), and the regulations of the California Family Rights 

Act (“CFRA”). Unless otherwise indicated, “leave’ under this section will mean leave 

pursuant to the Family Medical Leave Act and California Family Rights Act. 

B. Definitions. The following definitions apply to this policy. 

1. “12-Month Period” means a rolling 12-month period measured backward from 

the date leave is taken and continuous with each additional leave day taken. 

2. “Single 12-month period” means a 12-month period which begins on the first day 

the eligible employee takes FMLA leave to take care of a covered service member 

and ends 12 months after that date. 

121



64          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

3. “Child” means a child under the age of 18 years of age, or 18 years of age or older 

who is incapable of self-care because of a mental or physical disability. An 

employee’s child is one for whom the employee has actual day-to-day 

responsibility for care and includes a biological, adopted, foster or step-child, 

legal ward, or a child of a person standing in loco parentis. 

4. “Parent” means the biological parent of an employee or an individual who stands 

or stood in loco parentis (in place of a parent) to an employee when the employee 

was a child. This term does not include parents-in-law. 

5. “Spouse” means an individual lawfully married to another individual as defined 

by California Family Code section 300. 

6. “Domestic partner” as defined by California Family Code sections 297 and 299.2, 

shall have the same meaning as “Spouse” for purposes of CFRA leave. 

7.  For purposes of CFRA leave, “Designated Person” means any individual related by 

blood or whose association with the employee is the equivalent of a family 

relationship. The employee is limited to one designated person per single 12-

month period for family care and medical leave. The designated person may be 

identified by the employee at the time the employee requests the leave. 

8. “Serious health condition” means an illness, injury, impairment or physical or 
mental condition which involves inpatient care or continuing treatment by a 
health care provider.  

 9.  “Health Care Provider” means: 

a. A doctor of medicine or osteopathy who is authorized to practice 

medicine or surgery by the State of California; 

b. Individuals duly licensed as a physician, surgeon, or osteopathic physician 

or surgeon in another state or jurisdiction, including another country, 

who directly treats or supervises treatment of a serious health condition; 

c. Podiatrists, dentists, clinical psychologists, optometrists, and 

chiropractors (limited to treatment consisting of manual manipulation of 

the spine to correct an existing subluxation as demonstrated by X-ray) 

authorized to practice in California and performing within the scope of 

their practice as defined under California State law;  

d. Nurse practitioners and nurse-midwives and clinical social workers who 

are authorized to practice under California State law and who are 

performing within the scope of their practice as defined under California 

State law; 

122



65          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

e.  Christian Science practitioners listed with the First Church of Christ, 

Scientist in Boston, Massachusetts; and 

f.  Any health care provider from whom an employer or group health plan’s 

benefits manager will accept certification of the existence of a serious 

health condition to substantiate a claim for benefits. 

10.   “Covered active duty” means: (1) in the case of a member of a regular component 

of the Armed Forces, duty during the deployment of the member with Armed 

Forces to a foreign country, or (2) in the case of a member of a reserve component 

of the Armed Forces, duty during the deployment of a member of the Armed 

Forces to a foreign county under a call or order to active duty under certain 

specified provisions. 

11.   “Covered Service member” means (1) a current member of the Armed Forces, 

including a member of the National Guard or Reserves, who is undergoing 

medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, is otherwise in outpatient status, or 

is otherwise on the temporary disability retired list, for a serious injury or illness 

incurred in the line of duty on active duty; or (2) a veteran who is undergoing 

medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, for a serious injury or illness and 

who was a member of the Armed Forces, including a member of the National 

Guard or Reserves, at any time during the period of five years preceding the date 

on which the veteran undergoes that medical treatment, recuperation, or 

therapy. 

12.  "Outpatient Status" means, with respect to a covered service member, the status 

of a member of the Armed Forces assigned to either: (1) a military medical 

treatment facility as an outpatient; or (2) a unit established for the purpose of 

providing command and control of members of the Armed Forces receiving 

medical care as outpatients. 

13.  "Next of Kin of a Covered Service member" means the nearest blood relative 

other than the covered service member’s spouse, parent, son, or daughter, in the 

following order of priority: Blood relatives who have been granted legal custody 

of the covered service member by court decree or statutory provisions, brothers 

and sisters, grandparents, aunts and uncles, and first cousins, unless the covered 

service member has specifically designated in writing another blood relative as 

their nearest blood relative for purposes of military caregiver leave under the 

FMLA. 

14. "Serious Injury or Illness" (1) in the case of a member of the Armed Forces, 

including a member of the National Guard or Reserves, means an injury or illness 

that was incurred by the member in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed 

Forces (or existed before the beginning of the member's active duty and was 

123



66          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

aggravated by service in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces) and 

that may render the member medically unfit to perform the duties of the 

member's office, grade, rank, or rating; or (2) in the case of a veteran who was a 

member of the Armed Forces, including a member of the National Guard or 

Reserves, at any time during the period of five years preceding the date on which 

the veteran undergoes that medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, means 

a qualifying injury or illness that was incurred by the member in the line of duty 

on active duty in the Armed Forces (or existed before the beginning of the 

member's active duty and was aggravated by service in the line of duty on active 

duty in the Armed Forces) and that manifested itself before or after the member 

became a veteran. 

C. Purpose for Leaves.  The purpose of this policy is to provide a uniform way to access 

information for those employees who wish to take leave under the Family Medical Leave 

Act (FMLA), the California Family Rights Act (CFRA) and/or the Pregnancy Disability Leave 

(PDL). Under FMLA and CFRA, employees who have worked for at least twelve (12) 

months and for 1,250 hours during that 12-month period may request family care and 

medical leave of up to twelve (12) workweeks during a twelve (12) month period. There 

is no minimum length of service requirement for PDL. Under PDL, employees may request 

leave for a reasonable period of time, not to exceed four (4) months.  

Leave may be requested for the following reasons: 

 

 

• The birth of the employee’s child, and to care for their newborn child; 

• The placement with the employee of an adopted or foster child, and to care for the newly 
placed child; 

• To care for the employee’s spouse, child, or parent with a serious health condition; 

• A serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform one or more of the 
essential functions of his or her job; 

• A qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that the employee’s spouse, child, or parent is a 
military member on covered active duty status or has been notified of an impending call or 
order to covered active duty. 

29 CFR 825.200 

 

• Bonding time with newborn, including adoption and foster care.                            

• Care of child, parent, domestic partner, domestic partner's child, spouse, or designated 
person with serious health condition, including psychological comfort.  

• Serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform functions of his/her 
position. 

CCR Title 2, Section 7297 
 

To allow a female employee disabled by pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions to take a 

leave for a reasonable period of time not to exceed four months.  

Gov Code 12945 

 

C
FR

A
 

FM
LA

 
P

D
L 

124



67          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

D. Amount of Leave.  

FMLA Except in the case of leave to care for a covered service member with a serious injury or illness, an 

eligible employee's FMLA leave entitlement is limited to a total of 12 (twelve) workweeks of leave 

during any 12-month period, as previously defined. CFR 825.200(a) 

CFRA 

 

A covered employer is required to grant an eligible employee a maximum leave of 12 workweeks in a 

12-month period.  

“12 workweeks” means the equivalent of 12 of the employee’s normally scheduled workweeks. For 

eligible employees who work more or less than five days per week, or pursuant to an alternative work 

schedule, the number of working days that constitute 12 workweeks is calculated on a pro rata or 

proportional basis. 

CCR Title 2, Section 7297.3, Subdivision C 

PDL For a reasonable period of time not to exceed four months. 

Gov Code 12945 

 

E. Employee Benefits While on Leave. 

Leave under this policy is unpaid. While on unpaid leave under this policy, employees will 

continue to be covered by the District’s group health insurance plan for up to 12 weeks 

each year. While not required by law, the District will continue to provide employees 

vision and dental insurance while on unpaid leave. If the employee is disabled by 

pregnancy, coverage will continue to be covered for up to 4 months each leave year.  

Employee health insurance premiums must be paid by the Employee unless Employer 

contributions are required by law. 

In the event an employee is disabled by pregnancy and also uses leave under the CFRA, 

District will maintain the employee’s health benefits while the employee is disabled by 

pregnancy (up to four months or 17⅓ weeks) and during the employee’s CFRA leave (up 

to 12 weeks). However, employees will not continue to be covered under the following 

non-health benefit plans: Life and Accidental Death Insurance and Disability Insurance.  

Employees may make the appropriate contributions for continued coverage under the 

preceding non-health benefit plans by payroll deductions or direct payments made to 

these plans. Depending on the particular plan, the District will inform the employee 

whether the premiums should be paid to the carrier or to the District. Employee is 

responsible for the pro-rated share of premiums if taking partial leave or integrating 

wages with State Disability Insurance benefits. Coverage on a particular plan may be 

dropped if the employee is more than 30 days late in making a premium payment. 

However, you will receive a notice at least 15 days before coverage is to cease, advising 

you that you will be dropped if your payment is not paid by a certain date.  Employee 

125



68          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

contribution rates are subject to any change in rates that occurs while the employee is on 

leave. 

If an employee fails to return to work after his/her leave entitlement has been exhausted 

or expires, the District will have the right to recover its share of health plan premiums for 

the entire leave period, unless the employee does not return because of the continuation, 

recurrence, or onset of a serious health condition of the employee or his/her family 

member which would entitle the employee to leave, or because of circumstances beyond 

the employee’s control. The District will have the right to recover premiums through 

deduction from any sums due to the employee (e.g. unpaid wages, vacation pay, etc.). 

An employee will not accrue additional vacation, personal leave or sick leave during any 

unpaid portion of this leave. The employee will accrue pro-rated leave over the bi-weekly 

pay period if they are paid a portion of their leave through participation in integration of 

wages with benefits through the State. 

Holidays will be paid if the employee is in a paid leave status (i.e. using vacation, sick, or 

administrative leave) during the bi-weekly pay period the holiday occurs in. 

F. Use of Paid Accrued Leaves While on Leave Under This Policy.   

 While on leave under this policy, an employee may elect to concurrently use paid accrued 

leaves. Similarly, the District may require an employee to concurrently use paid accrued 

leaves after requesting FMLA, CFRA, and/or pregnancy disability leave, and may also 

require an employee to use family and medical care leave concurrently with a non-

FMLA/CFRA leave which is FMLA/CFRA-qualifying. 

1.  Employee’s Right to Use Paid Accrued Leaves Concurrently With Family Leave 

Where an employee has earned or accrued paid vacation, administrative leave, 

compensatory time, or personal or family leave, that paid leave may be 

substituted for all or part of any (otherwise) unpaid leave under this policy. 

As for sick leave, an employee is entitled to use sick leave concurrently with leave 

under this policy if: 

a.  The leave is for the employee’s own serious health condition; or 

b.  The leave is needed to care for a parent, spouse, child, or domestic 

partner with a serious health condition, and would be permitted as sick 

leave under the District’s sick leave policy. 

2.  District’s Right to Require an Employee to Use Paid Leave When Using 

FMLA/CFRA Leave 

126



69          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

Employees must exhaust their accrued leaves concurrently with FMLA/CFRA 

leave to the same extent that employees have the right to use their accrued 

leaves concurrently with FMLA/CFRA leave, with two exceptions: 

a.  Employees are required to use accrued compensatory time earned in lieu 

of overtime earned pursuant to the Fair Labor Standards Act; and 

b.  Employees will only be required to use sick leave concurrently with 

FMLA/CFRA leave if the leave is for the employee’s own serious health 

condition. 

3.  District’s Right to Require an Employee to Exhaust FMLA/CFRA Leave 

Concurrently With Other Leaves 

If an employee takes a leave of absence for any reason which is FMLA/CFRA 

qualifying, the District may designate that non-FMLA/CFRA leave as running 

concurrently with the employee’s 12-week FMLA/CFRA leave entitlement.  

4. District’s Right to Require an Employee to Exhaust Sick Leave Concurrently With 

Pregnancy Disability Leave. 

Pregnancy disability leaves are without pay. However, the employee must first 

use sick leave, if any. Once sick leave is depleted, the employee may elect to use 

vacation leave or any other accrued paid time off during the leave.  

G. Medical Certification. 

Employees who request leave for their own serious health condition or to care for a child, 

parent or a spouse who has a serious health condition must provide written certification 

from the health care provider. of the individual requiring care if requested by the District. 

If the leave is requested because of the employee’s own serious health condition, the 

certification must include a statement that the employee is unable to work at all or is 

unable to perform the essential functions of his/her position.Employees who request 

leave to care for a covered service member who is a child, spouse, parent, or “next of kin” 

of the employee must provide written certification from a health care provider regarding 

the injured service member’s serious injury or illness. 

The first time an employee requests leave because of a qualifying exigency, an employer 

may require the employee to provide a copy of the covered military member’s active duty 

orders or other documentation issued by the military which indicates that the covered 

military member is on active duty or call to active duty status in support of a contingency 

operation, and the dates of the covered military member’s active duty service. A copy of 

new active-duty orders or similar documentation shall be provided to the employer if the 

127



70          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

need for leave because of a qualifying exigency arises out of a different active duty or call 

to active-duty status of the same or a different covered military member. 

1. Time To Provide Medical Certification.  

a. When an employee’s leave is foreseeable and at least 30 days’ notice has 

been provided, if a medical certification is requested, the employee must 

provide it before the leave begins. 

b. When this is not possible, the employee must provide the requested 

certification to the District within 15 calendar days after the District’s 

request, unless it is not practicable under the particular circumstances to 

do so despite the employee’s diligent, good faith efforts. 

2. Consequences for Failure to Provide an Adequate or Timely Certification. If an 

employee provides an incomplete medical certification, the employee will be 

given a reasonable opportunity to cure any such deficiency. However, if an 

employee fails to provide a medical certification within the time frame 

established by this policy, the District may delay the taking of FMLA/CFRA leave 

until the required certification is provided. 

3. Recertification. If the District has reason to doubt the validity or clarity of a 

certification, the District may require a medical opinion of a second health care 

provider chosen and paid for by the District. If the second opinion is different 

from the first, the District may require the opinion of a third provider jointly 

approved by the District and the employee, but paid for by the District. The 

opinion of the third provider will be binding. An employee may request a copy of 

the health care provider’s opinions when there is a recertification. 

4. Intermittent Leave or Leave on a Reduced Leave Schedule. If an employee 

requests leave intermittently (a few days or hours at a time) or on a reduced leave 

schedule to care for an immediate family member with a serious health condition 

or treatment required for oneself, the employee must provide medical 

certification that such leave is medically necessary. “Medically necessary” means 

there must be a medical need for the leave and that the leave can best be 

accomplished through an intermittent or reduced leave schedule.  

The District will require an annual recertification for any ongoing intermittent 

leave covered under an approved FMLA/CFRA leave. At the time of 

recertification, eligibility for ongoing leave will be determined prior to approving 

such time. 

5. Employee Notice of Leave. Although the District recognizes that emergencies 

arise which may require employees to request immediate leave, employees are 

128



71          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

required to give as much notice as possible of their need for leave. Except for 

qualifying exigency leave, if leave is foreseeable, at least 30 days’ notice is 

required.  

In addition, if an employee knows that they will need leave in the future, but does 

not know the exact date(s) (e.g. for the birth of a child or to take care of a 

newborn), the employee will inform their supervisor as soon as possible that such 

leave will be needed. Such notice may be given orally. If the District determines 

that an employee’s notice is inadequate or the employee knew about the 

requested leave in advance of the request, the District may delay the granting of 

the leave until it can, in its discretion, adequately cover the position.   

 For foreseeable leave due to qualifying exigency, an employee must provide 

notice of the need for leave as soon as practicable, regardless of how far in 

advance such leave is foreseeable.   

H. Reinstatement upon Return from Leave. 

1. Upon expiration of leave, an employee is entitled to be reinstated to the position 

of employment held when the leave commenced, or to an equivalent position 

with equivalent employment benefits, pay, and other terms and conditions of 

employment. Employees have no greater rights to reinstatement, benefits and 

other conditions of employment than if the employee had been continuously 

employed during the FMLA/CFRA leave period.   

If a definite date of reinstatement has been agreed upon at the beginning of the 

leave, the employee will be reinstated on the date agreed upon.  If the 

reinstatement date differs from the original agreement of the employee and the 

District, the employee shall promptly notify the District of the new date and 

provide a medical certification by a health care provider stating the new return 

to work date.  

I. Required Forms.  

Employees must fill out the following applicable forms in connection with leave under this 

policy: 

1.  “Request for Family or Medical Leave Form” prepared by the District to be eligible 

for leave.  Employees will receive a District response indicating approval and 

officially designating the type and duration of leave. .  If denial occurs, 

information will be provided to remedy the request for leave unless employee 

has been determined to not be eligible for such leave; 

129



72          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

2.  Medical certification—either for the employee’s own serious health condition or 

for the serious health condition of a child, parent, spouse, or domestic partner; 

and 

3. Authorization for payroll deductions for benefit plan coverage continuation. 

22.8 School Visit Leave 

A. Definition. School visit leave is leave taken by a parent, guardian, stepparent, foster 

parent, or grandparent of, or a person who stands in loco parentis to, a child of 1 or more 

children who are in school (kindergarten or grades 1 through 12) or who is attending a 

licensed child day care facility to participate in Child Related Activities of the child’s school 

or daycare facility, without pay, allowed up to 40 hours each school year, not to exceed 8 

hours in any calendar month of the school year. 

B. Child Related Activities include finding, enrolling, or reenrolling a child in school or with a 

licensed child care provider or to address a child care provider or school emergency, 

including a request that the child be picked up from school/childcare, 

behavioral/discipline problems, closure or unexpected unavailability of the school 

(excluding planned holidays), or a natural disaster. 

C. Eligible Employees. Only employees who are a parent, guardian, stepparent, foster 

parent, or grandparent of, or a person who stands in loco parentis to, a child are eligible. 

D. Prior Notice Required. Eligible employees desiring to take school visit leave must provide 

written notice to the General Manager or designee reasonably in advance of the leave. 

Failure to provide written notice in a reasonable time prior to the leave may result in 

denial of the leave request. 

E. Other Leave Runs Concurrently With School Visit Leave. An employee must use vacation, 

administrative leave, personal leave, or compensating time concurrently with school visit 

leave. 

F. Documentation of Participation. The District may require the employee taking school visit 

leave to provide written documentation from the school or licensed daycare facility 

evidencing the employee’s participation. 

22.9 Bereavement Leave 

A. An eligible employee is entitled to leave with pay, up to 3 working days and up to 2 

additional days unpaid for a total of 5 days per incident. 

 Two unpaid days require employee to have 30 days of service and all bereavement leave 

must be used within 3 months of death.  

B. Eligible Employees. All employees except temporary and casual employees and elected 

officials are eligible to take bereavement leave in the event of the death of a member of 

130



73          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

the employee’s immediate family. For the purposes of this section “Immediate Family” is 

defined as spouse, domestic partner, parent, step parent, brother/sister, step 

brother/sister, child, stepchild, or the same relatives of a spouse or domestic partner.  The 

General Manager may approve additional family members as qualifying for the 

bereavement leave benefit. 

C. Documentation of Death. The District may require the employee taking bereavement 

leave to provide written documentation of the death for which the bereavement leave is 

taken within 30 days of first day of leave. 

22.10 Military Leave 

Military leave will be granted in accordance with the provisions of federal and state law.   An 

employee requesting leave for this purpose shall provide their supervisor, whenever possible, 

with a copy of the military orders specifying the dates, site and purpose of the activity or mission.  

Within the limits of such orders, the General Manager may determine when the leave is to be 

taken and may modify the employee’s work schedule to accommodate the request for leave. 

During times of declared war or otherwise, the Board of Directors may approve additional time 

with supplemental pay and benefits in addition to pay required under California law. 

22.11 Voting Leave 

In accordance with State law, employees whose work schedule prevents them from voting at a 

statewide election may take up to two (2) hours off with pay at the beginning or end of the 

workday. If the time off is required, the employee must have prior approval from the General 

Manager at least two (2) days prior to the statewide election. 

22.12 Jury Duty or Court Witness Leave 

A. Definition. Every employee of District who is summoned or required to serve as a trial 

juror is entitled to be absent from District during the period of service up to a maximum 

of 30 workdays. Such employee, except temporary employees, will be paid the 

employee’s regular salary and except for travel, meals, and lodging payments. Any money 

received for jury or court witness services is to be deposited with the District.  If an 

employee is required to perform jury duty in excess of thirty workdays, the employee will 

be able to use all accrued earn leave balances, except sick leave, for service time after 

thirty work days. The time spent on jury duty is not work time for purposes of calculating 

overtime compensation. 

B. An employee subpoenaed to appear in court in a matter unrelated to their District job 

duties or because of civil or administrative proceedings that the employee initiated does 

not receive compensation for time spent related to those proceedings. An employee 

may request to receive time off without pay or may use accrued vacation for time spent 

related to those proceedings. The time spent in these proceedings is not considered 

work time. 

131



74          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

C. Documentation. Employees shall furnish a copy of the official summons or witness 

subpoena to the District when requesting leave along with proof of attendance after 

service. 

D. Employees Must Take Advantage of Court Call-In and other Scheduling Procedures. 

Where courts have call-in procedures to determine days and hours of service, employees 

must take advantage of these procedures. If an employee is told by the Court not to 

report, is dismissed, or is told to call in the next day, the employee must come to work 

and, if necessary, make the call from District, unless the employee receives prior approval 

from the General Manager, to call from home. The employee shall keep their supervisor 

updated as to their status while on said leave.  

E.  Subpoena. An employee who is subpoenaed to appear in court in a matter regarding an 

event or transaction which they perceived or investigated in the course of their District 

job duties will do so without loss of compensation. The time spent will be considered work 

time. 

F.  Exception for Employee-Initiated or Non-District Related Lawsuits. An employee 

subpoenaed to appear in court in a matter unrelated to the employee’s District job duties 

or because of civil or administrative proceedings that they initiated does not receive 

compensation for time spent related to those proceedings. An employee may request to 

receive time off without pay, or may use accrued vacation for time spent related to those 

proceedings. The time spent in these proceedings is not considered work time. 

 

22.13 Leave Without Pay 

A. Definition. Leave without pay means leave which is requested after all sick leave, vacation 

leave, compensatory time off, and other leaves of absence which the employee is entitled 

to use have been exhausted.  

B. Eligibility. All employees who have completed at least one year of continuous 

employment prior to the effective date of the leave except temporary or causal 

employees are eligible for leave without pay.  An employee is not entitled to a leave of 

absence as a matter of right. 

C. Request Procedure 

1. The General Manager or designee may grant a leave of absence without pay to 

regular employees who have been employed by the District for at least 1 year. 

Leave of absence without pay will only be considered upon written request 

setting forth the reason for the request.  Each request will be given consideration 

based on individual circumstances and the impact on the operation of the District. 

132



75          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

2. Upon conclusion of a leave of absence without pay, the employee may be entitled 

to return to his/her former or a comparable position to the extent possible. 

Failure of the employee to return upon the termination of any authorized leave 

of absence will, except under extraordinary circumstances, constitute the 

employee’s separation from District employment. 

D. No Accrual of Benefits During Leave Without Pay. Leave of absence without pay is not a 

break in service or employment, and rights accrued at the time the leave is granted are 

retained by the employee; however, vacation credits, sick leave credits, increases in 

salary, all other paid leaves, holidays and fringe benefits and other similar benefits shall 

not accrue to a person granted such leave during the period of absence. Nor is the District 

required to maintain contributions toward group insurance or retirement coverage. 

During the period of such leave, all service and leave credits shall be retained at the levels 

existing as of the effective date of the leave. 

E. The employee’s salary step increase review date will be adjusted accordingly based on 

duration of Leave Without Pay.   

F. The employee will be eligible for insurance coverage and District premium payments will 

be made in accordance with terms of the insurance plans, the Family Medical Leave Act 

(FMLA) and the California Family Rights Act (CFRA). 

22.14 Paid Family Leave 

Paid Family Leave program provides partial wage replacement to eligible workers on leave for 

illness, care giving and bonding.  Paid Family Leave shall be provided in accordance with the State 

Department of Employment Development guidelines.  

22.15 Pregnancy Disability Leave 

Definition. An employee is entitled to take unpaid pregnancy disability leave (PDL)for up to 4 

months because of pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions. Employees working less 

than a standard forty-hour work week shall have their time pro-rated based on standard 

scheduled hours worked. 

The employee will be entitled to utilize accrued sick leave during the period of disability, as well 

as vacation leave or other accrued paid leave during this period of time. The District will continue 

health insurance coverage during any such period. An employee will not accrue additional 

vacation, personal leave or sick leave during any unpaid portion of this leave. The employee will 

accrue pro-rated leave over the bi-weekly pay period if they are paid a portion of their leave 

through participation in integration of wages with benefits through the State. The employee who 

has been deemed  eligible for and is designated to be on Family Medical Leave (FMLA) and/or 

California Family Rights Act (CFRA) upon the commencement of pregnancy disability leave. 

Once the pregnant employee is no longer disabled, or once the employee has exhausted PDL and 
has given birth, the employee may apply for leave under the CFRA, for purposes of baby bonding. 

133



76          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

 

A. Notice and Certification Requirements 

1. Requests for pregnancy disability leave must be submitted in writing and must be 

approved by the General Manager or designee before the leave begins. The 

request must be supported by a written certification from the attending physician 

stating that the employee is disabled from working by pregnancy, childbirth, or a 

related medical condition. The certification must state the expected duration of 

the disability and the expected date of return to work. Notice must be given not 

less than 30 days prior to the intended commencement date of the leave if the 

leave is foreseeable. When the need for leave does not allow for 30 days’ notice, 

notice must be given as soon as practicable. 

2. All leaves must be confirmed in writing, have an agreed-upon estimated date of 

return, and be submitted to the supervisor prior to being taken.  Requests for an 

extension of leave must be submitted in writing to the supervisor prior to the 

agreed date of return and must be supported by a written certification of the 

attending physician that the employee continues to be disabled by pregnancy, 

childbirth, or a related medical condition. 

B. Compensation During Leave 

Pregnancy disability leaves are without pay. However, the employee may first use accrued 

sick leave, vacation leave, and then any other accrued paid time off during the leave.  

Employees may also be eligible for State Disability Leave. 

C. Benefits During Leave 

1. The District will continue to maintain and pay for health insurance coverage for 

up to four months while the employee is out on pregnancy disability leave.  While 

not required by law, the District will continue to pay for vision and dental 

insurance while on leave. If the employee does not return to work following 

pregnancy leave, the District may recover premiums it paid to maintain health, 

vision, and dental insurance coverage unless  

a. The employee does not return because the employee is taking leave 

under the California Family Rights Act (“CFRA”) and the employee 

chooses not to return following CFRA leave; 

b. The employee’s inability to return to work is due to the continuation, 

recurrence, or onset of a health condition that entitles the employee to 

pregnancy disability leave, unless the employee chooses not to return to 

work following the leave; 

134



77          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

2. Sick, vacation and personal time do not accrue while an employee is on unpaid 

pregnancy disability leave. 

D. Reinstatement 

1. Upon the expiration of pregnancy leave and the District's receipt of a written 

statement from the health care provider that the employee is fit to return to duty, 

the employee will be reinstated to the employee’s original or an equivalent 

position, so long as it was not eliminated for a legitimate business reason during 

the leave. 

2. If the employee's original position is no longer available, the employee will be 

assigned to an open position that is substantially similar in job content, status, 

pay, promotional opportunities, and geographic location as the employee's 

original position. 

3. If upon return from leave an employee is unable to perform the essential 

functions of their  job because of a physical or mental disability, the District will 

initiate an interactive process with the employee in order to identify a potential 

reasonable accommodation. 

4. An employee who fails to return to work after the termination of the employee’s 

leave loses their reinstatement rights. 

22.16 Reproductive Loss Leave 

A. Eligible Employees.  Any District employee experiencing a reproductive loss is entitled to 

up to five days of reproductive loss leave following the reproductive loss event.  The 

employee must be employed by the District for at least 30-days prior to the 

commencement of the leave.  

B. Definitions 

1. “Reproductive loss” shall include failed adoption, failed surrogacy, miscarriage, 

stillbirth, unsuccessful assisted reproduction.   

2. “Reproductive loss event” means the day or, for a multiple-day event, the final 

day of a failed adoption, failed surrogacy, miscarriage, stillbirth, or an 

unsuccessful assisted reproduction.   

3. “Miscarriage” means a miscarriage by a person, by the person’s current spouse 

or domestic partner, or by another individual if the person would have been a 

parent of a child born as a result of the pregnancy.   

4. “Stillbirth” means a stillbirth resulting from a person’s pregnancy, the pregnancy 

of a person’s current spouse or domestic partner, or another individual, if the 

135



78          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

person would have been a parent of a child born as a result of the pregnancy 

that ended in stillbirth.   

5. “Unsuccessful assisted reproduction” means an unsuccessful round of 

intrauterine insemination or of an assisted reproductive technology procedure. 

This event applies to a person, the person’s current spouse or domestic partner, 

or another individual, if the person would have been a parent of a child born as 

a result of the pregnancy.   

6. “Failed surrogacy” means the dissolution or breach of a surrogacy agreement, or 

a failed embryo transfer to the surrogate. This event applies to a person who 

would have been a parent of a child born as a result of the surrogacy.  

7. “Failed adoption” means the dissolution or breach of an adoption agreement 

with the birth mother or legal guardian, or an adoption that is not finalized 

because it is contested by another party. This event applies to a person who 

would have been a parent of the adoptee if the adoption had been completed. 

C. The employee will be entitled to utilize accrued sick leave, as well as vacation leave or 

other accrued paid leave during reproductive loss leave.  Unless the employee utilizes 

accrued sick leave, vacation leave, or other accrued paid leave during reproductive loss 

leave, the leave will be unpaid.  The District will continue health insurance coverage 

during any such period. An employee will not accrue additional vacation, personal leave 

or sick leave during any unpaid portion of this leave.  

D. In the event an employee suffers more than one reproductive loss within a 12-month 

period, the District is not obligated to grant a total amount of leave in excess of 20-days 

within 12 months.  

The employee can take the leave on nonconsecutive days and the leave must be 

completed within three months of the reproductive loss.  

22.17 Lactation Accommodation 

The District accommodates lactating employees by providing a reasonable amount of break time 
to any employee who desires to express breast milk for the employee’s child, subject to exception 
allowed under applicable law. If possible, the break time for expressing breast milk shall run 
concurrently with any break time already provided to the employee. Any break time provided to 
express breast milk that does not run concurrently with break time already provided to the 
employee shall be unpaid pursuant to Labor Code section 1030. 
 
The District will provide employees who need lactation accommodation with the use of a vacant 
room or other private location that is located close to the employee's work area. Employees with 
private offices should use their offices to express breast milk. 
 
Employees who desire lactation accommodation should contact their supervisor or Human 
Resources in writing to request such accommodation. The employee’s supervisor or the Human 

136



79          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

Resources Department  must respond to the employee’s accommodation request in writing 
indicating the approval or denial of the break request. Employees have a right to file a complaint 
with the labor commissioner for any violation of rights provided under Chapter 3.8 of the 

California Labor Code regarding lactation accommodations. 

22.18 Crime Victim Leave 

Employees who are victims of domestic violence, sexual assault, stalking, a crime involving 
physical injury, a crime involving mental injury with a threat of physical injury, or whose 
immediate family member is killed as a result of a crime are eligible for leave. While the leave is 
generally unpaid, employees can use their paid sick time under California's Healthy Workplaces, 
Healthy Families Act for the purposes described below.  Leave is also available to employees to 
attend judicial proceedings relating to a criminal proceeding in which the employee is either a 
victim or a witness. 
 
The employee may request leave if the employee is involved in a judicial action, such as obtaining 
a restraining order, or appearing in court to obtain relief to ensure the employee’s health, safety, 
or welfare, or that of the employee’s child. The employee should provide reasonable advanced 
notice of the need for leave to the employee’s supervisor unless advance notice is not feasible. 
For more information, the employee should contact the District’s Administrative Services 
Manager. The employee may use available vacation, accrued sick leave, or compensatory time off 
if they have such time available. Otherwise, the employee must take unpaid leave. 
 
Employees may also take time off (whether it be paid or unpaid) to seek medical attention for 
injuries caused by domestic violence or sexual assault, or obtain services from a domestic violence 
shelter, program, or rape crisis center as a result of domestic violence or sexual assault, obtain 
psychological counseling related to an experience of domestic violence or sexual assault, and/or 
participate in safety planning and take other actions to increase safety from future domestic 
violence or sexual assault, including temporary or permanent relocation. 
 
If an employee is the victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, stalking, a crime involving 
physical injury, a crime involving mental injury with a threat of physical injury, or whose 
immediate family member is killed as a result of a crime and needs a reasonable accommodation 
for their safety at work, the employee should contact the District’s Administrative Services 
Manager and discuss the need for an accommodation. The employee should submit a written 
statement signed by the employee, or by an individual acting on the employee’s behalf, certifying 
that the accommodation is for the purpose of the employee’s safety at work. 
 
For reasonable accommodation requests, the District may require certification demonstrating 
that the employee is the victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking. The District may 
request recertification every six months from the date of the previous certification. The employee 
should notify the District if an approved accommodation is no longer needed. 
 
The District will engage in an interactive process with the employee to determine effective 
reasonable accommodations, if any, and will make reasonable accommodations unless such 
accommodation would result in an undue hardship to the District. 
 

137



80          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

The District will, to the extent allowed by law, maintain the confidentiality of an employee 
requesting leave or accommodation under this policy. 

No. 23  Voluntary Demotion 
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Personnel Policy and Procedure defines rules for voluntary demotion. 

23.1 Voluntary Demotion 

Any employee may voluntarily demote to a vacant position with a lower salary for which the 

employee meets the minimum qualifications, upon the written request of the employee and the 

approval of the General Manager or designee. Should such demotion be to a class unrelated to 

the previous position, the employee must meet the minimum qualifications for the position and 

will serve a new probationary period. 

No. 24  Personnel Records and Files 
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Personnel Policy and Procedure defines rules for the management, confidentiality, access, 

and release of personnel records and files. 

24.1 Official Personnel File 

The District maintains an official personnel file for each employee.  An employee’s personnel file 

will contain only material that is necessary and relevant to the administration of the District’s 

personnel program and the employer-employee relationship. Personnel files are the property of 

the District and access to the information they contain is restricted.  

24.2 Notifying District of Changes in Personal information 

Each employee is responsible to promptly notify the District of any changes in relevant personal 

information, including: 

▪ Mailing address; 

▪ Telephone number; 

▪ Number and names of dependents. 

▪ Persons to contact in an emergency. 

24.3 Employee Access to Personnel File 

Inspection of File. Employees have the right to inspect documents in their personnel files in the 

presence of the General Manager or designee at a reasonable mutually convenient time, and at 

reasonable intervals.  Each employee shall have the right to inspect or copy their personnel file 

within thirty (30) calendar days of the written request. 

A. Copies. On request, an employee is entitled to receive a copy of any employment-related 

document the employee has signed. The District will also provide an employee single 

138



81          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

copies of any other documents in the employee’s official personnel file. The District may 

charge a reasonable fee for the copies. 

B. Inspection by Representative.  In the event the employee wishes to have another 

person/representative inspect his/her file personnel file, the employee must provide the 

person/representative with written authorization.  The General Manager or designee will 

notify the employee of the date, time, and place for the inspection in writing.  It is the 

employee’s responsibility to notify the person to whom the employee has given written 

authorization of the date, time and place of the inspection. 

C. Contents. Under no circumstances are the employee and/or the employee’s designee 

permitted to add or remove any documents or other items from the employee’s 

personnel file during the inspection. 

24.4 Medical Information 

A. Separate Confidential Files. All medical information of an employee or applicant is kept 

separately and is treated as confidential, in accordance with applicable State and federal 

laws, including HIPPA. 

B. Information in Medical Files. The District will not obtain medical information about an 

employee or applicant except in compliance with the California Confidentiality of Medical 

Information Act.  To enable the District to obtain certain medical information, the 

employee or applicant may need to sign an “Authorization for Release of Employee 

Medical Information.” 

C. Access to Medical Information. Access to employee or applicant medical information shall 

be strictly limited to only those with a legitimate need to have such information for 

District business reasons, or if access is required by law, subpoena or court order.  In the 

case of an employee with a disability, managers or supervisors may be informed regarding 

necessary restrictions on the work or duties of the employee and necessary 

accommodations. 

The District will not provide employee or applicant medical information to a third party 

(except as permitted under the California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act) 

unless the employee signs an “Authorization for Release of Employee Medical 

Information.”  The District will release only the medical information that is identified in 

the employee’s authorization. If the employee’s authorization indicates any limitation 

regarding the use of the medical information, the District will communicate those 

limitations to the person or entity to which it discloses the medical information. 

24.5 Requests for References and Release of Information in Personnel Files 

A. Public Information. The District shall not release private personnel information to 

members of the public unless required by law. The General Manager has general authority 

139



82          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

over personnel matters. Individual employee performance evaluations are privileged and 

confidential.  

B. Reference Checks. The District’s policy on requests for employment references is to 

disclose only the dates of employment and the title of the last position held.  All requests 

for references must be directed to the General Manager or designee.  No other employee 

is authorized to release information on current or former employees or to give any 

verification of employment or employment reference on behalf of the District. 

No. 25 Employee Discipline 
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Personnel Policy and Procedure specifies the basis and rules for disciplinary action for District 

employees. 

25.1 Authority 

The General Manager or designee may demote, suspend, reduce in pay, or discharge regular 

employees for just cause. 

The following categories of persons can be terminated at-will and have no rights to any of the pre- 

or post-disciplinary processes or procedures in this policy:  (1) temporary employees, (2) 

provisional or seasonal employees, (3) probationary employees, (4) any person who serves 

pursuant to contract, and (5) any person who is designated “at-will” in any District policy, 

document, acknowledgement, resolution, or ordinance.  

25.2 Types of Appealable Disciplinary Action 

A. Suspension. Removal of an employee from duty without pay for a specified period. 

B. Reduction in Pay. Either a reduction in pay from the employee’s current step within a pay 

range to any lower step within that same range, or a decrease in salary paid to an 

employee for a fixed period of time. 

C. Demotion. A reduction in status and salary from one classification to another 

classification having a lower salary range. 

D. Discharge. Separation from employment of an employee for cause. 

E. Types of disciplinary action that cannot be appealed are verbal counseling, verbal 

warnings, and written warnings. 

25.3 Grounds for Disciplinary Action 

The maintenance of regular status by an employee requires appropriate behavior and competent 

service. Any regular employee is subject to disciplinary action, including discharge, suspension, 

reduction in pay, and demotion. Listed below are examples of causes which will be deemed 

sufficient for such action by the General Manager or designee. Standards of conduct expected of 

140



83          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

employees are outlined in Section No. 4.1. Grounds for disciplinary action are not limited to the 

examples enumerated below: 

A. Fraud, fraudulent activity, misrepresentation of fact, or concealment in securing 

appointment or during employment. 

B. Falsification in any information provided to the District including information provided on 

employment records, timesheets or reimbursement requests. 

C. Excessive absenteeism and/or tardiness as defined by District management, these Policies 

or Memorandum of Understanding. 

D. Unauthorized, unexplained absence. 

E. Insubordination, a willful failure to conform to directives, duly established orders of 

supervision, or insulting or demeaning the authority of a supervisor or manager. 

F. Incompetence, i.e. inability to comply with the minimum standard of performance of an 

employee’s position for a significant period of time. 

G. Inefficiency or inexcusable neglect of duty, i.e. failure to perform duties required of an 

employee within their position, or wasting time, energy, or materials. 

H. Abuse of sick leave, i.e., taking sick leave, without a doctor’s certificate when one is 

required, or misuse of sick leave, i.e. claiming sick leave when one or one’s family member 

is not sick. 

I. Disorderly conduct.   

J. Dishonesty. 

K. Possession, distribution, sale, use or being under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs 

or narcotics while on duty or while operating a District vehicle or potentially dangerous 

equipment leased or owned by the District. 

L. Any action which indicates a lack of concern for injury to him or herself or others. 

M. Gross negligence, willful and/or unwilful damage to public property or waste of public 

supplies or equipment.  Failure to follow the District’s prescribed safety policies. 

N. Unauthorized use of District property or equipment, including driving on District business 

without a driver’s license and/or insurance. 

O. Theft of District equipment, supplies, or property. 

P. Discourteous, offensive or abusive treatment of the public or other employees. 

Q. Refusal to participate as directed in an investigation conducted by the District. 

141



84          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

R. Working overtime without authorization. 

S. Any willful act, conduct undertaken, or statements made in bad faith, either during or 

outside of duty hours, which is of such a nature that it causes discredit to the District, its 

employees or its Board.  

T. Outside employment not specifically authorized. 

U. Improper political activity. Example: Campaigning for or espousing the election or non-

election of any candidate or issue in national, state, county or municipal elections while 

on duty and/or during working hours or in District uniform on or off duty; or the 

dissemination of political material of any kind while on duty and/or during working hours 

or in uniform. 

V. Disclosure of confidential and/or privileged information. 

W. Willful violation of any of the provisions of these Personnel Policies and Procedures, 

District rules or regulations.  

X. Engaging in sexual activity while on duty or while on District property. 

25.4 Discipline of Exempt Employees 

Except for a violation of a major safety rule, exempt employees are not subject to partial day 

disciplinary suspensions, temporary demotions (with a beginning and ending date), or temporary 

reductions in pay. 

25.5 Possible Investigation 

When an act of an employee that may be cause for disciplinary action is reported to District 
management, it may be necessary to conduct an investigation to determine the facts and/or to 
confirm the allegations. The investigation may be performed by the employee’s supervisor or 
assigned to an administrative employee, or outside investigator. The object of the investigation 
will be to determine if a disciplinary offense did occur, and if so, by whom.  

The District will maintain confidentiality to the extent possible. However, the District cannot 
promise complete confidentiality. The employer's duty to investigate and take corrective action 
may require the disclosure of information to individuals with a need to know. 

The employee will receive notice as to the purpose of the meeting, and of the right to 

representation if the employee believes the investigation could lead to disciplinary action for him 

or her. 

25.6 Procedures for Taking Disciplinary Action and Related Appeal Rights 

A. Verbal Warning. Following a formal discussion, a supervisor or manager may summarize 

the oral warning, provide the summary to the employee, or supervisor, and place it in the 

employee’s non-official personnel file held by their respective supervisor or manager. At 

a minimum, a notation that the oral warning was given must be kept by the supervisor or 

manager. An oral warning may not be challenged or appealed.   

142



85          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

B. Written Warning. A written warning will be prepared, discussed with, and given to the 

employee. A copy will be placed in the employee’s official personnel file. A written 

warning may not be challenged or appealed. The employee may, within ten days of 

receipt of the warning, file a written response for placement in the personnel file.  

C. Suspension/Reduction in Pay/Demotion/Dismissal. 

1. Notice of Proposed Discipline. Whenever the District intends to suspend an 

employee, demote the employee, reduce the employee in pay or discharge the 

employee, the General Manager or designee will give the employee a written 

notice of proposed discipline which sets forth the following.  

• The disciplinary action intended; 

• The specific charges upon which the action is based; 

• A summary of the facts upon which the charges are based; 

• Identification of the rule, regulation or policy violated; 

• A copy of all written materials, reports, tape recordings or documents 

upon which the discipline is based, or notice that the employee may 

request and will be given such information; 

• Notice of the employee’s right to respond to the charges either orally 

and/or in writing to the appropriate authority; 

• Notice of the date, time, and person before whom the employee may 

respond. Said time will be no less than seven calendar days from receipt 

of the notice; 

• Notice that failure to respond at the time specified will constitute a 

waiver of the right to respond prior to final discipline being imposed; 

• Notice of the employee’s right to a representative. 

2. Response by Employee. The employee will have the right to respond to the 

appropriate authority orally and/or in writing. If the employee elects to respond 

orally, the employee will have a right to be represented at any meeting set by 

the appropriate authority. The meeting will be an informal meeting at which 

time the employee has an opportunity to rebut the charges against them and 

present any mitigating circumstances. The employee’s response will be 

considered before final action is taken. 

 The employee’s failure to make an oral response at the arranged meeting time, 

or the employee’s failure to cause their written response to be delivered by the 

143



86          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

date and time specified in the notice, constitutes a waiver of the employee’s 

right to respond prior to the imposition of the discipline. In that case, the 

proposed disciplinary action will be imposed on the date specified. 

3. Final Notice. After the response or the expiration of the employee’s time to 

respond to the notice of proposed discipline, the appointing authority or 

designee will either: (1) dismiss the proposed discipline and take no disciplinary 

action against the employee, (2) modify the recommended disciplinary action, 

or (3) uphold the recommended disciplinary action. The appointing authority or 

designee will prepare and serve upon the employee a final notice of disciplinary 

action. The final notice of disciplinary action will include the following.  

• The disciplinary action taken; 

• The effective date of the disciplinary action taken; 

• Specific charges upon which the action is based; 

• A summary of the facts upon which the charges are based; 

• A copy of all written materials, reports, tape recordings, and documents 

upon which the disciplinary action is based; 

• A statement of the employee’s right to appeal. 

4. Appeal Rights. Please see the Grievance Procedure of the Memorandum of 

Understanding between the District and OE Local 3 as guidance for all employees. 

No. 26 Separation from Employment 
APPLICABILITY & PURPOSE 

This Personnel Policy and Procedure defines rules pertaining to employees who separate from 

District employment for non-disciplinary reasons. 

26.1 Resignation 

An employee wishing to leave the District in good standing shall provide a written statement to 
the District including the employee’s reasons for leaving and the effective date of resignation at 
least 2 (two) weeks before leaving. The two-week notice may be waived at the discretion of the 
District. 
 
Any employee leaving the District may be requested to participate in an exit interview.  The 

purpose of the interview is to discuss the reasons for the employee’s resignation and to resolve 

any questions or matters related to the employee’s departure.  The exit interview is voluntary and 

remains confidential. 

144



87          10/17/2024 

12219105.3 LA105-022 

26.2 Reduction in Force (Lay Off) 

Please see Memorandum of Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 

3. 

26.3 Job Abandonment 

An employee is deemed to have resigned if the employee is absent for five consecutive workdays 

without prior authorization and without notification during the period of absence. On the third 

working day of unauthorized absence, the District will send an overnight letter or a process server 

to the employee’s last known address informing the employee that if the employee fails to report 

to work within two workdays, or receive authorization for such absence, the employee will be 

deemed to have resigned. Regular employees will be given an opportunity to explain the absence 

and failure of notification before final action is taken. Employees separated from employment for 

job abandonment will be reinstated with such charge removed from the employee’s record upon 

presentation of justification for absence such as severe accident, severe illness, false arrest, or 

mental or physical impairment which prevented notification. Employees have no right to appeal 

if deemed to have resigned as a result of job abandonment. 

26.4 End of Fixed Term Appointment 

When an appointment is made for a fixed term and that term ends, the separation is simply due 

to completion of the term and is in no way a disciplinary separation. 

26.5 Retirement 

A regular employee who wishes to and is eligible to retire will submit  a written notice of 

retirement to the District.  

26.6 District Property on Termination of Employment 

Upon termination, all District property (vehicles, keys, remote gate operator, uniforms, cell 

phones, etc.) must be returned immediately to the employee’s immediate supervisor. 

 

145



 

 
 

 

10/17/2024 
 

 General Manager Report 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

 Verbal Report  

□ Presentation 

 

AGENDA ITEM 5.1 

146



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Scans\10172024\5.2 Winter 2024 Newsletter Topics.docx Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager  
 (415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 
Meeting Date: October 17, 2024 

Re: Topics for the Winter 2024 Newsletter 
 

Item Type:   Consent         Action    Information   X Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No  (See attached) Not Applicable      X       . 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff requests that the Board discuss proposed topics for the Winter 2024 Newsletter and select 
topics from the recommended list below. 

BACKGROUND: 
The District publishes newsletters approximately every six (6) months to inform its ratepayers 
about District projects, programs, and other items of interest. Each newsletter typically has one 
main topic and three to four smaller articles. Staff is planning to mail the Winter 2024 Newsletter 
the first week of December 2024. 
 
It will be a traditional 4-page color newsletter. The District’s new website allows residents and 
others to sign up for email alerts. Our email list is growing slowly. There are no plans to send a 
separate e-Newsletter this year. 
 
Below is a list of topics for possible inclusion in the newsletter. 
 

• Board Election Results 

• Wastewater Surveillance for COVID-19 and Other Pathogens 

• Department Spotlight 

• FOG (Fats Oil and Grease)  

• Flushable Wipes 

• No Drugs Down the Drain 
 
Included with this report is a list of past newsletter topics and their publication date.  

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION: 
N/A 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Publication of the newsletter is included in the 2024-25 Budget. 

Item Number______5.2________ 

GM Review   ____CP__________ 

147

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
NEWSLETTER TOPICS 

SORTED BY Topic

10/2/2024

8:34 AM

Topic Article Title

Publication 

Date Period
Admin Bldg Design Underway for Multipurpose Facility 2024 Summer

Admin Bldg

Replacement of Operations and Administration Building in 

the Works 2023 Summer

Admin Bldg Dilapidated building needs urgent revamping. 2017 Summer

Admin Bldg Facilities Need Upgrading 2014 Spring

Awards Recognizing 70 Years of Service to Marin County Residents 2024 Summer

Awards District Named Recycled Water Agency of the Year 2024 Winter

Awards District Wins Finance Award 2014 Spring

Awards LGVSD Awarded Certificate of Excellence for Transparency 2014 Winter

Awards

Awards Recognize Outstanding District Programs and 

Performance 2013 Summer

Awards Awarded Sewer Collection System of the Year… Again! 2011 March

Biogas

Biogas energy recovery system: another step towards 

energy independence. 2018 Winter

Biosolids Biosolids‐Capturing a Resource 2021 Winter

Construction

Major Construction Milestone ‐ Completion of Phase 1: 

Recycled Water Expansion 2021 Fall

Construction Construction Affects Reclamation Area Access 2021 Winter

Construction

Progress Continues on Secondary Treatment Plant 

Upgrade/Recycled Water Expansion Project 2021 Winter

Construction Update on Treatment Plant Upgrade. 2019 Fall

Construction Update on Treatment Plant Upgrade. 2019 Spring

Construction Possible Road Closure. 2019 Spring

Construction Update on Treatment Plant Upgrade 2020 Spring

COVID‐19 Tracking COVID in our Sewers 2021 Winter

District

What Else was going on in 1954, the year the District was 

born? 2024 Summer

District Check out our new website and subscribe to email updates 2024 Summer

District

Join the Leading Edge of Public and Environmental Health: 

Wastewater Management 2024 Summer

District Barry Nitzberg Appointed to LGVSD Board of Directors 2024 Summer

District Public Invited to Review Hazard Mitigation Projects 2024 Winter

District District Evaluates Electric Vehicles to Include in Fleet 2023 Summer

District Welcome Gary Robards, Newest Board Member 2023 Summer

District Welcome Curtis Paxton, New General Manager 2022 Fall

District Newest District Board Member Nearing One Year of Service 2022 Fall

District Kid's Corner ‐ Match the Truck with it's name 2022 Fall

X:\NEWSLETTERS\Master Topics List 2011‐2024 Page 1 of 5148



LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
NEWSLETTER TOPICS 

SORTED BY Topic

10/2/2024

8:34 AM

Topic Article Title

Publication 

Date Period
District District Hires Interim General Manager 2022 Spring

District  District Honored for Helping Monitor COVID in Wastewater 2022 Spring

District Careers in Wastewater Management 2021 Fall

District Department Spotlight: Administration and Engineering 2021 Fall

District How Activated Sludge is Used in Wastewater Treatment 2021 Fall

District Introducing Dale McDonald New ASM 2021 Winter

District Department Spotlight: Operations 2021 Winter

District District Administrative/Engineering Office Move. 2019 Fall

District PG&E “Public Safety Power Shutoff” Program. 2019 Fall

District Understanding the Recycled water storage ponds. 2019 Fall

District New Team at LGVSD: New Employees and Board members. 2019 Spring

District LGVSD starting strong in 2018. 2018 Winter

District Chris DeGabriele hired as interim general manager. 2018 Winter

District

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District: 60 Years of Service to 

Marin Residents 2014 Spring

District

LGVSD Workers Go Above and Beyond to Help a District 

Customer in Need 2014 Winter

District District Redesigns Website for Easier Access 2013 Summer

District Mutually Beneficial Partnerships Leverage our Efforts 2020 Spring

District Department Spotlight: Collections Systems 2020 Spring

Drain/Flushing Are they really Flushable. 2019 Spring

Flushing Wipes Clog Pipes 2021 Winter

Flushing Microbeads study under way. 2018 Winter

Flushing

Did I cause a sewer overflow? Be aware of what you put 

down the drain. 2016 Fall

Flushing “Wipe Out” Flushing of Personal Wipes! 2015 Spring

Flushing Wastewater Treatment Complicated by New Contaminants 2014 Fall

Flushing Don’t Use the Drain as a Dump 2014 Fall

Flushing FDA Questions Effectiveness, Safety of Antibacterial Soaps 2014 Spring

Flushing Protect Water Quality: Watch What You Flush 2013 Summer

Flushing Antibacterial Soaps Can Harm the Environment and Wildlife 2013 Summer

Grants Grants Received for Biogas Conversion to Energy 2015 Fall

Grants District Awarded $871,000 Grant for Recycled Water 2011 March

Inflow and Infiltration We Must Reduce Inflow and Infiltration 2012 May

Laterals

Programs Help Offset Your Costs  Later Repair Assistance 

and Low‐income Rate Assistance 2022 Fall

X:\NEWSLETTERS\Master Topics List 2011‐2024 Page 2 of 5149



LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
NEWSLETTER TOPICS 

SORTED BY Topic

10/2/2024

8:34 AM

Topic Article Title

Publication 

Date Period

Laterals

Reminder: Sewer Laterals are Property Owner's 

Responsibility 2022 Spring

Laterals Low Cost Funds Available for Lateral Repair/Replacement 2021 Winter

Laterals Always Get Three Quotes Before Performing Work 2016 Fall

Laterals Protect your sewer lateral and prepare for wet winter 2015 Fall

Laterals Roots and Sewer Laterals Don’t Mix Well 2014 Fall

Laterals

What is a Property Easement and Do You Have One on Your 

Property? 2014 Spring

Laterals It’s Time to Have Your Pipes Inspected! 2013 Winter

Laterals Prepare for the Rainy Season 2013 Winter

Laterals

What’s the Best Way to Fix Laterals and How to Make it 

Affordable? 2011 March

Laterals

Damaged Laterals Are Privately Owned but Harm the 

Community 2011 March

Laterals We Are Developing Lateral Inspection and Repair Options 2011 March

Ordinance Sewer Lateral Ordinance. 2019 Fall

Pest Control Keep Mosquitos in Check Around Your Home  2016 Fall

Pest Control Tips for Your Pool, Spa, or Fountain 2015 Fall

Pest Control You Can Help Protect the Bay  2015 Spring

Pest Control Keep Your Pool or Spa Clean — and Protect Waterways 2014 Spring

Pest Control Avoid Using The Toxic Insecticide Permethrin 2012 April

Plant Upgrade

District Celebrates Completion of the Secondary Treatment 

Plant Upgrade and Recycled Water Expansion Project 2024 Winter

Plant Upgrade Upgraded Treatment Plant Successfully Weathered Storms 2023 Summer

Plant Upgrade Treatment Plant Upgrade Nearly Complete 2022 Fall 

Plant Upgrade Current Status of treatment plant upgrade project. 2018 Winter

Plant Upgrade Treatment Plant upgrade addresses critical issues. 2017 Summer

Plant Upgrade

District Forced to Upgrade Aging Treatment Plant to Meet 

Regulations 2014 Fall

Plant Upgrade

Upgrades Maintain System Efficiency and Environmental 

Health 2013 Summer

Plant Upgrade LGVSD Launches New Recycled Water Treatment Facility 2013 Winter

Pollution prevention

Join the District in Helping Protect the Environment 

Thermometer Exchange and Battery Recycle Program 2022 Fall

Pollution prevention

Zero Waster Marin We can All do our Part To Achieve Zero 

Waste 2022 Spring

X:\NEWSLETTERS\Master Topics List 2011‐2024 Page 3 of 5150



LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
NEWSLETTER TOPICS 

SORTED BY Topic

10/2/2024

8:34 AM

Topic Article Title

Publication 

Date Period
Pollution prevention We Can All Do Our Part to Achieve Zero Waste 2016 Spring

Pollution prevention Thermometer, bulbs and battery exchange 2015 Fall

Pollution prevention Monitoring Helps Keep Mercury Out of the Environment 2020 Spring

Pollution prevention

Help Protect Local Waterways – Tips for your Pool, Spa, or 

Fountain 2020 Spring

Projects District Looks Ahead to Meet Regulatory Requirements 2014 Winter

Projects LGVSD Will Perform Smoke Testing During Summer Months 2013 Summer

Projects Lighting Change Decreases Glare, Saves Money 2012 May

Rates

Low Income Assistance Program Can Help Customers In 

Need 2024 Winter

Rates

Sewer Rate Study Will Guide Board Decision on Sewer 

Charges 2023 Summer

Rates

Public Hearing Scheduled on Proposed Sewer Service 

Charge Increase 2023 Summer

Rates Sewer Rate Increase Anticipated 2022 Spring

Rates New Rates and Public Hearing. 2019 Spring

Rates

District Continues to Address Aging Infrastructure, Changes 

in Wastewater Content, and New Regulations 2015 Spring

Rates Next Phase of Critical Upgrades Requires Fee Increases 2015 Spring

Rates Tours, Workshops, and Public Hearing Scheduled 2015 Spring

Rates

Board considers options for sewer rate billing methods: 

variable vs. fixed 2014 Winter

Rates Public Meeting on Proposed Rate Changes 2014 Winter

Reclamation SF Bay Trail Traverses Las Gallinas Reclamation Ponds 2023 Summer

Reclamation

Wildlife Spotlight Facts about the North American River 

Otter 2022 Fall

Reclamation Sharing the Trails at District's Reclamation Area 2022 Spring

Reclamation

Trails, Ponds, Wildlife and Views: Reclamation is for all to 

Enjoy 2021 Fall

Reclamation Miller Creek dredging resumes. 2017 Summer

Reclamation River Otters Provide Student Biologist with Field Experience 2016 Fall

Reclamation Miller Creek Dredging Begun 2016 Fall

Reclamation Parking at reclamation area 2015 Fall

Reclamation Hiking, Biking, Views on Bayside Trails 2014 Fall

Reclamation LGVSD Trails Offer Hiking, Biking, Views and More 2013 Winter

Reclamation Growing Problem: Goose Population Boom 2012 May

X:\NEWSLETTERS\Master Topics List 2011‐2024 Page 4 of 5151



LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
NEWSLETTER TOPICS 

SORTED BY Topic

10/2/2024

8:34 AM

Topic Article Title

Publication 

Date Period

Recycled Water Recycled Water ‐ Even More Important During Drought 2022 Spring

Recycled Water Do Your Part to Save Water 2021 Fall

Recycled Water

Potable reuse is the addition of advanced purified water, 

either indirectly or directly, into a drinking water system. 2017 Summer

Recycled Water

All water is recycled. Don’t judge water by its history but by 

its quality. 2017 Summer

Recycled water

Advanced Purified Recycled Water – the New Drought Proof 

Water Supply 2016 Spring

Recycled Water Recycled Water: A Track Record for Safety 2013 Winter

Recycled Water Recycled Water Project Under way 2012 May

Refuse Fighting Climate Change Through Organic Waste Diversion 2024 Winter

Refuse Mobile App for Waste/Recycling Collection 2021 Fall

Refuse

Free Service: bulky item removal. Plus, curbside clean‐up 

coming in the fall. 2017 Summer

Refuse Compost giveaway 2015 Fall

Refuse Residential food waste composting test a success 2011 March

X:\NEWSLETTERS\Master Topics List 2011‐2024 Page 5 of 5152



 

 
 

 

10/17/2024 
 

BOARD MEMBER REPORTS 
CLARK 

NBWA Board Committee, CASA Workforce Committee, 
Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee, Fleet 
Management Ad Hoc Committee, FutureSense Ad Hoc 
Committee, Energy Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports 
 

MURRAY 
Marin LAFCO, Flood Zone 6,  Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, 
CASA Energy Committee, Development Ad Hoc Committee, 
SF Trail Ad Hoc Committee, Energy Ad Hoc Committee, 
Other Reports  
 

NITZBERG 
Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee, McInnis 
Marsh Ad Hoc Committee, Fleet Management Ad Hoc 
Committee, SF Bay Trail Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports 
  

ROBARDS 
Gallinas Watershed Council/Miller Creek, NBWRA, 
Engineering Ad Hoc Committee re: STPURWE,  McInnis 
Marsh Ad Hoc Committee, Development Ad Hoc 
Committee, FutureSense Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports  

 
YEZMAN 

Flood Zone 7, CSRMA,  Ad Hoc Engineering Sub-
Committee re: STPURWE, Marin Special Districts 
Association, Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports 
 

AGENDA ITEM 6 

153



                                                                                  AGENDA: ITEM 7A 
                                                                                  DATE: October 17, 2024            

REVISED 09062023 

 
 

BOARD MEMBER CONFERENCE/ 

 MEETING/WEBINAR ATTENDANCE REQUEST 
 

 

Date:___________Name:__________________________________________________ 

 

I would like to attend the __________________________________________Meeting 

of _____________________________________________________________________ 

To be held on the ______ day of ___________ from ________ a.m. / p.m. to 

_______day of ___________ from  _________ a.m. / p.m. 

Location of meeting:____________________________________________________ 

Actual meeting date(s):____________________________________________________ 

Meeting Type: (In person/Webinar/Conference)_______________________________ 

Purpose of Meeting:______________________________________________________  

Meeting relevance to District:__________________________________________  

 

Board Members to register for Webinars and Meetings   

                       YES  NO 

Request assistance from Board Secretary to register for Conference only:         

 

Board Directors to make their own Hotel Reservations and book their own 

transportation including airfare, taxi and/or shuttles. 

   

Frequency of Meeting: ____________________________________________________ 

 

Estimated Costs of Travel (if applicable):____________________________________ 

 

Date submitted to Board Secretary:________________________________________ 

 

Board approval obtained on Date:_________________________________________ 

 

Please submit this form to the Board Secretary no later than 1 week  prior to the 

Board Meeting.  

 

  

154



 

 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\10172024\7B Board Agenda Item Requests.docx 

10/17/2024 
 

BOARD AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS 
 

Agenda Item 7B 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

 Verbal Report 

□ Presentation 

 

155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200


	Agenda 10172024
	1 Public Comment
	2 101 LVR Office Lease Negotiator
	3 Closed Session
	4A Board minutes 10032024
	4B Warrant List 09202024 to 10102024
	4C Board Compensation September
	4D Clark Conference Request
	4E Capital Facilities Charge Accounting and Reporting
	CFC Report FY23-24.pdf
	CFC Activity FY2024
	CFC Rstrctd Funds FY2024-25


	4F Employment Relations and Personnel Policy Resolutions No 2024-2342 and 2024-2343
	5.1 General Manager Report
	5.2 Winter 2024 Newsletter Topics
	6 Board Member Reports
	7A Board Member Meeting-Conference Attendance Request 2024
	7B Board Agenda Item Requests
	8 Various Industry Articles



